

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO

Facoltà di Scienze Politiche, Economiche e Sociali

PhD in Economic Sociology and Labour Studies

Social and Gender Inequalities in Western Europe: Examining How Women's Disadvantages are Shaped by the Interplay between Family Dynamics and Social Origin

Supervisor Professor Nazareno Panichella

Co-supervisor Professor Roberto Impicciatore

Candidate

Antonina Zhelenkova

Academic Year 2023/2024

Table of Contents

Introduction
Chapter 1. Gender, social origin, and intergenerational transmission of social
stratification
1. The intergenerational transmission of social inequality in contemporary
societies11
1.1 The mechanisms of educational inequality: primary, secondary, and tertiary
effects 13
1.2 The effect of social origin over and above education
2. Gender inequalities in contemporary societies
2.1 Explaining gender inequality in education: educational choices, preferences and
socialization
2.2 Gender inequality in the labour market
3. The interplay between gender and social inequalities
4. The role of family structure and dynamics in explaining the interplay between social
and gender inequalities. The empirical strategy of the thesis
Chapter 2. Family Socioeconomic Background, Gender, and Sibling Correlation in
Education. An Analysis of Educational Inequality in Upper Secondary School in
Italy
1. Sibling correlation approach: advantages and limitations of utilising sibling data. 48
2. Sibling correlations and parental socio-economic background 52
3. Within-family analysis of educational inequalities: the role of birth order
4. Gender and within-family differences in educational outcomes
5. Sibling influence in the choice of major 59
6. Italian context
6.1 Inequality of educational opportunities in Italy
6.2 Italian upper secondary school

6.3 Social-origin stratification and gender segregation in upper secondary school in
Italy 64
7. Empirical strategy and expectations
8. Data and methods
9. Empirical evidence
9.1 Descriptive statistics
9.2 Sibling correlations: results from multilevel models
9.3 Results from within- and between-family models
10. Conclusions
Appendix
Chapter 3. Family Migration and Women's Employment Over the Life Course. An
Empirical Analysis of the Tied Migration Argument in Interregional Interna
Migration in Europe
1. Explanations of female labour market disadvantage related to family
migration103
1.1 From individual to family migration103
1.2 Household utility maximization and relationship dynamics 105
1.3 The impact of traditional gender role beliefs 106
1.4 Structural approach: the importance of institutional context 109
2. The interrelation between migration and life course events 110
2.1 The life course approach in migration studies 110
2.2 The interdependencies between marriage and migration
2.3 Long-term effects of family migration
3. Empirical strategy and research aims 116
4. Data, variables and methods
4.1 Data 119
4.2 Coarsened exact matching
4.3 Methods 123
5. Results
5.1 Employment opportunities of women across various migration patterns 125

5.2 Results from simulated scenarios	127
6. Conclusions	129
Appendix	133
Chapter 4. Social Origin and Motherhood Employment Penalty. Heter	rogeneity by
partners' resources and country context	
1. Motherhood and employment penalty	137
1.1 How education and social origin influence mothers' employment	137
1.2 Household context: the role of the partner's resources	
2. Mothers' employment in comparative perspective	
2.1 The role of institutional and cultural contexts	
2.2 Labour market structure and regulation	
2.3 Welfare regimes as the basis for comparative analysis	
3. Research questions and hypotheses	
4. Data, variables, and methods	157
5. Results	
6. Conclusions	
Appendix	
Conclusions	
References	

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1 - OED triangle (Blau & Duncan, 1967) 12
Figure 2 - Theoretical framework of the thesis
Figure 3 - Between-family estimates of the interacted impact of an individual's birth
order and his/her siblings' gender composition on upper secondary school enrolment83
Figure 4 - Between-family estimates of the interacted impact of an individual's birth
order and his/her siblings' gender composition on enrolment in science programs of the
academic track
Figure 5 - Between-family estimates of the interacted impact of an individual's birth
order and his/her siblings' gender composition on enrolment in industry-oriented
programs of the technical track
Figure 6 - Between-family estimates of the interacted impact of an individual's birth
order and his/her siblings' gender composition on enrolment in industry-oriented
programs of the vocational track
Figure 7 - Independent variable120
Figure 8 - CEM strata 122
Figure 9 - CEM – imbalance evaluation 123
Figure 10 – Beta coefficients for independent variable – mobility pattern (ref. "single
stayers"). FE models by education, control for age 127
Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers")
Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers") 128 Figure 12 - Employment probability (ref. childless women) by social class of
Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers")
Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers")
 Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers")
 Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers")
Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers")
 Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers")
Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers")

Table 1 - Overview of estimates of sibling correlations at the population level from
previous research
Table 2 - Descriptive statistics, column percentages. 72
Table 3 - Additional descriptive statistics, column percentages
Table 4 - Sibling correlation on upper secondary school enrolment and its
heterogeneity by parental education (standard errors in parenthesis)
Table 5 - Sibling correlations on the choice of science/industry-oriented curricula
within the three tracks, conditional on upper secondary school enrolment (standard errors
in parenthesis)
Table 6 - Sibling correlations on the choice of science/industry-oriented curricula
within the three tracks by parental education, conditional on upper secondary school
enrolment (standard errors in parenthesis)
Table 7 - Upper secondary school enrolment: results from the family fixed-effects
models and between-family estimates
Table 8 - Enrolment in science/industry-oriented curricula within the three tracks:
results from the family fixed effects models and between-family estimates
Table 9 - Migration scenarios. 125
Table 10 - Results from the hybrid model (ref. "single stayers") 126

Introduction

The main analytical tool of social stratification research, Origin-Education-Destination triangle (Blau & Duncan, 1967), was developed in the late 1960s characterised by the prevalence of the male breadwinner model and reproductive behaviours. However, since then, Western European societies have undergone substantial social, economic, and demographic changes making researchers extend the analytical framework. The reduction of fertility levels, greater couple instability, rise in cohabitation and divorce resulted in increasing heterogeneity in the first element of the triangle, the social background of origin, and in growing attention to the processes occurring within the family. The expansion of educational participation and the reversal of the gender gap in college completion led to the greater importance of the horizontal dimension of school inequality, i.e., the choice of different tracks and fields of study. The increase in female labour market participation affected the change in the definition of social origin and resulted in a greater role of gender. All these processes require inequality scholars to consider the increasing heterogeneity of populations and the complexity of the mechanisms underpinning the intergenerational reproduction of social inequality.

One of the most important educational trends in recent years in western countries has been the reversal of the gender gap in educational attainment. While in the past men have always received more education than women, nowadays females surpass males in terms of participation and success in higher education. However, gender imbalance with respect to the horizontal dimension of educational systems, that is fields of study or tracks, remains substantial. Women continue to be underrepresented in engineering, mathematics, and computer science, and to a lesser degree in the natural sciences. At the same time, they are likely to be overrepresented in education, humanities, social sciences, law, and health fields. This pattern of choice has crucial implications for labour market inequalities since humanities and social sciences lead to less favourable prospects in terms of unemployment rates and earnings compared to engineering and computer science.

The family represents an important socializing environment that affects educational choices. While it is well established that parental socioeconomic background and

investment, as well as genetic inheritance, play a crucial role in determining opportunity structures, and, as a consequence, the educational and socioeconomic trajectories that are followed in life, less is known about the role of siblings and sibling group composition. Moreover, despite the fact that siblings share the same home and partially the same genes, their outcomes vary substantially (Björklund & Jäntti 2012). Part of this variation results from divergent experiences within the family that are linked to differences in individual characteristics, such as gender and birth order. Cultural beliefs about gender roles reproduced through socialization within the family are likely to make men and women feel entitled to choose gender-typical fields. As for birth order, the evidence shows that parents tend to invest more resources in first-born children, who result having a higher grade point average in school, higher completed educational attainment, and a higher probability of applying to, and graduating from, medicine and engineering programs at university, compared to later-born children (Barclay, 2015; Barclay et al., 2017; Bjerkedal et al., 2007; Black et al., 2005).

Another contrasting evidence with respect to women's success in educational attainment is their systematic disadvantage in the labour market in terms of employment likelihood, occupational attainment, and earnings with respect to men. The key factor of such inequality is embedded within a family context and related to the transition to parenthood pulling men and women in opposite directions. Whereas men's labour supply remains stable or increases upon transition to parenthood, women experience a notable decrease in employment and work hours (Damaske & Frech, 2016; Killewald & Zhou, 2019; Lundberg & Rose, 2002; Musick et al. 2020). Reductions in mothers' cumulative work experience due to employment interruptions, in turn, account for a significant part of both the motherhood wage penalty and gender wage gap and have long-term implications for their careers (Blau & Kahn, 2017; Budig & England, 2001; Gangl & Ziefle, 2009; Bertrand et al., 2010).

In contrast to considerable attention paid by the literature to the role of parenthood, the process that remains less explored is family migration (Cooke et al., 2009). Although single women, like single men, were found to benefit from geographical mobility by taking advantage of better job opportunities offered in locations different from their place of origin or current residence (e.g., Geist & McManus, 2012; Jacobsen & Levin, 1997; Maxwell, 1988), partnered or family migration was shown to result in unfavourable

labour market outcomes for females who are likely to found themselves in a position of a "tied mover" relocating in response to their partners' move (Cooke, 2003; Jacobsen & Levin, 2000). Despite the existence of this evidence, the analysis of tied migration phenomenon has been limited by the scarcity of data that capture information on residential, family, and employment histories both in the country of origin and in the host society. The planning of family migration strategies typically occurs before migration, and this critical period of decision-making involves complex interrelationships between migration decisions and other biographical events (Mulder & Wagner, 1993; Impicciatore & Panichella, 2019). However, cross-sectional data collected in the host societies often do not capture these pre-migration dynamics, which makes it difficult to test the tied migration hypothesis.

Another aspect of gender inequality studies that remains underexplored is the interplay between the family-of-origin and the family-of-destination factors in shaping women's labour market outcomes. While several studies have examined how women's educational level (e.g., Steiber et al, 2016; Evertsson et al., 2009) and their partners' resources (Bernardi, 1999; Vandecasteele & Esche, 2015) affect their employment opportunities, no research (to the best knowledge of the author) has been done on the impact of family background, net of education. The importance of addressing this question is related to the fact that the direct effect of social origin might create a cumulative disadvantage for mothers from less privileged backgrounds or compensate for the motherhood penalty for women from better-off origins. The direct effect of social origin on mothers' labour market outcomes might operate through access to social networks, employers' favouritism, inheritance of family business, or financial resources. Moreover, the effect of social origin might vary depending on the factors related to the family of destination, such as the partner's resources (his education and/or occupational status). On top of the individual-level factors, the employment of mothers is determined by the macro context characterised by the country's family policies, gender norms, and labour market structure and regulations. Although there is a large number of studies that investigate cross-country differences in women's employment (e.g., Pfau-Effinger, 2012; Stier et al, 2001; Fortin, 2005), as well as the studies that model female labour supply based on micro-data in single countries, limited attention has been paid to the variation in the impact of individual factors by national contexts.

Taking into consideration the limitations of existing studies and social, economic, and demographic changes that occurred in western societies, this thesis aims to analyse the role of both family of origin and the family of destination for women's educational and labour market outcomes based on the three studies relying on an extended version of Origin-Education-Destination triangle. In addition, the thesis attempts to uncover the patterns of cumulative advantages/disadvantages with respect to women's employment outcomes. On the one hand, taking a temporal perspective, this work investigates whether married women's employment disadvantage amplified by family migration increases over age. On the other hand, considering the cumulative mechanism as a status-resource interplay, it explores if the interaction of different status characteristics and resources, such as educational level and migration background, motherhood, and social origin, as well as the partner's social standing, results in magnified employment advantages/disadvantages for women that are already advantaged/disadvantaged.

The first chapter outlines the overall theoretical framework of social stratification and gender inequality research and describes the empirical strategy of the thesis. The second chapter is focused on the analysis of educational inequalities, influenced by the environment and the structure (sibling gender composition, their birth order) of the family of origin. The third chapter aims to investigate how the influence of geographical mobility on women's employment differs based on their family and migration backgrounds, and to identify potential patterns of advantage or disadvantage that accumulate throughout their lives. The fourth chapter focuses on the interplay between the family-of-origin (social class of origin) and family-of-destination factors (motherhood, partner's resources) in determining the women's employment outcomes and its heterogeneity across European countries. The final chapter of the thesis provides overall conclusions and suggestions for future research.

Chapter 1

Gender, social origin, and intergenerational transmission of social stratification

1. The intergenerational transmission of social inequality in contemporary societies

Social stratification represents an important area of sociology that studies the distribution of income, wealth, education, health and longevity, status, prestige, and other desired social goods, across groups defined by social classes and occupations, race, gender, immigrant status, or age (Grusky, 2019). This research strand aims to describe the patterns of inequality; uncover its political, social, and economic consequences; analyse how the various dimensions of inequality interact with each other, change over time and the life course, vary across geographical areas, persist across generations, and are affected by various environments and institutions, such as families, schools, neighbourhoods, companies, local and national labour markets, unions and other labour market institutions (Shavit & Blossfeld, 1993; Shavit & Müller, 1998; Breen, 2004).

The main analytical tool of social stratification research, allowing to study the intergenerational reproduction of social inequality and mediating role of education is the so-called origin-education-destination (OED) triangle (Figure 1) (Blau & Duncan, 1967). The first element of this framework, origin (O), usually refers to the social position of the family from which an individual comes measured by the parents' social class or education. However, it should be noted that OED triangle was developed in the late 1960s characterised by the prevalence of the male breadwinner model and reproductive behaviours. Since then, Western European societies have undergone substantial demographic changes accompanied by a shift in values structure. These transformations, as highlighted by the Second Demographic Transition thesis (Lesthaeghe, 2010), include a decline in the incidence of marriages and the number of children, increasing mean age at first parenthood, greater couple instability, rise in cohabitation and divorce, rising female economic activity, as well as more individualistic lifestyle orientations along with a greater prioritization of "higher-order" needs such as self-realization. As a result, social

and demographic characteristics of the families have become more heterogeneous than in previous years, making social stratification researchers extend the meaning of the first element of the triangle, the social origin (O), over and above the cultural and economic resources of the family of origin (Guetto & Panichella, 2019) and pay attention to such characteristics as gender, ethnicity, geographical origin, and family structure.

The second element is education (E) and it is influenced by social origin (OE link), meaning that individuals from advantaged families are more likely not only to have better academic performance (primary effects) but also to achieve higher educational titles (secondary effects). The third element of the triangle, the social destination (D), refers to one's social position which can be expressed by employment opportunities, occupational attainment, social class, or income. The social destination is affected by an individual's educational attainment (ED link) and by his/her origin. The latter effect is exerted in two ways, direct and indirect. The indirect influence operates through education, while the direct effect (OD link) implies that even if individuals have the same levels of education those of them who come from advantaged families, on average, achieve better labour market outcomes.



Figure 1 - OED triangle (Blau & Duncan, 1967).

According to modernization theory (Bell, 1976; Blau & Duncan, 1967), as societies industrialize and further develop, the mechanism by which individuals are allocated into occupations should change from ascription to acquisition, that is, ascribed characteristics mentioned above should become less important for obtaining a certain socioeconomic position. In contrast, acquired characteristics, such as occupation-specific knowledge and skills, should become the key determinants of the efficient allocation and selection processes in the labour market. The crucial factor underlying this transition is market

competition among different employers, who are forced to hire the more productive workers in order not to be pushed out of the market by their competitors, and therefore rely on educational titles when screening the potential candidates. More generally, the shift from ascription to achievement in the process of occupational allocation was linked to industrialization and a greater demand for skilled workers; the increase in firm size resulting in gradual bureaucratisation of recruitment and internal promotion processes; geographical mobility and the loss of community bonds; the spread of egalitarian ideologies and cultures (Ganzeboom & Treiman, 2007; Treiman, 1970). Modern societies are, thus, expected to increasingly approach the ideal of an education-based meritocracy, where access to education does not depend on one's social origin, and where educational qualifications are the only factor influencing economic success.

Contrary to the predictions of modernization theory, social reproduction theory argues that the upper classes, by mobilizing their cultural and economic resources, will maintain their privileged position even in the context of mass education. Therefore, inequality of educational opportunities (IEO) is expected to persist or display only trendless fluctuations. Empirical evidence, however, does not support either of the two theories (Barone, 2019). While for the cohorts born in the 1940s and 1950s and schooled in a period of dramatic economic growth, IEOs were reduced in most European countries (e.g., Breen et al, 2009, 2010), for cohorts schooled in the two following decades, the evidence indicated the stability of IEO (e.g., Barone & Ruggera, 2016; Bernardi et al., 2018; Hout & Janus, 2011). Furthermore, it has been shown that the social origin, over and above education, on one's occupational status is stable over time in many advanced countries, and in some of them (Israel and France) it even increases (Bernardi & Ballarino, 2016). Thus, family background remains a strong factor influencing education and further labour market outcomes.

1.1 The mechanisms of educational inequality: primary, secondary, and tertiary effects

Two main mechanisms have been put forward to explain the impact of social origin on education: primary effects and secondary effects (Boudon, 1974; Eriksson & Jonsson, 1996). Primary effects imply that children from upper-class families generally perform better in school due to such factors as intentional parental behaviours and unintentional parental influence through daily interactions, which are all closely interconnected.

Although the research on genetic factors is still in its emerging phase, it is well known that the influence of genes is not so significant unless there is an environment suitable for their activation and development. On the contrary, parental behaviours and influence, either intentional or unintentional, are of great importance for the development of children's skills and abilities (Ermisch et al. 2012). More educated parents on average spend more time with their children (Dotti Sani, 2018), transmit an extended linguistic code (Bernstein, 1971), and have more economic and cultural resources at their disposal that result in more education-specific support.

The differences in parenting styles practiced by families of various backgrounds and their outcomes for children were described by Lareau in her book "Unequal Childhoods. Class, Race and Family Life" (2003). Parents in middle and upper-class families tend to adopt the so-called "concerted cultivation". This parenting style implies constant conversations with children, enrolling them in various after-school activities, such as sports, languages, and music classes, which not only has a positive impact on school performance but also makes children accustomed to communicating with adults who are strangers to their families. Upper-class children, thus, learn how to navigate bureaucracy, challenge authorities, and manage time - skills that are important for future adult life. In contrast, parents in lower-class families spend less time with their children, give them orders rather than listen to their opinions, do not structure their activities, letting them spend their free time playing with other children in the neighbourhood. Under this parenting style, defined as "accomplishment of natural growth", children grow less prepared for school and the labour market, for navigating middle and upper-class societies.

The importance of cultural capital, expressed in a set of cultural codes, modes of conduct, and use of language, for intergenerational transmission of inequality is highlighted by the social reproduction theory (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1977). Children in advantaged families inherit from their parents familiarity with the dominant culture in the society, which, in turn, shapes their "habitus", a system of predispositions, including values and motivations. Owing to this awareness of the dominant culture, upper-class children show better results at school compared to their lower-class counterparts who are not exposed to the intellectual and stimulating family environment. Moreover, disadvantaged children face additional challenges in terms of learning new behaviours,

different from their background, and overcoming the scepticism of their friends or family (Ballarino & Panichella, 2021).

Secondary effects refer to the fact that children from advantaged families reach higher levels of education even if they have the same level of performance as their counterparts with lower social origins. It is important to note that these effects are particularly strong among students with average performance but are limited to those who have high or poor academic achievement (Jackson et al., 2007). This means that among average students those from advantaged families are much more likely to pursue their studies than those from less advantaged backgrounds. At the same time, the brightest students, regardless of their social origin, all have a high likelihood of continuing schooling, and the least talented, irrespective of their family background, all face difficulties in continuing their educational paths.

Secondary effects stem from the differences in decision-making processes that are typically explained and analysed using rational action theory assumptions, according to which individuals' educational choices are made based on three parameters: the costs (direct and indirect), benefits, and probability of success (Boudon, 1974; Gambetta, 1987). The direct costs include educational fees, the costs of transportation, and study materials, while indirect costs are related to the foregone earnings because of not working during the period of studies. Since the Second World War the direct costs have decreased significantly due to the abolishment of school fees at lower levels of education, greater distribution of schools and universities in the territories, development of transport, and better living and employment conditions. Although the indirect costs have also diminished as a result of the prohibition of child labour, their role remained relevant for the educational choices at upper secondary and tertiary levels, as the better the economic situation and employment prospects, the greater the opportunity costs of school attendance (Ballarino & Panichella, 2021).

The benefits imply not only the expected income after obtaining a qualification but also the identity and social prestige associated with a certain educational level or occupation. According to the mechanism of relative risk aversion, individuals seek to maintain their family's social status and avoid downward social mobility (Breen & Goldthorpe, 1997). Thus, individuals coming from advantaged families have a stronger motivation to obtain higher educational degrees compared to lower-class individuals as

15

they aim to acquire a social position at least as favourable as their parents' position. In addition to social position, benefits also refer to actions that enhance one's identity, that is, making educational decisions consistent with a social category that an individual feels part of (Akerlof & Kranton, 2000; 2002). Therefore, for individuals coming from families where both parents have tertiary education, university enrolment is taken for granted as it reaffirms the family identity.

The probability of success is related to the previous academic performance. As mentioned above, children from upper-class families do better at school than children from disadvantaged families. In addition to that, they are more likely to overcome the risks of educational failure thanks to parental support in terms of social, cultural, and economic resources allowing them to compensate for the false steps (Bernardi, 2012). The probability of success also depends on the selectivity and complexity of the school systems. The greater the number of tracks, the more information is needed to evaluate the riskiness of an educational choice, and the more advantaged are children of educated parents, who are better informed about the school systems. The lower the age at which the choice is made, the less information is available on the abilities of children, (Erikson & Jonsson, 1996), and the greater is the importance of motivational factors related to the avoidance of downward mobility. Another aspect influencing the is the stability of family income, and more generally, welfare policies (Ballarino & Panichella, 2014), which is crucial for bearing the costs of long-term educational investment. Therefore, all the factors related to the probability of success, indicate that, for a given level of education, this parameter is higher for the children from advantaged families.

The empirical evidence on the relative importance of secondary effects shows that in the UK, secondary effects account for between a quarter and a half of class differentials in educational transitions made at the age of 16 (Jackson et al., 2007). In Sweden and the Netherlands, the importance of primary effects is estimated at around 60% (Kloosterman et al., 2009; Erikson & Rudolphi, 2010), while in Germany it is about 50% (Stocké, 2007). Italy is the country with a particularly large share of secondary effects in generating social inequalities in the choice of upper secondary track, namely 60-70% when comparing children of high- and low-educated parents and 50-70% when comparing those from intermediate and low parental education groups (Contini & Scagni, 2013).

In addition to primary and secondary effects of social origin on educational inequalities, recent research has suggested distinguishing also tertiary effects, implying the variation in teachers' behaviours and attitudes "in the institutional sorting process through their expectations, evaluations, and recommendations towards pupils with different social backgrounds" (Esser, 2016; p. 30). A broader definition of tertiary effects refers "to all the actions taken within schools reproducing inequalities, once that the macro-institutional settings of the school system have been taken into consideration" (Argentin & Pavolini, 2020). The focus on these mechanisms operating at a school level is important because they may have an impact on both primary and secondary effects, resulting in biased estimates (Schneider, 2014).

The schools can contribute to the reproduction of inequalities through the process of unfair allocation of teachers of different educational capacities and quality to students from different family backgrounds. For instance, an Italian study based on INVALSI data found a positive association between teacher effectiveness and students' educational background at a class level. (Abbiati et al. 2017). In Italy, this unfair allocation is the result of interaction between several actors: parents, schools, teachers, and principals. Highly educated parents are more likely to aspire to enrol their children in schools with a high quality of education and are more likely to make informed decisions when choosing a school (Argentin, 2009; Bordignon et al., 2017). Schools introduce pre-selection standardized assessments, specific subjects, signalling the education quality, possibility for students to choose classmates, thus creating social grouping. Teachers, looking for a more appreciative environment, often prefer to work in schools where students come from higher-educated families (Barbieri et al., 2007). Finally, school principals adopt informal strategies, involving negotiations with teachers and parents, in order to influence the allocation of teachers (Serpieri, 2012).

The role of teachers in the reproduction of social inequalities is expressed through their interactions with students and parents. Teachers' recommendations and marks transmit crucial information to parents regarding the ability of their children, which is then taken into account for making future educational choices. This information is particularly relevant for lower-educated parents having limited awareness of educational systems. Furthermore, teachers' marks and recommendations can be biased. For instance, an Italian study, using the data from INVALSI standardized tests on maths and reading,

showed that students from advantaged socio-economic backgrounds received higher marks compared to other students, both in primary and lower secondary schools (Argentin & Triventi, 2015; 2016). In addition, female students got better marks than males, and this advantage increased with age, from primary to upper secondary school. Other Italian studies investigated the teacher's recommendations at the end of lower secondary school when the crucial decisions on the choice of the upper secondary track are made. The results showed that, despite a large set of control variables, teachers are more likely to recommend lyceum enrolment to children of higher-educated parents, and this difference is greater in the middle of distribution concerning final marks, where the decisions are particularly ambiguous (Argentin et al., 2017). Moreover, these recommendations were found to influence actual choices made by students during this educational transition.

Therefore, teachers' recommendations and marks, as well as the mechanisms operating at a school level, might partly explain primary effects and influence secondary effects, biasing the educational decisions of students and parents.

The persisting role of social origin despite the educational expansion in most Western societies made the researchers analyse educational transitions in more detail, focusing on the institutional characteristics of the school system that may contribute to the intergenerational transmission of inequality. In particular, the role of different curricula or tracks in secondary education has emerged as a research subject in several countries, such as the United States (Gamoran & Mare, 1989; Hallinan, 1996; Lucas, 2001), Sweden (Breen & Jonsson, 2000), France (Ichou & Vallet, 2011), the Netherlands (Tieben et al., 2010) and Germany (Dustmann, 2004; Schneider & Tieben, 2011).

In addition, the shift in the focus from the vertical dimension of education (i.e., years of education or titles obtained) to the horizontal dimension (the choice of track or field of study) was related to the so-called "inflation of educational credentials" (Collins, 1979) implying the diminishing value of tertiary education for employers due to the increasing number of individuals with the highest educational titles. As a result, field of study has become more important in explaining the variation in individuals' labour market outcomes, in terms of both employment opportunities and earnings. Indeed, there is consistent evidence that business-related and science/math majors bring higher than average wage returns, while humanities are associated with lower than average returns (Gerber & Cheung, 2008).

In countries with early tracking, the importance of addressing the horizontal dimension is crucial already at the upper secondary school level. For instance, in Italy, enrolment in an academic track assures both a higher probability of enrolling in a university and a higher occupational return on the labour market (e.g., Pisati, 2000). Furthermore, it was shown that children from advantaged backgrounds are more likely to enrol in academic tracks, while children from lower social origins are more likely to follow vocational tracks (Breen & Jonsson, 2000; Gamoran & Mare, 1989; Lucas, 2001), and this difference persists even if they have the same levels of school performance and receive the same track recommendation from their teachers (Jackson, 2013; Barone et al., 2018). The tendency of individuals from better-off families to choose more lucrative fields of study can be explained by the Effectively Maintained Inequality (EMI) hypothesis (Lucas, 2001). According to this framework, better-off families aiming to maintain their relative advantage do not limit themselves to the vertical dimension if it does not guarantee protection from the risk of downward mobility. In other words, when there are significant vertical inequalities, advantaged families use their higher economic and cultural capital to provide their children with the highest level of education. However, as education systems expand, and access to any given level of education becomes near-universal, parents in better-off families will ensure that their offspring will get the best positions within the same educational level, namely will enrol in the most prestigious tracks or fields of study.

Thus, the analysis of educational inequalities should focus not only on the vertical dimension (i.e., the level of education attained) but also on the horizontal dimension (i.e., the choice of study fields and curricula). Moreover, in countries with early school tracking, particular attention should be paid to the role of family background in the choice of track which in turn strongly affects subsequent educational transitions and labour market outcomes of the students.

1.2 The effect of social origin over and above education.

As it has been mentioned in the OED framework, family of origin influences one's labour market outcomes not only through educational qualifications but also directly, over and above one's education. This means that among individuals with the same levels of education those who come from advantaged families, on average, achieve better labour

market outcomes. Thus, the existence of a direct effect of social origin (DESO) is considered the most evident violation of education-based meritocracy. The mechanisms underlying this effect include, on the one hand, strategic and intentional actions on the part of families (investments), on the other hand, individual characteristics and skills acquired, mainly unconsciously, through family socialization and daily interactions with parents (endowments) (Ballarino & Bernardi, 2016; Erola & Kilpi-Jakonen 2017). First, the children of entrepreneurs or self-employed, might directly inherit the family business or use parental money, gifts, and favourable borrowing for starting their own businesses, thus improving their occupational and earnings prospects. Second, individuals from better-off families might benefit from social networks, both parental ones and their own, built during their studies or acquaintances, that serve not only as a source of information on the available job opportunities and the best strategies for accessing them but also as a guarantee for employers, facilitating one's career progress within a company. Third, DESO might operate through a higher productivity of children coming from advantaged families which might depend on cognitive abilities, such as communication skills, or personality characteristics, such as assertiveness and ability to work in a team, that are acquired through family socialization and are highly valued by employers. Fourth, social origin might directly influence one's occupational success through aspirations. In other words, children from better-off families might be more career-oriented and have stronger motivation (related to the will to avoid downward social mobility) to obtain higher status and better-paying jobs, as well as more inclined to make risky but profitable professional choices. In contrast, individuals from disadvantaged families might prefer secure and stable jobs rather than more rewarding and prestigious but less secure opportunities. Finally, employers might prefer to hire individuals from advantaged families, all else being equal. Such favouritism is based on two mechanisms: statistical discrimination (Phelps, 1972) and the taste for discrimination (Becker, 1971). According to the former, since employers do not have perfect information on the productivity of candidates, they tend to categorise them into social classes based on visible characteristics, such as the way they communicate or dress. The candidates whose behaviour and appearance reveal upper-class backgrounds are considered more productive and are, thus, preferred to those who appear to come from less advantaged families. The latter mechanism, the taste for discrimination, is based on homophily, which means that employers tend to favour

candidates coming from advantaged families, like their own, simply because they prefer to deal with people similar to them, regardless of their productivity, even at the price of efficiency.

Theoretical expectations suggest that DESO should vary across educational levels, being relatively larger among the least educated and diminishing among college graduates. On the one hand, it is claimed that the labour market for better educated operates in a more meritocratic way (Breen & Jonsson, 2007) since university graduates are likely to be employed in highly bureaucratized characterised by limited subjectivity in hiring decisions and lower relevance of social networks but greater importance of educational qualifications. On the other hand, it is emphasized that individuals coming from unprivileged families who manage to attain higher educational qualifications are positively selected in terms of ability and motivation (Mare, 1993; Karlson, 2019) as they have to overcome initial disadvantages related to the limited economic and cultural resources. These traits, which are positively associated with labour market success (Zhou, 2019), are expected to counterbalance other mechanisms granting an advantage to individuals from better-off families. Indeed, some studies show that (Hout, 1988; Torche, 2011), that DESO on social class and socioeconomic status declines and almost disappears among university graduates. However, other studies find that the origindestination association in terms of income does not vanish and even becomes larger among individuals with university or postgraduate education (e.g., Torche, 2011, 2018; Bernardi & Gil-Hernández, 2020).

The discrepancies in DESO with respect to the labour market outcomes can be explained by different parental strategies. On the one hand, according to the rational action theory of social mobility, intergenerational mobility strategies are motivated by the concern of avoiding social downgrading (Breen & Goldthorpe, 1997; Goldthorpe, 2007). Therefore, in case of an educational failure, advantaged families will mobilize their economic, cultural, and social resources to support their children in the labour market and make them avoid unskilled occupations. This strategy corresponds to the compensatory advantage model, according to which "life course trajectories of individuals from privileged backgrounds are less dependent on prior negative outcomes" (Bernardi 2014: 75). On the other hand, advantaged families may maximize the income returns of the children who succeeded in education. This mechanism, labelled as "boosting", can be

linked to the core assumption of the effectively maintained inequality theory (EMI), stating that upper-class parents will "secure for their children some degree of advantage wherever advantages are commonly possible (Lucas, 2001: p. 1652)". Despite being primarily applied in the research on educational inequalities, EMI can also be implemented for studying labour market outcomes, if socioeconomic status corresponding to a job is considered as a quantitative dimension of occupational attainment, whereas such aspects as, for instance, career prospects or company prestige are viewed as a qualitative dimension (Bernardi & Gil-Hernández, 2020). Thus, when there is no room for a quantitative advantage in terms of socioeconomic status, upper-class families can ensure their offspring an additional advantage with respect to the qualitative dimension by helping them to get a job that guarantees higher income prospects.

To sum up, the compensatory and boosting mechanisms can be considered as the two different ways in which better-off families mobilize their resources to the advantage of their children on different socio-economic outcomes. When children in advantaged families have low educational attainment, their parents seek to compensate for the failure and help them obtain a decent occupation. When the children are successful at school, their parents provide them with an extra boost, leading to a higher income. As a result, initial social inequality grows over time following a cumulative advantage pattern and making it difficult for an individual or group that is behind at a point in time in terms of educational attainment, income, or other measures to catch up (Merton, 1968; DiPrete & Eirich, 2006).

In addition to social origin, educational and labour market inequalities have a gendered dimension, which is discussed in the following section of this chapter.

2. Gender inequalities in contemporary societies

2.1 Explaining gender inequality in education: educational choices, preferences, and socialization.

For the most part of human history, women have received less education compared to men. In the past, education for women was mostly limited or even neglected. A widespread expansion of mass schooling over the past two centuries that has been triggered by early industrialized countries in Western Europe and the US (Morrisson & Murtin, 2009) favoured mostly males. Only since the 19th century, there has been an advancement in female formal education that at the beginning of the 20th century, with further modernization and economic development, started to converge to male educational attainment.

One of the most important educational trends in recent years in the US and European countries has been the growing gender gap in college enrolment and completion in favour of women (Buchmann et al., 2008). In the US this female advantage developed unevenly with respect to the family background (Buchmann & DiPrete, 2006). In cohorts born before the mid-1960s, males were more likely than females to obtain a college degree and this gender difference was the largest among less-educated families. Daughters were able to reach parity with sons only in the minority of families with both college-educated parents. For cohorts born after the mid-1960s, the female advantage in college completion emerged first in households with less-educated parents or those with an absent father. Although the advantage remains largest among these families, it has gradually extended to all family types. The factors that contributed to women's increased college attainment include weakening institutional constraints, increasing age at first marriage, and increasing opportunities for women in the labour force due to legislative and cultural changes (Goldin et al., 2006).

According to the most recent UNESCO data, for the period from 1995 to 2018, at a global level, female enrolment in tertiary education has increased three times, accounting for 54% of the total increase in enrolment. Moreover, the adjusted gender parity index has grown from 0.95 to 1.14, and this female advantage has been registered in 74% of the countries with available data (UNESCO, 2020). However, it should be noted that considerable disparity at girls' expense still exists mostly in low-income countries. In 2018, for every 100 boys fewer than 90 girls were enrolled in primary education in 7 countries, in lower secondary in 14 countries, and in upper secondary education in 23 countries.

In accordance with the latest OECD data, 52% of 25-34-year-old women have a tertiary degree, compared to 39% of men in this age group. Between 2010 and 2020, the average gender gap in favour of younger women increased from 10 to 13 percentage points (OECD, 2021). For instance, in Sweden, the female advantage has widened from

13 to 18 percentage points, in Italy from 9 to 12 percentage points, in Denmark – from 15 to 17 percentage points. However, in France, Finland, Latvia, the United States, and Costa Rica the gender gap has narrowed over the last decade.

Despite the reversal of the gender gap in educational attainment, a large body of literature on gender inequalities in education points out that fields of study within higher education remain sex-segregated (Barone, 2011; Bradley, 2000). Female underrepresentation tends to be high in engineering, mathematics, and computer science, and to a lesser degree in the natural sciences. In contrast, women tend to be overrepresented in education, humanities, social sciences, law, and health fields (Vincent-Lancrin, 2008).

These gender differences have important implications for the future labour market inequalities, since humanities and the social sciences lead to less favourable prospects in terms of unemployment rates, earnings, and the risks of overeducation and skill mismatch, while engineering and computing, medicine, and the other health-related fields perform above the average (Assirelli, 2015; Barone & Ortiz, 2011; Davies & Guppy, 1997; Reimer et al., 2011). The data from the 2018 round of PISA on the 37 OECD countries show that just 7% of girls, as opposed to 15% of boys, are expected to enter science and engineering professions. In addition, less than 1% of girls in OECD countries, but around 8% of boys, aspired to work in ICT-related occupations (OECD, 2019). It is important to note that these expectations were unrelated to performance. According to PISA results, in OECD countries, only 14% of girls who were top performers in science or mathematics planned to work in science and engineering, compared with 26% of topperforming boys (Encinas-Martin, 2020). The gender gap among top performers is present even in countries characterized by high gender equality scores, such as Norway (12% of girls, 33% of boys) and Sweden (20% of girls, 37% of boys) (OECD, 2019). As indicated by a recent UNESCO report, the share of women in the Silicon Valley applicant pool for technical jobs in artificial intelligence and data science is less than 1%. Females are mainly absent from the frontiers of technological innovation, typically offering the highest wages. Globally, the proportion of women among mobile application and software developers accounts for only 6% (UNESCO, 2020).

Furthermore, the studies that apply decomposition analyses of the gender wage gap often show that the contribution of differences in major between men and women is sizeable. Analyses of survey data from the 1970s and 1980s report that 20%-45% of the gender wage gap among college graduates is explained by gender differences in the choice of majors (Daymont & Andrisani, 1984; Gerhart, 1990; Brown & Corcoran, 1997). Other studies, using earnings data from the 1990s, show somewhat lower, but still substantial, estimates: from 15% to 25% (Joy, 2003; Shauman, 2006; Bobbit-Zeher, 2007).

Several mechanisms have been suggested to explain the persisting gender segregation in the field choice: gender differences in career expectations, skills, preferences, or values, and the persistence of gender essentialist ideology. The first set of explanations related to career expectations usually focuses on work-family orientations. According to this approach, women would prefer less lucrative fields because they are more familyoriented and thus give less weight to career opportunities or other extrinsic rewards and higher importance to family reconciliation (Ridgeway et al., 1998). However, the differences between men and women in terms of career orientations have been reduced in recent cohorts, and the remaining differences are not enough to explain the gender gap in the field of study choice and pay (Konrad et al., 2000; Bobbitt-Zeher, 2007). Moreover, it is hardly possible to accommodate these arguments with the fact of recent substantial female integration in the legal and business professions, which can be demanding in terms of working time arrangements, as well as with the overrepresentation of women in social work, nursing, and medical professions, which are often characterized by highly flexible work schedules.

With respect to gender differences in skills, the studies point to achievement gaps in math and science at earlier stages of the educational career as a common explanation for women's underrepresentation in more rewarding fields (Ceci & Williams, 2010). The data from various national and international large-scale assessments consistently show that boys have higher test scores in mathematics, while girls do better in reading (e.g., Nowell & Hedges, 1998; Gallagher & Kaufman, 2005; Marks, 2007). There are also cross-country differences: several studies find a link between math test score gaps and aggregate cultural attitudes, showing that girls in more gender-equal countries perform relatively better compared to boys (Guiso et al., 2008; Hyde & Mertz, 2009). On the one hand, the explanation related to differences in skills, goes in line with the rational choice theory, according to which individuals favour educational paths that maximize their

chances of success. However, empirical evidence provides poor support for this hypothesis (Riegle-Crumb et al. 2012; Morgan et al. 2013; Hedges et al. 1995). Indeed, there has been a considerable reduction in the gender gap in math among recent cohorts, but horizontal gender segregation in higher education has changed little (Xie & Shauman, 2005). Less empirical evidence is available concerning the alternative argument linked to differences in skills, namely, the competitive advantage hypothesis (Jonnson, 1999). If individuals choose the field of study in which they have a comparative advantage in terms of academic performance, then female students on average are more likely to enrol in fields that reward verbal abilities, such as social sciences and humanities. This hypothesis has been developed in the context of rational choice theory, but it should be pointed out that it relies on the doubtful assumption - which can hardly be reconciled with a utility-maximization approach - that girls favour less remunerative fields, even when they have the mathematical skills to succeed in more rewarding, math-intensive fields (Barone, 2011).

A more convincing explanation relates to gender differences in perceived skills. In particular, Correll (2001, 2004) points out that cultural beliefs about gender can lead to bias in student perceptions of personal competence. She found that girls underestimate their mathematical skills relative to boys (net of objective measures of ability) and that these gender-biased self-evaluations to some extent mediate gender differences in the choice of field of study. In addition, Correll provides experimental evidence of a genderdifferentiated double standard for attributing performance to ability, which biases in different ways the manner male and female undergraduate students assess their competence at career-relevant tasks, net of actual ability.

A recent study by Barone et al. (2017) proposed and tested a novel explanation of gender segregation in higher education that emphasizes the misperceptions of economic returns to fields of study and the role of gender-stereotypical curricular preferences. The authors provide the results of a field experiment conducted in Italy in which high school seniors were confronted with detailed information concerning the occupational profitability of fields of study (e.g., earning differentials, related risks of unemployment, overeducation, and horizontal skill mismatch), as well as the information about vocational alternatives to college. Contrary to the claim that girls are less career-oriented than boys, the authors found that the former were much more responsive to this information.

Moreover, they reported that the intervention substantially improved the occupational prospects of the female students by decreasing their overrepresentation in less rewarding fields and by enhancing their enrolment in vocational higher education as an alternative to leaving the educational system after high school graduation. The authors argue that in the absence of proper information, the students hesitant in their choice of study field rely on oversimplified gender-stereotyped decision-making mechanisms, whereas when detailed and reliable information concerning the field of study differentials in the labor market is provided the students, especially females, make use of it.

Other explanations refer to the curricular and occupational preferences of high school seniors, which in the case of sufficiently detailed measurement turn out to be strong predictors of college major, as well as mediators of gender differences in college choice (Morgan et al. 2013). For example, girls more often exhibit a preference for humanistic subjects (e.g., literature, psychology) and related jobs (e.g., teacher, psychologist) which leads to enrolment in the humanities and the social sciences (Cech, 2013; Morgan et al., 2013). The choice of the upper secondary track or curriculum is particularly relevant for horizontal gender segregation at the tertiary level in countries where early tracking is prevalent (Imdorf et al., 2015; Smyth and Steinmetz, 2008). For example, in Italy, it was shown that curricular track choice mediates 64% of the gender differences in access to the humanities and social sciences and 29% of the gender differences in access to engineering and ICT (Barone & Assirelli, 2020). This is related to the fact that in upper secondary school girls are underrepresented in the scientific curriculum within the academic track and overrepresented in the foreign languages and socio-pedagogic curricula, while within technical and vocational tracks, females are underrepresented in industry-oriented curricula and overrepresented in service-oriented curricula.

More commonly, the studies indicate gender differences in job values and aspirations that, at a young age, determine decisions on what types of skills to seek in the course of education. Young men tend to accentuate economic success, status, and prestige in their definition of an ideal job, whereas women place greater importance on the social and altruistic opportunities offered by the job (Fiorentine, 1987; Marini et al., 1996; Jonsson, 1999; Van de Werfhorst & Kraaykamp, 2001).

Such an argument logically leads to the question: what explains gender differences in job values? Sociologists often point to society-wide gender norms as the source of such

differences. Gender-essentialist ideology combined with self-expressive value systems constitutes a strong cultural force that contributes to the persistence of horizontal gender segregation in educational systems in advanced industrial societies (Charles & Bradley, 2009). It has proven to be highly influential in forming aspirations, expectations, and life experiences, even in the most liberal egalitarian societies (Fenstermaker & West, 2002; Charles & Grusky, 2004; Correll, 2004). Modern societies are strongly permeated with beliefs about gender difference, which are embedded in practically all organizational structures and interactional contexts, including labour markets, educational systems, and families, being intensified by a vigorous Western cultural emphasis on individual selfexpression and self-realization (Inglehart, 1997; Beck & Beck-Gernsheim, 2001). Normative dictates for self-expression and the associated celebration of individual choice promote gender segregation since men and women are guided by different cultural schemas and different social resources while trying to realize and express their personalities, and, in addition, anticipate that society will hold them accountable to established gender scripts (Fenstermaker & West, 2002; Correll, 2004; Ridgeway & Correll, 2004).

Gender differences are promoted through various institutionalized practices (Correll, 2001; Ridgeway & Correll, 2004). In the process of educational and career exploration, parents, teachers, and school counsellors implicitly motivate girls and boys to take different pathways into the labour market (Jacobs, 1995). For example, the research has shown that gender differences in course choices at high school reflect social control mechanisms operating through the gender-biased recognition of the "talents" and preferences by adults, as well as through peer pressure (Gabay-Egozi et al., 2015; Frank et al., 2008).

To conclude, the existing empirical evidence shows that despite the reversal of the gender gap in college attainment, the female disadvantage with respect to the horizontal dimension of educational inequalities is still present. While several explanations for this phenomenon have been put forward, there is not yet a common consensus on the causal mechanism behind it. However, it is clear that skill-based explanations and gender differences in career preferences fail to account for the gender segregation in study fields, while misperceptions of economic returns to college majors, expressive motivations related to preferences for school subjects and specific occupations, as well as curricular

track choice at upper secondary level seem to be highly relevant. Thus, future research should pay more attention to the earlier preferences and the role of curricular tracking, as well as to the mechanisms that lie behind it.

2.2 Gender inequality in the labour market

Despite women have surpassed men in terms of participation and success in higher education, they are still systematically disadvantaged in the labour market in terms of earnings and occupational attainment. The vast economic and sociological literature has been dedicated to the discussion of trends and causes of the gender wage gap. Some studies point out that since the 1970s there has been a reduction of female disadvantage in terms of income in most developed countries (Blau et al. 2006; Goldin 2014; Kunze, 2018) reflecting gender-specific developments, such as increasing educational attainment and greater labour market participation of women, as well as the success of antidiscrimination laws. However, this reduction is also related to broader economic processes, namely deindustrialization, the decline of unions, and decreasing relative wages for all workers (Bernhardt et al., 1995; Blau & Kahn, 2006; Charles, 2011; Marini & Fan, 1997). At the same time, the research also indicates that since the 2000s the progress toward gender equality has stalled (Blau & Kahn 2006; Cohen et al., 2009; England, 2010; Kunze, 2018; Sin et al., 2022). According to Eurostat (2023), in 2021, women's gross hourly earnings were on average 12.7% below those of men in the EU. Moreover, as stressed by several authors, the gender wage gap opens already after graduation (e.g., Combet & Oesch, 2019; Triventi, 2013).

Analytically the gender pay gap is studied as composed of two main components: the first component is based on gender differences in observable characteristics ("explained component"), while the second is attributed to differences in the returns to observable characteristics and other unobserved explanatory factors or possibly to employer's discrimination against women ("unexplained component"). With respect to the first component, traditionally the research has explained gender income inequality by differences in human capital between men and women (Becker, 1985). However, as it has already been noticed, the gender gap in tertiary educational attainment over the last decades has reversed in many countries in favour of women (DiPrete & Buchmann, 2013). In addition, female work experience has improved in both quantitative and

qualitative dimensions (O'Neill & Polachek 1993; O'Neill 2003). Indeed, Blau and Kahn (2017) show that by 2010 the contribution of human capital variables (education and labour market experience) to the gender wage gap has declined remarkably. Therefore, the focus has shifted to the household division of labour and parenthood.

A more important and persistent factor contributing to gender differences in observable characteristics is family. Under the traditional division of responsibilities in the family, women, anticipating their specialization in childcare and housework, may opt for jobs that are less rewarding but more reconcilable with family duties, as they require less effort and less intensive training (Blau & Kahn, 2017). Whereas men concentrate on labour market experience and acquiring job-specific skills (Becker, 1985). Upon transition to motherhood, women undergo interruptions in their working careers, reduce their working hours, or even leave the labour market, which leads to depreciation of their human capital. Reduction in time spent at work might be crucial for some high-wage occupations demanding ongoing commitment and long working hours, such as professions in business and law (Noonan et al., 2005; Bertrand et al., 2010). Moreover, Goldin (2014) argues that granting flexibility in working hours is particularly costly in some jobs where it may cause interruptions in servicing clients or difficulties in passing duties to other employees, and therefore lead to penalties for women. In addition, research shows that mothers are less likely to get promoted and experience lower earnings growth over time (Gangl & Ziefle, 2009: p. 355). Finally, according to Becker (1985), family responsibilities may cause women to devote less effort to paid work and reduce their productivity. However, empirical evidence on the productivity of female and male employees is ambiguous. Some studies show that time invested in household duties is associated with lower income (Hersch, 1991; Noonan, 2001). Other authors argue that there is no association between the gender composition of an organization and its overall productivity level (Tomaskovic-Devey & Skaggs, 1999), or point to the absence of gender differences in work effort and other pro-work behaviours (Kmec & Gorman, 2010; Kmec, 2011). Moreover, differences between female and male workers in productivity may be the result of the discriminative allocation of opportunities and workplace resources (Madden, 2012).

Another factor of gender differences in observable characteristics is occupational gender segregation, both horizontal and vertical. As shown by Blau and Kahn (2017),

while the portion of the gender pay gap explained by human capital has decreased substantially, the contribution of such factors, as occupation and industry has grown from 27 percent in 1980 to 49 percent in 2010. Horizontal segregation entails female overrepresentation in a narrower variety of sectors and jobs, frequently offering lower wages and less protection, compared to male employees. In particular, in high-income countries about one-third of working women are found in the health and education sectors, in middle-income countries women are likely to be employed in retail, trade, wholesale, and manufacturing, while in low-income countries they are concentrated in the agricultural sector (Kring, 2017). Vertical segregation implies that women are more likely to be employed in lower-ranking positions and have less access to managerial positions (Kring, 2017). The underrepresentation of women at the top of the organizational hierarchies may be related to the fact that they are "relative newcomers" and it requires time for them to move up the career ladder (the "pipeline argument"), to the barriers preventing them from receiving promotions ("glass ceiling"), to employer's discrimination or to family reasons making women reduce their interest in higher ranking jobs or time and effort devoted to work (Blau & Kahn, 2017). Vertical segregation has important implications for inequalities between men and women in the labour market, as the research indicates that gender pay gaps at higher levels of the wage distribution are larger and have decreased at a slower pace over time compared to the gender pay gaps at lower levels of the distribution (Blau & Kahn, 2017).

Recent research has suggested a new group of explanations for the gender wage gap based on differences in psychological attributes and preferences. It has been argued that since jobs in different sectors offer different levels of job security, earnings stability, and working conditions, systematic gender differences in preferences towards risk and competition can influence wage gaps through job sorting behaviour. For instance, lab evidence consistently shows that men are more risk-prone than women (Eckel & Grossman, 2008; Croson & Gneezy, 2009), which might have further implications for wage discrepancies as job-related risks (such as job-loss risk or earning volatility) are usually remunerated by higher mean earnings. Moreover, high-profile careers often develop in highly competitive environments, where rewards are based on relative, rather than absolute, performance. Lab experiments show that women prefer to be rewarded piece-rate, while men favour tournament setting (Niederle & Vesterlund, 2007) where their performance increases and exceeds that of women (Gneezy et al., 2003). In addition, lab findings indicate notable differences between men and women in their reactions to wins and losses in past tournaments. Women's performance tends to be adversely affected by prior losses, whereas men experience negative effects on their performance only when the stakes are notably high (Gill & Prowse, 2014).

An additional explanation for gender disparity in earnings even in identical roles, is the difference in salary negotiation approaches. Psychological literature suggests that women may earn less than their male counterparts due to a tendency to avoid competitive negotiation. As highlighted by Babcock and Laschever (2003), women may simply refrain from asking for a pay increase. The empirical evidence reveals that part of the gender wage gap is explained by women being less willing to bargain or less successful at negotiating wage premiums compared to men at equivalent firms (Sin et al, 2022; Card et al., 2016).

However, it is important to note that these differences in psychological attributes and noncognitive skills may be influenced by the social setting and therefore not be independent factors of the gender wage gap. Moreover, some gender differences in noncognitive skills may, in contrast, favour women leading to higher productivity. For example, some studies report that women rank higher than men in terms of interpersonal skills (Borghans et al., 2014). In addition, certain attributes, such as lower risk aversion or competitiveness, may be beneficial in some contexts but detrimental in others. Finally, the evidence for most of these explanations comes from laboratory experiments, which brings doubts on the generalizability of their results. As highlighted by Blau and Kahn (2017), the differences between men and women in psychological attributes or noncognitive skills account for a small to moderate part of the gender pay gap, which is substantially lower than the contribution of occupation and industry.

Further explanations for the gender pay gap are linked to the differences in wage expectations. Jackson, Gardner, and Sullivan (1992) show that female college seniors anticipate lower starting and career peak salaries and consider lower pay as fair pay. Moreover, even when provided with information on current wages, women still expect lower initial pay for themselves than men do (Martin, 1989). It is argued that lower wage expectations lead to a self-fulfilling prophecy of getting lower income (Hojat et al., 2000) and make individuals accept lower starting salary, be less persistent in seeking raises, and

less likely to look for a better job in case of dissatisfaction with salary (Gasser et al., 2000). Thus, women's lower reservation wages are likely to keep women in low-paid occupations, irrespective of their true productivity in the labour market and their academic qualifications (Orazem et al., 2003). Filippin and Ichino (2005), using data on wage expectations of students and wage realizations of graduates of an Italian university, show that the gender pay gap expected by the students one year after graduation is consistent with actual differences in earnings between their older male and female counterparts who already graduated. At the same time, contrary to the anticipation of nearly constant gender inequalities in pay 10 years after graduation, actual data show a widening gap over time. The reason behind the gender differences in expected wages remains uncertain (Heckert et al., 2002). The most complete effort to explain these differences is made by Major and Konar (1984), who suggested five factors encompassing the human capital approach: type of academic and professional careers chosen by women, objective job inputs, women's perceptions of their own-job-related inputs, the importance given to various job characteristics (e.g., salary, job security) and expected pay for comparison others.

The part of the gender wage gap that remains unexplained has been commonly attributed to market failure (discrimination) or measurement error. Survey experiments provide evidence that employers assign higher wages to men than women even if their skills and qualifications are equivalent (e.g., Auspurg, et al., 2017; Jasso & Webster, 1997). From the theoretical point of view, differentiation is often made between statistical discrimination - assuming imperfect information and uncertainty and, thus different expected productivity attributed to members of different groups - and taste-based discrimination originating from stereotypes and prejudice. However, in practice, these types of discrimination may overlap, as employer's estimates about the productivity of workers are rather based on beliefs and stereotypes than on statistical information on productivity (Tomaskovic-Devey & Skaggs, 1999: p. 424). It is also important to note that the unexplained part of the gender wage gap may either overestimate the extent of discrimination, in case male employees have higher unmeasured productivity, or underestimate it, if female employees have better unmeasured characteristics (e.g., interpersonal skills) or if one or more explanatory variables (e.g., occupation, experience) have themselves been influenced by discrimination (Blau & Kahn, 2017: p. 832).

Furthermore, the unexplained portion of the gender wage gap might stem from the gender differences in market returns to productivity-enhancing characteristics. These discrepancies might be explained either by differences in the behaviours of men and women (individual-level factors) or by the structural mechanisms and processes in the labour market (macro-level factors). On the one hand, socialization and social control processes emphasize women's commitment to unpaid domestic and care work, pushing them towards positions and employment patterns that pay less and offer limited possibilities for wage increase and promotions due to reduced workload or low productivity. Such processes, thus, not only account for the differences in human capital between men and women (the explained portion) but also for the inferior returns that women get for the same human capital (the unexplained portion). On the other hand, at a macro level, entrenched gender beliefs result in the undervaluation of fields, jobs and tasks primarily undertaken by women or described as feminine. That is, women get low returns as they acquire female-typical skills and tend to work in female-dominated jobs that are paid less in the labour market. Moreover, it has been found that as more women enter fields and occupations that have been traditionally male-dominated, these fields and occupations suffer from devaluation, and the rewards they offer diminish (England, 1992; Levanon et al., 2009; Mandel, 2018).

The recent empirical evidence from PSID data has shown that men's returns to education and work experience indeed exceed those of women (Rotman & Mandel, 2023). In contrast to the well-documented trend of narrowing gender gaps in skills and earnings, the divergence in returns widens over time in men's favour. In addition, the existing gender disparities in returns to skills account for a larger proportion of the gender wage gap compared to differences in levels of education and experience. This implies that further improvements in women's human capital will hardly contribute to the reduction of their wage disadvantage, since their lower earnings mainly stem from the undervaluation of their skills.

3. The interplay between gender and social inequalities

The effects of social class of origin and gender on educational choices and labour market outcomes are often studied separately and the body of research analysing the interaction between the two status characteristics is relatively limited. The importance of addressing this issue is related to the possibility of deepening the understanding of how different factors of advantage/disadvantage interact with each other. On the one hand, similar to the Matthew effect described by Merton (1968), being a woman with a lower socioeconomic background might result in accumulation of disadvantages in educational and labour market outcomes. On the other hand, a privileged socioeconomic background might foster more lucrative educational choices for women or compensate for their penalization in the labour market.

With respect to educational choices, two possible mechanisms might be considered to explain the influence of gender and social origin: relative risk aversion and differences in socialization processes due to parental education or social class. As mentioned in one of the previous sections, relative risk aversion theory assumes that individuals tend to make educational choices that allow them to maintain their parents' social class position and social status, thus avoiding downward mobility. For men from advantaged backgrounds choosing female-dominated fields of study may incur a risk of status loss, since these fields lead to occupations that pay less on average (Bobbitt-Zeher, 2007; Hallsten, 2010). On the contrary, male-dominated fields (e.g., engineering, mathematics, computer science) or elite gender-balanced fields (e.g., medicine, law, or business) bring more chances for class and status maintenance. For men from lower social classes, any curriculum of the academic track of upper secondary school or any field of study at the university represents a path to upward mobility. Moreover, female-dominated fields may be seen by them as less risky and safer options, especially if these fields lead to respectable middle-class occupations (Lupton, 2006), such as school teachers or pharmacists. For women, male-dominated fields, gender-balanced elite fields at the university level, as well as the scientific curriculum of academic track at upper secondary school may provide additional to university education benefits in terms of status and labour market prospects. Avoidance of female-dominated paths may be particularly relevant for women from upper social classes aiming to maintain their advantaged positions. To sum up, relative risk aversion theory leads to a prediction that women from upper social classes would be more likely to choose gender-atypical fields of study compared to lower-class women. On the other hand, men from advantaged backgrounds would be more likely to choose gender-typical fields of study compared to less advantaged males.

Concerning the choice of curriculum within technical and vocational tracks of upper secondary education, the impact of the social class of origin might be expected to predominate the effect of gender for men and women from advantaged families (Prix & Kilpi-Jakonen, 2022). Given that the choice of technical or vocational track is highly unlikely for these individuals and is associated with downward mobility, the decision about the curriculum within these tracks would be influenced more by an inclination to buffer already unsuccessful choices rather than by gender connotations. Therefore, both men and women from the upper classes would be less likely to choose male-dominated curricula leading to blue-collar manual occupations and more likely to follow femaledominated paths linked to care and service occupations. For men and women from lower classes, vocational and technical tracks represent a way of maintaining their social origin positions, thus the choice between male- or female-dominated curricula might be less relevant.

The second mechanism relates to the fact that the impact of gender stereotypes could vary between different social classes due to class differences in the commitment to gender egalitarianism. The tendency to make educational choices in accordance with gender stereotypes could be moderated either by socialization or by parents' encouraging gender-atypical choices. Previous research has shown that gender-egalitarian attitudes and forms of behaviour are more widespread in the upper and middle classes and among higher-educated parents, as opposed to the working class (Davis & Greenstein, 2009; Dryler, 1998). The latter has been characterized as having more rigid traditional gender roles, aligned with essentialist notions of female and male dispositions and abilities. Therefore, both men and women from upper- or middle-class families would experience a more gender-egalitarian environment than their counterparts from disadvantaged social origins, and the differences in gender role socialization would result in a higher probability of gender-atypical choices. However, regardless of how gender-egalitarian parents may be, it seems unlikely that upper-class families would encourage choices that would effectively lead to downward mobility for their children.

Empirical evidence shows that women from higher social backgrounds, defined by parental educational level, socioeconomic status, or class, are more likely to choose maledominated fields than women from lower social backgrounds (e.g., Berggren, 2008; Dryler, 1998; Trusty, et al., 2000). The findings about men's choices are less
straightforward. Some studies have found that men from higher social backgrounds are more likely to choose male-dominated programs compared to men from lower social backgrounds (Hansen, 1993). Other studies have shown that men from higher social backgrounds are more likely to follow female-dominated paths compared to their counterparts from lower social backgrounds (Dryler, 1998; Støren & Arnesen, 2007). Van de Werfhorst (2017) found a lower level of gender segregation among men and women of higher social origins since women from upper-class families are more likely to choose the science, technology, engineering, and maths fields, while men with higher social backgrounds are more likely to choose health programs (mostly medicine). At the same time, the author points out that women and men from higher social origins only choose gender atypically if the fields they enrol in are known to guarantee good labour market prospects.

A recent study using Finnish register data showed that the impact of social origin on the probability of applying to gender-typical or gender-atypical fields depends not only on gender but also on the educational level targeted (Prix & Kilpi-Jakonen, 2022). For instance, women with highly educated parents were more likely to make gender-atypical choices only if they applied to the university, but not when submitting vocational applications. Similarly, men with highly educated parents were less likely to make gender-typical choices when applying to vocational education, but not when applying to university. Working-class men were more likely to consider female-dominated paths in their university applications compared to their male counterparts from advantaged backgrounds.

With respect to the labour market outcomes, a privileged socioeconomic background might compensate for the low-status identity of being female, which can be especially relevant for high-status managerial and professional careers, where women have been historically underrepresented. Indeed, it was shown that, despite the female disadvantage in obtaining high-status jobs compared to men, the women who first succeeded in overcoming this obstacle decades ago were more likely to be from upper-class families (Kanter, 1977; Epstein, 1981).

At the same time, a status characteristic of being a woman may come into conflict with "ideal worker" norms (Williams, 2001) predominant in many types of professional organizations, which require complete devotion to work (Blair-Loy, 2003). Provided the

norms of "intensive mothering" (Hays, 1996) are prevalent among socioeconomically advantaged families (Lareau & Weininger, 2003), employers may perceive women from upper-class families as less committed to demanding careers and less desirable than upper-class men. A field experiment study examining the effect of social class signals on hiring decisions in large U.S. law firms showed that given equal professional and academic qualifications, male candidates from socioeconomically advantaged families got significantly more callbacks compared to lower-class candidates, while upper-class women failed to benefit from their privileged backgrounds (Rivera & Tilcsik, 2016). As argued by the authors of the study, this interaction between gender and social class of origin signals may be related to a commitment penalty faced by higher-class female candidates which neutralizes any class advantage that they get in the assessment process.

It should be noted that gendered patterns of DESO might vary depending on a measure of destination (Bernardi & Ballarino, 2016). The studies focusing on the International Socio-Economic Index of Occupational Status (ISEI) find greater DESO for men (Mastekaasa, 2016; Bernardi, 2016), while those that analyse income show greater DESO for women (Ballarino et al, 2016; Zimmermann & Seiler, 2019). This discrepancy is likely to be the result of occupational sex segregation combined with the different nature of ISEI and income. Since women are likely to be underrepresented in the occupations at the top and the bottom of the ISEI distribution, the variation of their ISEI is likely to be smaller compared to men, which, in turn, results in a smaller effect of family background on individual female occupational attainment. At the same time, there is more income variation among women due to the differences in the number of working hours and the sectors in which they are employed: on the one hand, women tend to occupy very lowpaid jobs in personal services and relatively low-paid jobs in the public sector, on the one hand, women are also employed in relatively high-income jobs in the private sector where family resources may play an important role for occupational attainment.

4. The role of family structure and dynamics in explaining the interplay between social and gender inequalities. The empirical strategy of the thesis.

As it was pointed out in section 1, the main analytical tool of social stratification research, the OED triangle, was developed in the late 1960s characterised by the prevalence of the male breadwinner model and reproductive behaviours. However, since then, Western European societies have undergone substantial demographic changes accompanied by a shift in values structure. These transformations resulted in a greater heterogeneity of social and demographic characteristics of the families, making social stratification researchers extend the meaning of the first element of the triangle, the social origin (O), over and above the cultural and economic resources of the family of origin (Guetto & Panichella, 2019) and pay attention to such characteristics as gender and family structures. This thesis, thus, aims to explore, using various techniques and research inquiries, how family structures and dynamics in different contexts impact women's life opportunities and how these effects vary based on their social class background. The study considers two areas: education and the labour market, taking into account the roles of both family of origin and family of "destination". This thesis consists of three empirical studies following an analytical framework relying on the OED model complemented with the gender dimension and the two additional elements: on the one hand, the environment and the structure (sibling gender composition, their birth order) of the family of origin, on the other hand, the dynamics within the family of destination (parenthood, migration) (Figure 2).



Figure 2 - Theoretical framework of the thesis.

The first study is focused on the analysis of IEO, that is OE association, influenced by the environment and the structure (sibling gender composition, their birth order) of the family of origin. In addition to parents, siblings represent an influential source of socialization. Although siblings share genes and often grow up in a similar environment,

their outcomes can vary substantially (Bjorklund & Jantti, 2012), possibly due to the differences in individual experiences of the social environment within the family depending on the siblings' compositional characteristics. The studies that have focused on the individual differences among the children in the same family have employed family fixed effects models, allowing to measure the impact of child-specific factors (gender, birth order, maternal age, etc.) on within-family differences in educational outcomes, controlling for unobserved confounding variables, which are constant between siblings at the family level and in the environment. On the other hand, the studies interested in the overall impact of the common milieu on the siblings' outcomes have applied a sibling correlation approach, providing a comprehensive measure of the importance of family background and community effects (Björklund & Jäntti, 2020), including the unobserved factors (for instance, parental motivation and parenting styles). However, neither of the studies of these two groups has considered the horizontal dimension of educational inequalities. As it has been mentioned in the previous sections, the expansion of upper secondary and tertiary education in Western Europe results in an increasing importance of tracks, curricula, and fields of study in the reproduction of inequalities across generations. Moreover, the horizontal dimension is crucial for understanding gender inequalities in education and labour market. Despite women have surpassed men in terms of participation and success in higher education, they are still less likely to enrol in the fields of science, technology, and math (Charles & Bradley, 2009), which are associated with relatively lower returns on the labour market compared to humanities where women tend to be overrepresented.

The first study of this thesis employs a sibling correlation approach, allowing to obtain a comprehensive measure of the weight of family of origin with respect to the school outcomes, capturing both vertical and horizontal dimensions of IEO. Furthermore, the study aims at analysing within-family gender differences in educational outcomes and their heterogeneity depending on the birth order and sibling gender composition using family fixed effects models. Contextually, the analysis is based on the Italian labour force survey data concerning upper secondary education in terms of enrolment and the choice of a study program. The use of Italian data is explained by the availability of detailed information on educational paths.

The following research questions are posed:

(a) What is the weight of the overall family background with respect to upper secondary school enrolment and the choice of science/industry-oriented curricula?

(b) How does this weight vary depending on the family's socioeconomic status?

(c) Are there gender differences in the probability of upper secondary school enrolment and the choice of science/industry-oriented curricula, once the family-related factors that are constant among the siblings are taken into account?

(d) How do these differences vary depending on the family's socioeconomic status?

(e) Do the educational outcomes vary depending on one's birth order and sibling gender composition?

The second study is focused on the context of the family of destination and examines a specific case where the role of women within the family creates particular conditions of disadvantage, namely that of family geographical mobility. While considerable attention has been paid by the literature to the transition to parenthood that has been shown to result in women's reduced labour force participation and income penalization (the so-called "motherhood penalty"), less is known about the impact of family migration (Cooke et al., 2009). Although single women, like single men, were found to benefit from geographical mobility (GM) by taking advantage of better job opportunities offered in locations different from their place of origin or current residence (e.g., Geist & McManus, 2012; Jacobsen & Levin, 1997; Maxwell, 1988), partnered or family migration was shown to result in unfavourable labour market outcomes for females while improving the earnings of men (Cooke, 2003; Jacobsen & Levin, 2000).

The diverging outcomes of family migration for men and women were linked by the literature to the human capital theory of migration (Mincer, 1978), according to which couples move when the overall family utility from doing so is maximized. This means that family migration might take place even when it does not bring positive returns to every single member. Although the human capital theory of migration assumes a gender-neutral approach to family decision-making about migration, studies suggest that migration decisions are often influenced primarily by the husband's human capital, making women more likely to become "tied migrants" or "trailing spouses" (Lersch, 2016; Bielby & Bielby, 1992). Consequently, since families are more inclined to move in response to the husband's employment opportunities, women often migrate only after their husbands have attained a certain level of job security and economic stability in order

to reunite with the family. This pattern of tied migration, where the husband's employment goals take priority, can have negative implications for the occupational integration of immigrant women, thus limiting the occupational returns of geographical mobility among women.

The tied migration hypothesis remains a theoretical proposition, and its empirical testing has been limited by the scarcity of data that capture information on residential, family, and employment histories both in the country of origin and in the host society. The planning of family migration strategies typically occurs before migration, and this critical period of decision-making involves complex interrelationships between migration decisions and other biographical events (Mulder & Wagner, 1993; Impicciatore & Panichella, 2019). However, cross-sectional data collected in the host societies often do not capture these pre-migration dynamics, which makes it difficult to test the tied migration hypothesis. As a result, more panel data that track the occupational trajectories of migrants in destination countries and the interplay between family and migration dynamics in the society of origin are needed to advance our understanding of this important phenomenon (see Ballarino & Panichella, 2018).

The empirical objective of the second study is to investigate how the influence of geographical mobility on women's employment differs based on their family and migration backgrounds and to identify potential patterns of advantage or disadvantage that accumulate throughout their lives. Specifically, the study focuses on interregional migration within Europe, defined as a move between two regions (NUTS 2 level) within the same country. Three research questions are posed:

(a) Are women who engage in tied migration, relocating after their partners, penalized than those who move alone or before their partner?

(b) Can women's education mitigate the negative effects of tied migration on their occupational success?

(c) How does the interplay between family migration dynamics and family behaviours foster the process of accumulation of (dis)advantages over the life course?

The study is based on SHARELIFE data, providing retrospective information on one's occupational, residential, and family histories, including the period of engagement. This allows for a more precise identification of the effects of family separation and tied

migration, given the complex synchronicity and interplay between migration and other biographical events (Windzio et al., 2011; Impicciatore & Panichella, 2019).

The third study is focused on the interplay between the family-of-origin (social class of origin) and family-of-destination factors (motherhood, partner's resources) in determining women's employment outcomes. While several studies have examined how educational level affects women's employment opportunities (e.g., Steiber et al, 2016; Evertsson et al., 2009), no research (to the best knowledge of the author) has been done on the impact of family background, net of education. The direct effect of social origin on mothers' labour market outcomes might operate through access to social networks, employers' favouritism, inheritance of family business or financial resources, possibly resulting in a cumulative or double disadvantage for women from less privileged family backgrounds or compensating the penalty for women from better-off origins. Moreover, the effect of social origin might vary depending on the factors related to the family of destination, such as the partner's resources (his education and/or occupational status). Empirical evidence has shown that the husband's social standing has a negative impact on a woman's employment in couples where a male partner has a comparative advantage in terms of education or occupational status, whereas it exerts no effect in high-status homogeneous couples (Bernardi, 1999; Vandecasteele & Esche, 2015). At the same time, to the best of the author's knowledge, it has not been investigated, how partner's resources interact with a woman's social origin, net of her education, and whether this interaction creates an additional source of cumulative (dis)advantage. Furthermore, on top of the individual-level factors, the employment of mothers is determined by the macro context characterised by the country's family policies, gender norms, and labour market structure and regulations. The impact of social origin on motherhood employment penalty might be particularly pronounced in contexts with weak state support for female employment, traditional gender norms, limited secondary segment, and limited part-time opportunities, as well as in countries with strict employment protection regulation.

Using the SHARELIFE data, the third study aims to answer the following research questions:

(a) Do mothers with advantaged social origin have higher chances of being employed compared to mothers with less privileged backgrounds, net of the educational level?

(b) Does the DESO on the employment probability of mothers change according to the number of children?

(c) Does a partner's higher social standing lead to a cumulative advantage for mothers from upper and middle social classes of origin?

(d) Does the impact of the partner's social class of origin on employment probabilities of mothers from different social origins vary according to the number of children in the family?

(e) How does the DESO on employment probabilities of mothers differ across the countries? Thus, the third study makes the first attempt to uncover the role of social origin for mothers' employment chances, thereby connecting the literature on social stratification with the research on gender inequalities, adding to the studies on cumulative (dis)advantage (Diprete & Eirich, 2006) and employing a comparative perspective.

Chapter 2

Family Socioeconomic Background, Gender, and Sibling Correlation in Education. An Analysis of Educational Inequality in Upper Secondary School in Italy.

In contemporary societies, education plays a central role in the life course of individuals. Schools socialize individuals to desirable behaviours, transmit knowledge and skills, verify, and certify the preparedness to perform a specific activity, thus contributing to social stratification by allocating individuals into occupations. In addition to performing the functions of socialization, knowledge transmission, and selection, education brings important benefits to individuals and society. Empirical evidence shows that highly educated individuals live healthier lives (Mirowski & Ross 2003), participate more fully in civil society and politics (Verba et al. 1995, Nie et al. 1996, Putnam 2000), are less likely to divorce (Schwartz, 2010) and bring productivity gains to the whole communities through the processes of social pressure and learning (Moretti, 2004, 2012). All these factors make educational inequalities a highly important area of research, where one can distinguish three aspects: inequality of educational levels, inequality of educational outcomes, and inequality of educational opportunities. The first aspect is related to the vertical stratification of educational pathways and implies that some individuals obtain higher degrees than others. The second aspect implies the differences in the level of competencies and skills acquired at school. The third aspect means the differences in qualifications attained by individuals from different social groups, defined by the social class or education of their parents, or by gender, ethnicity, and any other ascribed characteristics.

With regard to the inequality of educational opportunities (IEO), the dominant thesis in social science in the 1980s and 1990s was that of persistent inequalities, which contradicted the predictions of modernization theory. The seminal study by Blossfeld and Shavit (1993) showed that notwithstanding the educational expansion during the 20th century in the 13 countries analysed in their project, IEO were stable in all these countries, except for Sweden and the Netherlands. However, later empirical evidence has shifted

towards the decline in IEO, which was found in Germany (e.g., Mayer et al., 2007; Blossfeld et al., 2015), France (Falcon & Bataille, 2018), Italy (e.g., Ballarino et al., 2009; Barone et al., 2010), Spain (Ballarino et al., 2009), the US (Bernardi et al., 2018; Hertel & Pfeffer, 2016), Sweden (Esping-Andersen, 2014; Erikson & Jonsson, 1996) and other Scandinavian countries (Kivinen & Rinne, 1996; Esping-Andersen, 2014). It should be noted that these findings are related to the cohorts born in the 1940s and 1950s and schooled in a period of dramatic economic growth, whereas for cohorts schooled in the two following decades, the increasing evidence has indicated the stability of IEO (e.g., Barone & Ruggera, 2016; Bernardi et al., 2018; Hout & Janus, 2011). In sum, empirical evidence does not support either the predictions of modernization theory, or the hypothesis of persistent IEO supported by the social reproduction theory (Barone, 2019), but what is clear, education is still strongly affected by family socioeconomic background.

One of the most important educational trends in recent years in Western countries has been the reversal of the gender gap in educational attainment. While in the past men have always received more education than women, nowadays females surpass males in terms of participation and success in higher education. However, gender imbalance with respect to the horizontal dimension of educational systems, that is fields of study or tracks, remains substantial. Women continue to be underrepresented in engineering, mathematics, and computer science, and to a lesser degree in the natural sciences. At the same time, they are likely to be overrepresented in education, humanities, social sciences, law, and health fields. This pattern of choice has crucial implications for the labour market inequalities, since humanities and social sciences lead to less favourable prospects in terms of unemployment rates and earnings compared to engineering and computer science.

The family represents an important socializing environment that affects educational choices. While it is well established that parental socioeconomic background and investment, as well as genetic inheritance, play a crucial role in determining opportunity structures, and, as a consequence, the educational and socioeconomic trajectories that are followed in life, less is known about the role of siblings and sibling group composition. Moreover, despite the fact that siblings share the same home and partially the same genes, their outcomes vary substantially (Björklund & Jäntti 2012). Part of this variation results

from divergent experiences within the family that are linked to differences in individual characteristics, such as gender and birth order. Cultural beliefs about gender roles reproduced through socialization within the family are likely to make men and women feel entitled to choose gender-typical fields. As for birth order, the evidence shows that parents tend to invest more resources in first-born children, who result having a higher grade point average in school, higher completed educational attainment, and a higher probability of applying to and graduating from, medicine and engineering programs at university, compared to later-born children (Barclay, 2015; Barclay et al., 2017; Bjerkedal et al., 2007; Black et al., 2005).

This study provides *between- and within-family analysis* of educational inequalities in upper secondary education in Italy, including the decision to enrol and the choice of the science/industry-oriented curriculum within the three tracks (academic, technical, and vocational). The aims of the study are threefold: first, to quantify the fraction of variance in educational outcomes attributed to the family background (sibling correlations) and its heterogeneity by socioeconomic background; second, to estimate the impact of gender and birth order interacted with gender on within-family differences in educational outcomes, as well as to analyse the variation of the estimates by socioeconomic background; third, to analyse the interacted impact of sibling gender composition and birth order on educational outcomes of males and females.

This work brings several contributions to the previous literature. First, no previous studies on sibling differences and similarities in educational outcomes have been conducted using Italian data. Second, most of the existing empirical evidence on siblings is related to earnings and such educational outcomes as cognitive skills, school grades, and years of education, while little attention is paid to upper secondary education and curriculum choice. The focus on upper-secondary education is crucial for the analysis of inequalities in countries with highly differentiated educational systems where early choices are important predictors of future socioeconomic outcomes.

In the case of Italy, the analysis of upper secondary school inequalities is important for two main reasons. First, even though starting in 2007 education in Italy has become compulsory up to 16 years of age, the dropout rates before reaching this age limit are still high, especially in the first years of upper secondary school (Guetto & Panichella, 2019). Second, notwithstanding the educational expansion and the resulting reduction of inequality of educational opportunities at this school level in Italy, social inequality persists through the association between socioeconomic background and track choice (Panichella & Triventi, 2014; Guetto & Vergolini, 2017).

Another contribution of this study is between- and within-family analysis of inequalities within the educational paths based on their curriculum which is possible thanks to the large sample size of original data that has not yet been used to study educational inequalities in Italy. The analysis of differentiation within the tracks is important due to its link to future gender inequalities in the labour market. Within the academic track, girls are less likely than boys to choose the scientific curriculum and are more likely to study foreign languages and socio-pedagogic programs. In technical and vocational tracks, females are underrepresented in industry-oriented curricula and are overrepresented in service-oriented curricula (tourism, catering, accounting, etc.). This segregation accounts for almost two-thirds of gender differences in access to the humanities and social sciences, and almost one-third of the gender gap in engineering and computing at the university level (Barone & Assirelli, 2020). Further, these choices bring less advantageous labour market prospects for women with respect to income, unemployment rates, and the risks of overeducation and skill mismatch, which are the outcomes found to be associated with humanities and the social sciences (Assirelli 2015; Barone & Ortiz, 2011; Davies & Guppy, 1997; Reimer et al., 2011).

The chapter is structured as follows. The first five sections describe between- and within-family approaches to analysing educational inequalities, such as sibling correlations and family fixed effects, and provides the respective empirical evidence. The sixth section is dedicated to the Italian context, describing the upper secondary school structure and its stratification based on social origin and gender. Further, the study proceeds with a description of data, methods, analytical strategy, and results.

1. Sibling correlation approach: advantages and limitations of utilising sibling data.

The most popular approach to studying IEO is the analysis of differences in economic and educational outcomes *between* individuals coming from different families. This method, called the *intergenerational mobility approach*, is based on the estimation of the relationship between parents' income, earnings, or education and the same outcome of their offspring. An alternative way is to compute the fraction of total inequality (measured as the variance) attributed to the factors shared by the children belonging to the same family. The key advantage of this method, *called sibling correlation*, compared to the intergenerational mobility approach, is that it provides a comprehensive measure of the importance of family background and community effects (Björklund & Jäntti, 2020), including the unobserved factors (for instance, parental motivation and parenting styles). The studies using the sibling correlation approach show that around half of the variation in educational outcomes is explained by the family background, which implies that another half of the variation arises *within the families*, due to the individual differences between siblings (Grätz, 2018). Therefore, the research on educational inequalities should not only rely on between-family analysis but also involve *within-family analysis* using *family fixed-effects models*. These models allow measuring the impact of child-specific factors (gender, birth order, maternal age, etc.) on within-family differences in educational outcomes, controlling for unobserved confounding variables, which are constant between siblings at the family level and in the environment.

The developments of the fourth generation of intergenerational mobility allowed to extend the analysis of the role of the social environment in one's socioeconomic outcomes. Compared to the most popular approach using multivariate regressions to estimate the relationship between parents' income, earnings, or education and the same outcome of their offspring, an alternative approach, sibling correlation, provided a comprehensive measure of the importance of family background and community effects (Björklund & Jäntti, 2020). Sibling correlation is computed as the fraction of total inequality (measured as the variance) that can be attributed to factors (observed and unobserved) shared by siblings, such as parental resources, parental influences (aspirations, cultural inheritance), as well as school, church, and neighbourhood effects, and interactions among siblings. Sibling correlation has also been used as an indicator of social mobility, with weak correlations implying higher intergenerational mobility (i.e., less dependence on the family background) and stronger correlations suggesting stronger family transmission of social (dis)advantage, hence lower social mobility (Grätz et al., 2021).

Compared to the intergenerational mobility approach, sibling correlation has several advantages (Grätz et al., 2021). First, as opposed to the intergenerational mobility studies focusing on a single characteristic of the family background (e.g., education, income,

social class, or occupation), sibling correlation comprises all the characteristics that are transmitted from one generation to another. Second, most studies using the intergenerational mobility approach are still based on information about the father, while sibling correlation captures the influence of both parents. Third, in addition to the immediate environment at home, sibling correlation reflects the common factors outside the family, including neighbourhood and school effects. Finally, sibling correlation takes into account unobserved characteristics shared by the children belonging to the same family, for instance, parental motivation, family values, and interactions among siblings.

However, the sibling correlation approach also has its disadvantages. The main drawback of this method is that it does not account for the differences between children within the same family that might have an influence on educational outcomes. For example, empirical evidence shows that there is a negative impact of higher birth order on a child's cognitive skills and educational outcomes (e.g., Black, et al., 2005; Booth & Kee, 2009; Kristensen & Bjerkedal, 2010). Other factors, not captured by sibling correlation include differential treatment of children by parents, genetic traits not shared by siblings, gender, and age. The second drawback of sibling correlation is that it is calculated using the data on families with more than one child, which raises concerns about the generalizability of the findings to the families with singletons.

The studies on siblings' similarity in education have mostly considered such outcomes as years of education attained, school grades, and cognitive skills (Tab. 1). The results vary depending on the countries, cohorts analysed, and gender of the siblings. Sibling correlations on cognitive skills vary from 0.42 in Germany (Grätz, 2018) to 0.56 in the USA (Duncan et al., 2001). The estimates for school grades range from 0.42 in the USA (Grätz et al., 2021) to 0.54-0.61 in England (Nicoletti and Rabe, 2013). The share of variance in years of education attributed to family background varies between 0.38 in Sweden (Hällsten & Thaning, 2018) and 0.60 in the USA (Mazumder, 2008). A recent study focusing on the probability of obtaining a university degree in Scotland found that about 40% of the variation in this outcome is related to siblings' shared family characteristics (Duta et al., 2021). Given that the effects of social background tend to diminish across educational transitions (Mare, 1980), it might be expected that sibling correlation in upper secondary school enrolment is at least not less than sibling correlation found with respect to years of education and probability of obtaining a university degree.

Study	Country	Data	Respondents' Gender	Estimate (SE in parentheses)					
Outcome: Cognitive Skills									
Anger and Schnitzlein (2017)	Germany	SOEP	Mixed	.55 (.05) – .61 (.06)					
Björklund and Jäntti (2012)	Sweden	Registers	Male	.47 (.01)					
Duncan et al. (2001)	USA	Add Health	Male	.46 (.07)					
Duncan et al. (2001)	USA	Add Health	Female	.56 (.05)					
Grätz (2018)	Germany	SOEP Mixed .4		.42 (.03)					
Outcome: School Grades									
Björklund and Jäntti (2012)	Sweden	Registers	Mixed	.51 (.01)					
Nicoletti and Rabe (2013)	England	Registers (National Pupil Database)	Mixed	.54 (.00) – .61 (.00)					
Outcome: Final Educational Attainment (years of education)									
Björklund and Jäntti (2012)	Sweden	Registers	Mixed	.39 (.00)					
Björklund and Salvanes (2011)	Norway	Registers	Mixed	.40 (.01) – .42 (0.1)					
Björklund et al. (2009)	Sweden	Registers	Male	.46 (.01) – .48 (.02)					
Conley and Glauber (2008)	USA	PSID	Mixed	.63 (.05)					
Hällsten and Thaning (2018)	Sweden	Registers	Mixed	.38 (n/a)					
Marks and Mooi-Reci (2016)	Australia	Data source not named in the paper	Mixed	.34 (n/a) – .58 (n/a)					
Mazumder (2008)	USA	PSID	Mixed	.60 (.01)					
Raaum et al. (2006)	Norway	Registers	Male	.42 (.01)					
Raaum et al. (2006)	Norway	Registers	Female	.46 (.01) – .47 (.01)					
Schnitzlein (2014)	Germany	SOEP	Male	.66 (.04)					
Schnitzlein (2014)	Germany	SOEP	Female	.55 (.05)					
Sieben et al. (2001)	West Germany	German Life History Study	Mixed	.38 (n/a)48 (n/a)					
Sieben et al. (2001)	East Germany	German Life History Study	Mixed	.24 (n/a) – .30 (n/a)					
Sieben et al. (2001)	Netherlands	Familie- enquete Nederlands Bevolking	Mixed	.41 (n/a) – .52 (n/a)					

Table 1 - Overview of estimates of sibling correlations at the population level from previous research.

Source: Grätz, M., Barclay, K. J., Wiborg, Ø. N., Lyngstad, T. H., Karhula, A., Erola, J., Präg, P., Laidley, T., & Conley, D. (2021). Sibling Similarity in Education Across and Within Societies. Demography, 58(3), p.1020.

The only study related to upper secondary school showed that 0.51 of the variation in upper track (*Gymnasium*) attendance in Germany at age 16-17 is explained by the family background (Grätz, 2018). With respect to the choice of track or major, no previous studies applied the sibling correlation approach. Since the decision regarding the track

and the curricula is made at an early age (14 years), the influence of parents is expected to be substantial and not lower than the role of individual characteristics.

2. Sibling correlations and parental socio-economic background

The literature usually distinguishes two main theories that explain the variation of sibling correlations by family background. Both theories focus on parental investment strategies, given their children's endowments and the available resources, but lead to opposite predictions. According to parental reinforcement theories, advantaged families invest more in the human capital of better-endowed children, which results in a greater withinfamily inequality compared to less privileged families, unable to invest optimally in their children due to limited resources (Becker 1991; Becker & Tomes, 1979, 1986). An alternative approach argues that parents tend to compensate for ability differences between their children in order to avoid future inequalities (Behrman et al., 1982). In this case, it is expected that better-off families will be more likely to adopt compensatory strategies by investing more in the offspring having fewer chances for success in education (Conley, 2004, 2008; Griliches, 1979). On the contrary, disadvantaged families, given budget constraints, would invest more in a child for whom they expect greater returns and future wealth transfers, including transfers towards the less-endowed offspring (Conley, 2008). Therefore, this theoretical approach leads to an opposite prediction, namely a higher similarity between siblings in upper-class families than in less privileged ones. At the same time, in reality, parents might be simply unable to follow either of these two strategies as they fail to assess the future returns on their investments. In this case, they might adopt an equal treatment strategy, providing the same amount of resources for each child at every point in time (Hertwig et al., 2002).

In addition to these theories, the predictions can be developed on the basis of the relative risk aversion mechanism and the differences in parenting styles (Duta et al., 2021). The relative risk aversion mechanism suggests that upper-class families have a stronger interest in providing support and motivating their children to attain higher levels of education in order to make them preserve their social position. In addition, parents in advantaged families tend to adopt more strict, planned, and intentional parenting practices, referred to as "concerted cultivation", while lower-class parents follow a "natural growth" strategy, spending less time with their children and not structuring their

activities (Lareau, 2003). Both arguments lead to a prediction of greater sibling similarity in better-off families.

Empirical evidence on the variation of sibling correlations by family socioeconomic background is mixed, with some studies corroborating the existence of differences (e.g., Conley et al., 2007; Conley & Glauber, 2008; Grätz et al., 2021) and others finding no heterogeneity (e.g. Duta et al., 2021; Grätz, 2018). A recent cross-country comparative study suggests that there is greater socioeconomic variation in sibling correlations in school grades and educational attainment than in cognitive skills (Grätz et al., 2021). Furthermore, the authors find that in the USA and Sweden, children in families with highly educated fathers resemble more in their school grades and educational attainment than children in families with low-educated fathers. However, the results for Norway and Finland are the opposite. On the other hand, the study using sibling data from the Scottish Longitudinal Study, found no heterogeneity of sibling correlation in obtaining higher education qualifications (Duta et al., 2021). At the same time, the authors note that the nature of this similarity is different across the socioeconomic backgrounds, namely children in advantaged families resemble in their outcomes because they both have a degree, while children in disadvantaged families are alike since neither of them has a degree.

3. Within-family analysis of educational inequalities: the role of birth order

Despite having the advantage of providing the most comprehensive measure of the impact of family background on life chances, sibling correlation does not allow examining whether the differences in individual characteristics lead to inequalities within families. Therefore, the estimation of sibling correlations should be complemented by family fixedeffects models, which permit investigating the influence of sibling differences in such characteristics as, for instance, birth order, birth spacing, maternal age at birth, and gender on the educational outcomes of interest. The main advantage of this method is that it controls for unobserved confounding variables, which are constant between siblings at the family level and in the environment, in particular characteristics of the parents, that are shared among siblings, the size of the sibling group, parental resources and parenting practices to the extent that is common among the children.

A large number of studies has analysed the relationship between birth order and such outcomes as educational attainment, intelligence test scores, and scores of educational achievement (Steelman et al., 2002). However, many of these studies produced conflicting results and faced the problems of model specification or unrepresentative samples (Härkönen, 2014; Kristensen & Bjerkedal, 2010). Indeed, empirical estimation of birth order effects is challenging for several reasons. First, it requires full control for family size, otherwise, birth order effects are confounded with sibship size. Second, the results might be biased by the presence of cohort effects in educational attainment and parental age, since later-born children belong to different cohorts compared to earlierborn siblings and the parents of first-borns are younger than parents of third- or fourthborn children. Third, birth order effects can be confounded by birth spacing, since the close spacing of births can negatively impact children's outcomes (Powell & Steelman, 1993). Finally, conditional on parental and child cohort, birth order correlates with parental socioeconomic status and other, potentially unobserved, factors (Hauser & Sewell, 1985; Black et al., 2007). These challenges can be resolved by family fixed effects models, allowing to take into account observed and unobserved family characteristics, with controls for demographic differences between siblings and large representative data sets (Härkönen, 2014).

With respect to the intellectual outcomes, several theories have been put forward to explain the negative impact of birth order, including resource dilution theory, confluence model, and optimal stopping models. According to resource dilution theory, first-born children, on the one hand, have the advantage of being the only children for a longer time and benefit from less competition, especially during the sensitive early years. Later-born children, on the other hand, come in an environment where family resources, including attention and quality time spent with parents, must be shared with other children. This leads to systematically fewer inputs relative to their elder brothers or sisters (Downey, 2001; Price, 2008; de Haan et al., 2014).

The confluence model relies on the decline of the family's average intellectual environment due to the increase in the number of children and the interactions between siblings (Zajonc et al., 1979; Zajonc, 1976). According to Zajonc (1976), the intellectual development of a child depends on the intellectual environment in the family which is defined as the average of the intellectual levels of all family members. A first-born child

benefits from a rich intellectual environment in the sole presence of adults, while the following children are born into an intellectually depressed milieu. Consequently, one would expect a negative impact of birth order on the cognitive outcomes of the siblings. In addition, it is also important to take into account the interactions between the siblings (Zajonc et al., 1979). Younger children learn from their more mature older siblings which would seem to make the former advantaged compared to the latter. However, in the long run, the teaching benefits the tutor more than the tutee (Zajonc et al., 1979). The relative importance of the tutoring effect compared with that of the intellectual environment effect increases over time so that at around the age of 11 ± 2 years and further older siblings become smarter than younger ones (e.g., Zajonc, 2001; Zajonc & Sulloway, 2007). Other studies have shown that the negative birth order effect is manifested already around the age of 10 (Bonesranning & Massih, 2011).

The optimal stopping model takes into account not only the quality of childhood experience but also parents' fertility behaviour (e.g., Black et al., 2005). The key assumption of this model is that parents make their fertility decisions based on their experience with previous children. Parents with one child will have further children only in case of a positive experience with the first one. They will stop having more children when facing difficulties with their latest child. Therefore, on average, the last child in a family is expected to have weaker performance and worse behaviour, while the first-borns with younger siblings are a positive selection from all children born first to their parents (including only children) and are therefore likely to show better school results.

The negative relationship between birth order and cognitive outcomes can also be explained by the different characters of the siblings. First-borns are performing better at school due to certain characteristics that are helpful in the educational system. Older children gain their parents' favour by acting as a tutor and carer for their younger brothers and sisters, which implies that they are expected to be more conscientious, hard-working, and respectful of authority. Younger children, on the other hand, attract their parents' attention by experimentation and are often more ingenious, unconventional, and tolerant of risk (e.g., Paulhus et al., 1999; Sulloway, 2001). Moreover, first-born children tend to employ dominating strategies, while their younger counterparts mainly use low-power strategies (e.g., appealing to parents for help, humour, and social intelligence) (e.g., Paulhus et al. 1999; Sulloway 2001). These discrepancies later result in differences in

personality and social behaviour. The role of personality traits in explaining socioeconomic outcomes has been corroborated by the economic literature (Heckman et al., 2006; Borghans et al., 2008).

The existing agreement on a firm correlation between cognitive ability and educational attainment (Deary et al., 2007, Mackintosh, 1998) might lead one to expect that higher birth order would result in lower levels of education. However, the relationships between birth order, intelligence, and educational attainment might not be that straightforward due to parental investment strategies. As already mentioned in the previous section, parents may either invest optimally in their children's human capital directing their resources to the better-endowed children (Becker & Tomes, 1979; 1986), or may seek to equalize their children's attainment by providing more resources to the weaker child (Behrman et al., 1982; Bernardi, 2012), or may simply choose to prove the same amount of resources for each child at every point in time (Hertwig et al., 2002). Whether birth order effects are reinforced or compensated may depend on the parental resources. In particular, better-off families might be more likely to adopt compensatory strategies by investing more in the offspring having fewer chances for success in education (Conley, 2004, 2008; Griliches, 1979). However, whether these expectations apply to birth order differences is uncertain. The study using sibling data from the German Life History Study and fixed-effects models shows that birth order has a strong negative effect on educational attainment in West Germany but these effects do not vary according to families' socioeconomic characteristics (Härkönen, 2014). Similarly, Black et al. (2005) find a significant and large negative effect of higher birth order on children's education in Norway and no substantial differences by parental education. On the contrary, the study using the data from the German Socio-Economic Panel Study and family fixed-effects models shows that the negative effects of higher birth order on educational attainment are reduced in socioeconomically advantaged families, which provides evidence for compensating strategies adopted by socioeconomically advantaged parents (Grätz, 2018).

If parents assess the benefits of attaining education differently for boys and girls, the effect of birth order may vary by gender. Kristensen and Bjerkedal (2010), using a Norwegian register-based longitudinal study, find that female educational advantage over males increases for the later birth cohorts, and the birth order effect is slightly stronger for women than for men. Another Norwegian study by Black et al. (2005) confirms larger

birth order effects for women with respect to not only educational attainment but also full-time employment. However, two German studies (Härkönen, 2014; Eschelbach, 2015) find stronger birth effects for boys. The results for Germany were explained by lower educational returns for women. The strong male breadwinner tradition with a poor public childcare provision has constrained women in West Germany to choose between working and staying at home and undermined the incentives for prolonged education.

4. Gender and within-family differences in educational outcomes

While recent studies provide consistent evidence regarding the effects of birth order on siblings' educational outcomes, the role of gender is not clear both in terms of theoretical expectations and empirical evidence. Gender might be considered as one of the factors guiding the allocation of parental resources within the family and ultimately affecting educational outcomes. Theoretical discussions in the literature have mainly focused on the amount of education attained. The models of the family developed by Becker and Tomes (1979, 1986) and Becker (1991), in which parents invest in their children's human capital based on the expected costs and returns of education, can also be applied when considering the gender of children. Empirical evidence consistently shows that men have better chances of labour market success in terms of hiring, pay, and promotion outcomes, as well as longer careers, compared to women (Correll et al., 2007; England, 1992; Blau & Kahn, 2000). Thus, parents, expecting higher rates of return to education for boys, will invest more in the schooling of a male child. As a result, girls with brothers will have less education than girls with sisters. Similarly, boys who grow up only with brothers will have worse educational outcomes than men who have sisters. Assuming that educational decisions are taken one after another, girls with older brothers will be most disadvantaged, as available resources might have already been spent. Furthermore, within-family gender effects are expected to be more pronounced in lower-SES families who are more creditconstrained, compared to upper classes who can afford higher education for any child in the family. Finally, as suggested by Kalmijn & Van De Werfhorst (2016) this gendered allocation of resources within a family might be more typical for societies with a conservative gender climate than for countries with more gender-egalitarian labour markets and gender-egalitarian ideology.

An alternative theoretical approach implying that parents tend to avoid inequalities among their children (Behrman et al., 1982) would lead to an opposite prediction. That is, parents will invest more in the human capital of girls who are expected to have lower returns in the labour market, in order to offset any inequalities between siblings. Therefore, the presence of a brother will be positively associated with the educational attainment of girls, while the presence of a sister will harm educational outcomes. Given that advantaged families are more likely to adhere to gender-egalitarian ideology (Thornton & Freedman, 1979; Thornton et. al., 1983) and do not face budget constraints in adopting compensating strategies, one might expect higher parental socioeconomic background to be associated with less educational inequality between opposite-sex siblings.

Besides economic theories, sociological literature provides several explanations for the effects of sibling gender. Rosenberg's (1965) "sex minority hypothesis" implies that the child who is the sex minority in a family will receive special treatment from parents, thus obtaining relatively better educational outcomes. This theory leads to an expectation that a girl having only brothers fairs better than a girl raised only with sisters. In contrast, Conley's "revised sex minority hypothesis" argues that it is more disadvantageous to have siblings of the opposite sex since "same-sex siblings may stimulate a competitive, achievement-orientated environment among children, while opposite-sex ones may engender a more sociable, less aggressive environment" (Conley, 2000: 445). Another explanation of gender effects is offered by the reference group theory, according to which the sibling sex composition adjusts parents' preferences for equality of child outcomes. In a family with one son and one daughter the achievement of both children is measured on the same scale, which results in equal investments in their education. However, the birth of a second female child would change the reference group for the first daughter, who would now be measured against her newborn sister rather than her brother. Therefore, girls who are the only daughter among brothers are expected to have better educational outcomes than those who have at least one sister.

The empirical studies on sibling gender effects provide mixed evidence. Powell and Steelman (1989) found that having brothers is negatively associated with receiving parental financial assistance, whereas the number of sisters has no significant effect. In contrast, Butcher and Case (1994) reported that women who grow up with sisters have

less education than women raised with brothers. However, for males, the presence of sisters has no significant impact on education. Kaestner (1997) replicated Butcher and Case's analysis in several ways but also took into account race and family budget constraints. The author found no evidence of sibling sex composition effects for White individuals but reported greater levels of educational attainment for black adults raised with a sister or having relatively more sisters than black adults with no or few sisters. In addition, the study did not reveal any differences in sibling sex composition effects by family income. Jacob (2011) using data from the German Life History Data, showed that it is not the presence of brothers as such that matters for the educational attainment of girls, but their relative age, which supports the assumption that families make sequential decisions regarding schooling investments of their children. Namely, she found that older brothers have a negative influence on their sisters' chances of graduating from higher education, in particular in working-class families. At the same time, in service-class families, older brothers seem to be beneficial for younger sisters' educational attainment. Furthermore, the author points out that, in total, educational outcomes are independent of the sibling sex composition. No evidence of the sibling sex composition effect is also found by Hauser and Kuo (1998), Bauer and Gang (2001), and Amin (2009). To sum up, the literature on the role of gender in siblings' educational outcomes does not offer consistent evidence.

5. Sibling influence in the choice of major

The studies on sibling influence in the choice of major are very scarce. The social learning theories (Bandura, 1977; Patterson, 1984) argue that individuals learn new behaviours through the observation of others (models). One of the crucial factors of whether a model will attract another person's attention is the frequency of contact with the model. Since siblings spend considerable time together, they are likely to become models for each other. For example, with respect to educational choices, an individual can receive precious and otherwise costly information about the costs and benefits of alternative institutions and fields of study. Another determinant of a model is the possession of such characteristics, as nurturance, power, and mastery (Bandura, 1977). These characteristics are more likely to be found in older siblings rather than younger ones, as older siblings tend to have more skills and knowledge, and are more likely to provide directions, advice,

support, and care for their younger brothers or sisters (Azmitia & Hesser, 1993). This might suggest that younger siblings are more likely to choose a similar field of study as their older siblings when they differ more in age, and the higher is the level of education of the older siblings (Vleuten et al., 2020). Furthermore, a child is more likely to imitate those people he/she perceives as similar to himself/herself. Therefore, an individual is more likely to follow the example of a sibling having the same gender (Rowe & Gulley, 1992; Whiteman et al., 2011).

Very few studies analysed the sibling influence on the choice of major or field of study. Moreover, their results are mixed. Exploiting discontinuous admission rules in Chile's higher education system, Aguirre and Matta (2021) find that having an older sibling enrolled in a given college increases by 42% the probability of enrolling in that institution. However, the authors reveal no effect on major choices. Furthermore, they show that spillovers are especially concentrated among siblings who are expected to attend the same college campus at the same time, which they consider as an indication that spillovers may be driven by siblings' desire to spend time together in college, or by their need to share some of the costs of attending college.

On the other hand, Vleuten et al. (2020), using the data from the fifth wave of the Children of Immigrants Longitudinal Survey in the Netherlands and applying conditional logit models, show that younger siblings follow their older sibling's fields of study, especially when they are of the same sex. The authors find no evidence that sibling similarities are dependent on differences in age or education level of the older sibling. Joensen and Nielsen (2018), exploiting the exogenous variation in course choice stemming from a pilot program in Denmark's high school, show that younger siblings are 2-3 percentage points more likely to choose math-science if their older sibling unexpectedly could choose math-science at a lower cost. Furthermore, these spillovers are greater among closely spaced siblings, in particular brothers, and have a long-term impact on the career outcomes of younger brothers.

Finally, the study analysing the data on families with at least two children attending a college-preparatory high school in Milan, reports that mixed-gender siblings are associated with a stronger gender-stereotypical specialization of males in the choice of college major (Anelli & Peri, 2015). Namely, boys who have at least a sister attending a college-preparatory high school are 5 percentage points more likely to enrol in such fields

as, Economics/Business, Engineering, compared to boys with only brothers. The effect is weaker and not significant for girls. At the same time, the study shows that the gender composition of siblings does not influence the choice of track at the upper-secondary level. The authors argue that this decision, taken at a younger age, is influenced by parents, and is mainly the function of geographical proximity to a specific school and the gender of the first child. This suggests that the choice of college major reflects more the preference of the students rather than of their families as opposed to the choice of high school track.

6. Italian context

6.1 Inequality of educational opportunities in Italy

In the twentieth century Italy, like other economically developed countries, witnessed a notable increase in school participation. In the period between the 1950s and 1960s, known as *miracolo economico* or economic boom, there were significant changes in Italian society: the increase of white collars and blue collars and the reduction of the agricultural class. These changes were accompanied by considerable urbanisation, an increase in the number of schools, advancement in the system of public transport and improvement of living conditions, and the growth of consumption (Panichella & Triventi, 2014). In addition, the share of illiterate individuals declined, while the average years of education attained increased.

Several studies that examined the long-term trends in the relationship between social origin and education found a decline in social inequality in educational attainment in the 20th century (Ballarino et al., 2009; Barone et al., 2010). However, it is important to note that this decline was not uniform in several aspects. First, it was mainly related to the cohorts schooled in the 1950s and 1960s during the period of economic boom, while it seems to have exhausted itself subsequently, starting from the 1970s (Triventi, 2014). Second, the reduction in educational inequalities in the 1960s was more pronounced in central-northern regions rather than in the southern regions due to the higher enrolment rates in upper secondary schools in the Centre-North compared to the South (Ballarino et al., 2014). This discrepancy was related, on the one hand, to the systematic lack of school structures in the southern regions (Perri, 1971), on the other hand, to the differences in

educational paths of lower-class children. The Central-northern regions were characterized by higher percentages of working-class students continuing upper secondary education by enrolling in vocational schools rather than dropping out at the end of lower school as happened in southern regions (Panichella, 2014). Finally, the decline of social inequalities in educational attainment was quite moderate, mostly affecting lower school levels and, to a lesser extent, tertiary education (Ballarino & Schadee, 2010; Checchi et al., 2008; Shavit & Westerbeek, 1998; Triventi & Trivellato, 2009).

6.2 Italian upper secondary school

Today's Italian education system is the result of a major comprehensive reform adopted in 1962 that replaced the former system with a new middle school (*scuola media unica*, the actual lower secondary school) and changed the age at first tracking from 11 to 14. Therefore, after completing lower secondary education, the students are faced with the choice among three five-year tracks: academic schools (*licei*), technical schools (*istituti tecnici*), and vocational schools (*istituti professionali*). All three tracks afford a high school diploma that ensures access to university but differ in terms of subjects, academic standards, institutional purposes, and prestige. Teachers provide a recommendation for track choice that is not binding but taken into account by families (Argentin et al., 2017). Given the young age of children and the lack of standardized assessments of skills, parents play an important role in the transition from lower secondary to upper secondary school (Aastrup, 2007; Cavalli & Facchini, 2001).

Lyceums (*licei*) focus on the transmission of general knowledge and reasoning skills with instructional time mostly devoted to reading and comprehension, Italian literature, Latin, and philosophy. The teachers in these schools are on average better qualified and more experienced (Abbiati et al., 2017; Argentin, 2018), while the students are characterized by higher performance levels and lower problems of discipline (Gasperoni, 1997). Furthermore, nine out of ten graduates in academic schools continue to university education (Barone et al., 2018). Academic track includes five main types of curricula: classical (*liceo classico*), scientific (*liceo scientifico*), foreign languages (*liceo linguistico*), socio-psychological (*liceo musicale e coreutico*). The first two programs

are the most prestigious and demanding and are largely attended by better-performing students from advantaged families (Scotto di Luzio, 2007). The other three curricula focus on humanistic subjects and are characterized by female overrepresentation and greater heterogeneity in terms of students' social backgrounds.

Vocational track (*istituti professionali*) provides training in the areas of service, industry, and craft sectors. The programs in these schools do not include apprenticeships, practical skills are mainly taught via simulations and laboratory activities (Abbiati et al., 2017). Vocational schools are characterized by the overrepresentation of low-performing students from immigrant and native low-educated families (Azzolini & Barone, 2012).

Technical schools occupy an intermediate position between academic and vocational tracks. While offering training for specific occupations, they have a stronger focus on the transmission of general skills compared to vocational schools. Technical schools are attended by students with higher prior academic performance than vocational schools, and their graduates are significantly more likely to enrol in university programs and complete them (Ballarino & Panichella, 2016; Contini & Scagni, 2013). Largely, the curricula of both vocational and technical schools can be divided into two main clusters: industry- and service-oriented. The former typically prepares students for skilled, blue-collar occupations, while the latter is oriented towards catering and tourism, accounting, and other white-collar jobs.

Starting from 2007 education in Italy has become compulsory up to 16 years of age, however, the incidence of early school leaving (especially in the first year of the upper secondary level) remains relatively high compared to many other European countries. In accordance with the recent Eurostat estimates, 13% of the Italian population aged 18 to 24 have not obtained an upper-secondary diploma, including certificates from vocational training. Among the European Union countries, only Malta (16.7%), Spain (16%), and Romania (15.6%) exhibit higher rates of early school leavers (Eurostat, 2020). Boys are more likely than girls to drop out early and these gender differences are greater among the students whose parents did not attain an upper-secondary certificate themselves (Borgna & Struffolino, 2017). The gender effects are partially mediated by scholastic performance and are stronger among low-achieving students, which implies higher resilience of girls to academic failure.

6.3 Social-origin stratification and gender segregation in upper secondary school in Italy

Despite the educational expansion and the resulting reduction of inequality of educational opportunities in upper secondary school enrolment in Italy, social inequality is "effectively maintained" (Lucas, 2001) via the association between socioeconomic background and track choice that was found to be stronger than in other European countries (Checchi & Flabbi, 2013; Contini & Scagni, 2011). Several studies have shown that academic tracks are more likely to be attended by children from advantaged families, while technical and vocational schools are often attended by lower social class children who perceive it as a fast track to enter the labour market and get valuable job-specific skills (Panichella & Triventi, 2014; Gambetta, 1987; Guetto & Vergolini, 2017). Moreover, the impact of social origin on the choice of school track persists when controlling for previous scholastic achievement (Contini & Scagni, 2013). This stratification has further important implications, as it has been shown that the type of diploma obtained at the upper-secondary level strongly affects subsequent educational transitions and labour market outcomes (Cappellari, 2004). Although all three types of upper secondary schools provide access to the tertiary level of education since 1969, the proportion of students enrolled in university changes according to the track. Graduates from academic tracks have a higher probability of enrolling at university compared to those who attended technical and vocational schools (Ballarino & Panichella, 2014, 2015). In addition, the holders of academic diplomas enjoy greater chances of getting skilled jobs, better-paid occupations, and lower risks of being outside employment. These occupational advantages persist even when adjusting for tertiary educational attainment and when restricting analyses to individuals without a university degree (Barone et al., 2021).

With respect to gender differences, the evidence shows that females are less likely to enrol in vocational and technical schools (Pisati, 2002; Mocetti, 2012). Within the academic track, girls are underrepresented in scientific programs and overrepresented in foreign languages and socio-pedagogic curricula. Within technical and vocational tracks, girls are less likely to be enrolled in industry-oriented curricula and are more likely to follow service-oriented curricula (tourism, catering, accounting, etc.). At the university level, these upper-secondary school gendered patterns account for almost two-thirds of the differences between males and females in access to the humanities and social sciences, and almost one-third of the gender gap in engineering and computing fields enrolment (Barone & Assirelli, 2020). Further, this segregation brings less advantageous labor market prospects for women with respect to income, unemployment rates, and the risks of overeducation and skill mismatch, which are the outcomes found to be associated with humanities and the social sciences, as opposed to engineering and computing, medicine, and the other health-related fields (Assirelli, 2015; Barone & Ortiz, 2011; Davies & Guppy, 1997; Reimer et al., 2011).

7. Empirical strategy and expectations

In the first step of the analysis, sibling correlation on upper secondary school enrolment is quantified and its heterogeneity by family socio-economic background is analysed. Most of the existing studies using sibling correlations to analyse educational inequalities have concerned years of education attained (e.g., Björklund & Jäntti, 2012; Conley & Glauber, 2008; Sieben et al., 2001), for which the results range from 0.38 to 0.60. A recent study focusing on the probability of obtaining a university degree in Scotland found that about 40% of the variation in this outcome is related to siblings' shared family characteristics (Duta et al., 2021). Given that the effects of social background tend to diminish across educational transitions (Mare, 1980), it might be expected that sibling correlation in upper secondary school enrolment is at least not less than sibling correlation found with respect to years of education and probability of obtaining a university degree. The only study related to upper secondary school showed that 0.51 of the variation in upper track (Gymnasium) attendance in Germany at age 16-17 is explained by the family background (Grätz, 2018). Concerning the heterogeneity of sibling correlation by socioeconomic background, theoretical expectations point to greater similarity within advantaged families, although empirical evidence provides mixed results. Therefore, no specific hypothesis is formulated regarding the variation of sibling correlation in upper secondary school enrolment by parental education (used as an indicator of socioeconomic background).

Further, sibling similarity is measured with respect to the probabilities of enrolment in science/industry-oriented curricula within the three tracks, that is *liceo scientifico* and *liceo scientifico-technologico* within the academic track, industry-oriented curricula within the technical and vocational tracks (conditional on upper secondary school

enrolment). No previous studies on the choice of track or major applied the sibling correlation approach. However, since the decision regarding the track and the curricula is made at an early age (14 years), the influence of parents is expected to be substantial and not lower than the role of individual characteristics.

In the second step, within-family gender differences in the probability of upper secondary school enrolment, as well as in the choice of curricula are analysed. Previous empirical evidence based on between-family analysis shows that in Italy boys are more likely than girls to drop out early from school (Ballarino et al., 2011; Borgna & Struffolino, 2017). These gender differences might be related to performance results and behavioural factors. Girls tend to have higher grades than boys (Buchmann et al., 2008), and grades play an important role in students' educational transitions (Jackson, 2013; Stockè, 2007). Moreover, girls tend to be more self-disciplined, attentive, and interested in learning, whereas boys are more likely to display disruptive behaviors and less positive attitudes towards school (Buchmann et al., 2008). These differences might contribute to the female advantage through teacher's assessments and facilitation of the learning process.

With respect to the parental background, it is expected that gender differences in upper secondary school enrolment are particularly pronounced within disadvantaged families. Upper-class parents have more economic, cultural, and informational resources at their disposal to provide education-specific support to their offspring. In addition, they are closely involved in the study process of their children through constant conversations with them, as well as through structuring and monitoring their activities (Lareau, 2003). The lack of parental support in lower-class families might be particularly influential for boys, who are more likely to face both academic and relational difficulties at school.

No previous studies using the within-family approach have focused on the choice of major or school track. It is well-known that within the academic track, girls are less likely than boys to choose the scientific curriculum and are more likely to study foreign languages and socio-pedagogic programs. In technical and vocational tracks, females are underrepresented in industry-oriented curricula and are overrepresented in service-oriented curricula (tourism, catering, accounting, etc.). Since family influence is strong at the early stages of education, within-family gender differences might be lower (but not negligible) than between-family gender differences. Even if boys and girls belong to the

same family, inequalities in the choice of major or school track might persist as a result of socialization processes. Through daily interactions parents might implicitly reinforce society-wide gender norms and beliefs, affecting children's attitudes to mathematics (Good et al., 2012; Parker et al., 2014) and preferences about labour market and family involvements (Barone, 2011; Busch-Heizmann, 2015; DiPrete and Buchmann, 2013), making boys and girls take different educational and labour market paths (Jacobs, 1995).

Given that advantaged families are more likely to adhere to gender-egalitarian ideology (Thornton & Freedman, 1979; Thornton et. al., 1983) and do not face budget constraints in adopting compensating strategies, it is expected that gender differences in the probability of enrolment in the scientific curriculum rather than humanistic within the academic track are less pronounced in families where parents have tertiary education compared to the families with lower educated parents. Concerning the technical and vocational tracks, enrolment in these educational paths is highly unlikely for children from advantaged families and is associated with downward mobility. Therefore, the decision about the curriculum for upper-class families might be influenced more by an inclination to buffer already unsuccessful choices rather than by gender connotations (Prix & Kilpi-Jakonen, 2022). As a result, both girls and boys from families with highly educated parents might be less likely to choose industry-oriented curricula leading to blue-collar manual occupations and more likely to follow female-dominated paths linked to care and service occupations. For men and women from lower classes, vocational and technical tracks represent a way of maintaining their social origin positions, thus the choice between male- or female-dominated curricula from the point of view of social mobility might be less relevant. Given these considerations, it is expected that also in the case of technical and vocational tracks, gender differences in the probability of choosing a male-dominated (industry-oriented) curriculum are less pronounced within families with highly educated parents than within families with lower-educated parents.

Further, the analysis proceeds with the investigation of whether gender differences in educational outcomes vary by birth order. In accordance with the Matthew effect described by Merton (1968), one might expect the accumulation of disadvantage for laterborn boys in terms of upper secondary school attainment and for later-born girls in terms of the probability of enrolling in science/industry-oriented programs. In line with these predictions, two German studies found stronger birth order effects for boys in terms of

67

the probability of completing higher secondary education (Eschelbach, 2015) and years of education (Härkönen, 2014). On the contrary, other studies showed that the negative impact of birth order on educational attainment was more pronounced for women than for men (Black et al., 2005; Kristensen & Bjerkedal, 2010).

Birth order effects might also vary by parental background. Better-off families might adopt compensatory strategies by investing more resources in a child having fewer chances for success in education (Bernardi, 2012), that is, by providing more support to a later-born girl willing to enrol in a science/industry-oriented program or to a later-born boy during his studies at upper secondary school. Therefore, birth order effects might be weaker in these families compared to the disadvantaged ones. In accordance with these expectations, a study using German Socio-Economic Panel data and family fixed-effects models, revealed that the negative effects of higher birth order on educational attainment are reduced in socioeconomically advantaged families (Grätz, 2018). However, other studies found no heterogeneity in the impact of birth order by families' socioeconomic characteristics (Härkönen, 2014; Black et al., 2005).

In the final step, the interacted impact of one's birth order and sibling gender composition on educational outcomes of boys and girls is analysed. On the one hand, social learning theory suggests that individuals having siblings of the same gender are more likely to follow their example. On the other hand, some findings show no influence of sibling gender composition on the choice of track at the upper-secondary level (Anelli & Peri, 2015), which might be related to the fact that such a decision reflects more the influence of parents who want their children to study in the same school, independently of the gender of siblings, rather than the individual preferences of the students. Therefore, no specific expectations are formulated for this step of the analysis.

8. Data and methods

The analysis is based on the data from the Italian labour force survey 2005-2020. The analytical sample includes 11,443 households with two and three children aged 15-17 years. The total number of observations in the sibling sample is 23,022.

The first dependent variable, measured on the whole analytical sample, is a dummy coded one for children enrolled in upper secondary education (*scuola superiore di 4-5 anni*) and zero otherwise. The second group of dependent variables is measured on the

subsamples related to the three tracks (academic, technical, and vocational) conditional on upper secondary school enrolment: dummy coded one for those who attend scientific curriculum and zero for those who attend humanistic or artistic curricula within the academic track, dummy coded one for those who follow the industry-oriented curriculum and zero for those who follow service-oriented curriculum within the technical track, dummy coded one for being enrolled in industry-oriented curriculum and zero for being enrolled in the service-oriented curriculum within the technical track.

Sibling similarities in educational outcomes of interest are estimated through the intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) obtained from restricted maximum likelihood (REML) multilevel models (Björklund & Jäntti, 2012; Mazumder, 2008; Schnitzlein, 2014) in which individuals (i) are nested within the families (j):

$$Y_{ij} = X_{ij}\beta + \varepsilon_{ij}, (1)$$

where E_{ij} is the educational outcome of interest, X_{ij} is the gender control, and ε_{ij} is the error term that can be decomposed into family-specific (α_i) and individual-specific (δ_{ij}) components under the assumption that the covariance between these two parts is 0:

$$\varepsilon_{ij} = \alpha_i + \delta_{ij} (2)$$

The intraclass correlation coefficient obtained from this model is computed as follows:

$$ICC = \sigma^2_{\alpha} / (\sigma^2_{\alpha} + \sigma^2_{\delta}), (3)$$

where σ_{α}^2 is the variance between the families and σ_{δ}^2 is the variance within the families. ICC, thus, shows how much of the total variance $(\sigma_{\alpha}^2 + \sigma_{\delta}^2)$ is shared by the siblings.

The linear probability model in the case of this study is preferable to the logistic model, as it provides a non-parametric estimate of the ICC (Breen & Ermisch, 2021). To estimate the heterogeneity of sibling correlation on upper secondary school enrolment across socioeconomic backgrounds, the ICCs are computed on the subsamples restricted to the following groups of parental education operationalized using the dominance principle:

lower-secondary or less, upper secondary, tertiary. The multilevel models control only for gender.

It is important to note that since the response variables in this study are binary, the ICC estimates for different subsamples depend not only on the within-family variation but also on the mean probability of the outcome (Breen & Ermisch, 2021). Therefore, for a better understanding of the results, the following statistics are computed and reported: the proportion of families in which all siblings have the same outcome, the proportion of families where all siblings have the outcome equal to 1 among those where siblings have the same outcome.

Gender differences in educational outcomes within the families are estimated via linear probability models with family fixed-effects and cluster-robust standard errors, controlling for birth order. These models allow analysing educational inequalities within the families between males and females, controlling for the factors that remain constant within the sibling group, such as sibling group size, parental resources, as well as unobserved factors related to the family background, e.g., parenting styles. To estimate whether within-family gender effects differ by birth order, the models with interaction terms are applied. Furthermore, fixed-effects estimates are computed on the subsamples restricted to the groups of parental education in order to analyse their heterogeneity. Finally, together with the fixed-effects estimates, between-family estimates from linear probability models are reported based on the sample comprising also the households with one child of 15-17 years (232,044 observations). Linear probability models estimated on the larger sample control for birth order, parental education, number of children in the household, and the region of residence.

In the final step of the analysis the differential impact of sibling gender composition interacted with birth order on educational outcomes of boys and girls is estimated. For this purpose, a variable with nine categories based on all possible combinations of birth order (first-born, second-born, or third-born) and gender composition of all individual's siblings (all male, all female, mixed gender), including those siblings that are outside of the analytical sample (that is, the siblings of the age different from 15-17 years), is created and interacted with the gender of an individual. It is important to note that the gender of siblings has a well-documented effect on subsequent fertility and, therefore, on family size. Ben-Porath and Welch (1976) showed that 56 percent of families where the first two

children were of the same gender (two boys or two girls) decided to have a third child. In contrast, only 51 percent of families with one boy and one girl had a third child. This means that the number of children, as well as gender composition in families with three or more children, is endogenous. For this reason, a separate estimation of an interacted effect of birth order and sibling gender composition is made on a sample of families with only two children in total. In this case, the variable of interest has only four categories: first-born individual having a brother, second-born individual having a brother, first-born individual having a sister, and second-born individual having a sister.

9. Empirical evidence

9.1 Descriptive statistics

Table 2 shows descriptive statistics with respect to the main analytical sample. Female children are 4.8 p.p. more likely than male children to be enrolled in upper secondary school at the age of 15-17. Concerning family background, almost all children (96%) whose parents have tertiary education attend upper secondary school, while among those whose parents have only lower secondary education or less the share of upper secondary school attendees is 74.6%. Around half of the pupils (51.7%) attending upper secondary school are enrolled in the academic track, which is more likely to be chosen by girls rather than boys (63.8% as opposed to 39.6%). At the same time, boys are 19.4 p.p. and 4.8 p.p. more likely than girls to follow technical and vocational tracks respectively. The majority of advantaged students (84%) attend the academic track, while technical and vocational tracks are more likely to be chosen by children having lower-educated parents.

Within each track, strong gender segregation can be found, with boys being overrepresented in scientific programs of academic curricular and industrial, agricultural, and IT curricula of technical and vocational tracks, and girls being overrepresented in humanistic, artistic, and service-oriented programs. With regard to parental background, it can be noted that children whose parents have tertiary and upper secondary education are 18 p.p. and 11.8 p.p. respectively more likely to be enrolled in scientific programs than students with lower educated parents, and 17.4 p.p. and 5.7 p.p. respectively more likely to attend *liceo classico* compared to children from disadvantaged families. Within

technical and vocational tracks, segregation of the programs by parental background is very limited.

	By gender		By parental education							
	male	female	lower secondary or less	upper secondary	tertiary	Total				
1) Upper secondary school enrolment										
Enrolled	83.2	88.0	74.6	90.2	95.9	85.5				
Not enrolled	16.8	12.0	25.4	9.8	4.1	14.5				
N of observations	11,893	11,129	8,398	10,637	3,987	23,022				
2) Choice of track (conditional on upper secondary school enrolment)										
Academic	39.6	63.8	29.9	52.9	84.0	51.7				
Technical	40.6	21.2	40.8	32.1	11.9	30.9				
Vocational	19.8	15.1	29.3	15.0	4.1	17.4				
N of observations	9,851	9,755	6,223	9,567	3,816	19,606				
3) Choice of the curriculum within each track										
3.1) Academic track										
Scientific curriculum	68.5	35.9	36.9	48.7	54.9	48.5				
Liceo classico	13.3	18.4	8.1	13.8	25.5	16.4				
Other humanistic and artistic curricula	18.2	45.8	55.1	37.6	19.7	35.1				
N of observations	3,904	6,224	1,862	5,060	3,206	10,128				
3.2) Technical track										
Industrial, agricultural, IT and other male-dominated curricula	66.9	21.1	49.4	51.8	56.8	51.1				
Service-oriented curricula (e.g., tourism, social services, commerce)	33.1	79.0	50.6	48.2	43.2	48.9				
N of observations	3,071	1,620	2,066	2,310	315	4,691				
3.3) Vocational track										
Industrial, agricultural, IT and other male-dominated curricula	43.3	13.6	31.0	30.6	34.1	31.0				
Service-oriented curricula (e.g., tourism, social services, commerce)	56.8	86.4	69.0	69.4	65.9	69.0				
N of observations	1,223	866	1,170	831	88	2,089				

Table 2 - Descriptive statistics, column percentages.
Additional descriptive statistics with respect to the main analytical sample (comprising households with 2-3 children of 15-17 years) and a larger sample used for between-family analysis (comprising households with 1-3 children of 15-17 years) are shown in table 3.

Variable	Sample for within-family	Sample for between-	
Vallable	sample)	family analysis	
Gender	sumpro)		
Male	51.7	51.9	
Female	48.3	48.1	
Age	10.5	10.11	
15 years	37.4	33.1	
16 years	24.4	33.2	
17 years	38.2	33.7	
Birth order			
First-born	41.9	57.9	
Second-born	49.7	36.9	
Third-born	8.4	5.2	
Parental education			
Lower secondary or lower	36.5	35.9	
Upper secondary	46.2	49.2	
Tertiary	17.3	14.9	
Total number of children in a family			
1	0.0	21.0	
2	58.1	59.7	
3	41.9	19.4	
Number of children of 15-17 years in a family			
1	-	90.1	
2	98.0	9.7	
3	2.0	0.2	
Siblings' gender composition (excluding an index person)			
All-female	37.7	33.1	
All male	41.6	36.4	
Mixed gender	20.7	9.5	
Only child	-	21.0	
Birth order and siblings' gender composition (excluding an index person)			
First-born all-female siblings	16.7	16.1	
Second-born all-female siblings	18.9	15.7	
Third-born all-female siblings	2.2	13	
First-born all-male siblings	18.7	17 3	
Second-born all-male siblings	20.3	17.5	
Third-born, all-male siblings	2.6	1.7	
First-born, mixed-gender siblings	6.6	3.6	

Table 3 - Additional descriptive statistics, column percentages.

Variable	Sample for within-family analysis (main analytical sample)	Sample for between- family analysis
Second-born, mixed-gender		
siblings	10.5	3.7
Third-born, mixed-gender siblings	3.65	2.3
Only child	-	21.0
Number of observations	23,022	232,044

9.2 Sibling correlations: results from multilevel models

The first row of Table 4 shows the intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) obtained from restricted maximum likelihood (REML) multilevel models which represent sibling correlation on upper secondary school enrolment and its heterogeneity by parental education. Since the outcome of interest is binary, the ICC estimates for different subsamples depend not only on the within-family variation but also on the mean probability of the outcome (Breen & Ermisch, 2021). Therefore, for the purpose of comparative analysis, the following rows of Table 4 provide additional statistics, such as family-level variance, individual-level variance, the proportion of the families in which children have the same outcome, and the proportion of enrolled siblings among those who have the same outcome.

The ICC on upper secondary school enrolment indicates that 49% of the variation in the probability of this outcome is attributed to the family background. This result is in line with the sibling correlations on years of education reported in previous studies that range from 0.4 to 0.6. In addition, as expected, it is not less than the sibling correlation on the probability of obtaining a university degree - 40% for Scotland (Duta et al., 2021). While sibling similarity among the children whose parents have lower levels of education is close to the overall estimate of ICC, sibling correlations for the families where parents have upper secondary and tertiary education are lower: 0.42 and 0.32, respectively. The reason for this difference becomes clear if one compares the additional statistics reported in the table. The proportions of the siblings with the same outcome among the families with upper secondary and tertiary educated parents are very high, 90% and 95%, respectively.

	Unner secondary	Upper-secondary school enrolment, by parental education			
Statistic	school enrolment	Lower secondary or less	Upper secondary	Tertiary	
ICC	0.49 (0.007)	0.50 (0.012)	0.42 (0.011)	0.32 (0.020)	
Level 1 (family) variance	0.061 (0.001)	0.094 (0.003)	0.037 (0.001)	0.012 (0.001)	
Level 2 (individual) variance	0.063 (0.001)	0.094 (0.002)	0.051 (0.001)	0.026 (0.001)	
The proportion of families in which children have the same outcome	0.87	0.81	0.90	0.95	
The proportion of enrolled siblings among those who have the same outcome	0.91	0.80	0.95	0.99	
Number of observations	23,022	8,398	10,637	3,987	

 Table 4 - Sibling correlation on upper secondary school enrolment and its heterogeneity by parental education (standard errors in parenthesis).

Moreover, almost all of the siblings with the same outcome are both enrolled in upper secondary education: 95% among the families with upper secondary educated parents and 99% among the families with tertiary-educated parents. This means that there is very little variation in the probability of upper secondary school enrolment at the family level for these two groups. Indeed, the estimates of level 1 variance attributed to the family background are less than the estimate of level 2 variance attributed to an individual. Whereas in the case of the families with lower educated parents, the percentage of siblings among those who have the same outcome is less (81%), and both individual- and family-level variance is higher compared to the families with upper secondary and tertiary educated parents.

	Scientific curriculum	Industry-oriented	Industry-oriented
	within the academic	curriculum within	curriculum within the
	track	the technical track	vocational track
ICC	0.33	0.47	0.54
	(0.015)	(0.022)	(0.033)
Level 1 (family) variance	0.073	0.095	0.103
	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.008)
Level 2 (individual) variance	0.151	0.107	0.089
	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.006)
The proportion of families in which children have the same outcome	0.64	0.58	0.73
The proportion of enrolled siblings among those who have the same outcome	0.39	0.28	0.11
Number of observations	10,128	4,691	2,089

 Table 5 - Sibling correlations on the choice of science/industry-oriented curricula within the three tracks, conditional on upper secondary school enrolment (standard errors in parenthesis).

Table 5 reports sibling correlations on the choice of science/industry-oriented curricula within the three tracks, conditional on upper secondary school enrolment. The role of family background in the choice of a science/industry-oriented curriculum is the lowest in the case of those who attend the academic track. 33% of the variation in the probability of choosing the scientific orientation rather than humanistic or artistic within the academic track is attributed to the family, while in the case of the technical and vocational tracks the family-level variation constitutes 47% and 54% of the total variation respectively in the probability of being enrolled in the male-dominated (or industryoriented) curriculum rather than female-dominated (or service-oriented) curriculum. This means that in the case of the curriculum choice within the academic track, there is more variation within the families due to the individual characteristics than between the families. Indeed, the individual-level variance is twice larger than the family-level variance. At the same time, with respect to this track, the proportion of both siblings enrolled in a science-oriented curriculum among the siblings with the same outcome is 39%, while in the case of technical and vocational tracks, these proportions are 28% and 11% respectively. Therefore, there is more sibling similarity in the case of the curriculum choice within the technical track than the academic track, but this similarity is based on a

greater proportion of families where both siblings are not enrolled in science/industryoriented programs.

Table 6 reports the results from multilevel models on the choice of science/industryoriented programs within each track, estimated separately for the three groups of individuals defined by parental education. The results show greater heterogeneity within the technical and vocational tracks rather than within the academic track. In case of the enrolment in industry-oriented programs of the technical track, relatively higher SCs are revealed for children having tertiary-educated parents (0.63). For this group, the weight of the family background (0.132) is greater compared to the role of individual characteristics (0.079). This result might be related to the fact that science/technical paths within the technical tack include not only programs linked to blue-collar occupations but also programs for preparing surveyors (geometra) or information technology specialists (informatica), which might be considered attractive paths for the children from better-off families choosing the technical track. Furthermore, it is interesting to note that within the academic track, the weight of the family background on the choice of science-oriented curriculum seems to be similar for the least and the most advantaged families (0,34 and 0,35 respectively). However, the nature of these estimates is different. While in the case of the families with tertiary-educated parents, the majority of sibling groups (54%) are similar on the positive outcome (enrolment in science curriculum), most sibling groups among disadvantaged families (100-19%=81%) are similar on the negative outcome of not being enrolled in science-oriented programs.

Statistic	Science curriculum within the academic track		Industry-dominated curriculum within the technical track			Industry-dominated curriculum within the vocational track			
Statistic	lower secondary or less	upper secondary	tertiary	lower secondary or less	upper secondary	tertiary	lower secondary or less	upper secondary	tertiary
ICC	0.35 (0.037)	0.30 (0.022)	0.34 (0.023)	0.52 (0.031)	0.41 (0.035)	0.63 (0.070)	0.57 (0.040)	0.52 (0.059)	0.45 (0.205)
Level 1 (family) variance	0.076 (0.009)	0.066 (0.005)	0.078 (0.006)	0.103 (0.008)	0.083 (0.008)	0.132 (0.021)	0.110 (0.010)	0.100 (0.014)	0.085 (0.043)
Level 2 (individual) variance	0.138 (0.003)	0.157 (0.005)	0.149 (0.005)	0.096 (0.006)	0.122 (0.007)	0.079 (0.014)	0.083 (0.007)	0.094 (0.011)	0.103 (0.038)
The proportion of families in which children have the same outcome	0.68	0.63	0.65	0.63	0.55	0.54	0.73	0.74	0.69
The proportion of enrolled siblings among those who have the same outcome	0.19	0.36	0.54	0.30	0.25	0.28	0.11	0.11	0.13
Number of observations	1,862	5,060	3,206	2,066	2,310	315	1,170	831	88

Table 6 - Sibling correlations on the choice of science/industry-oriented curricula within the three tracks by parental education, conditional on upper secondary school enrolment (standard errors in parenthesis).

9.3 Results from within- and between-family models

Sibling correlations are useful to understand the overall impact of the family background, although they do not provide information on the inequalities that arise within the families due to the differences in individual characteristics of the siblings, such as gender. Therefore, in the next step of the analysis, family fixed-effects models are estimated with respect to the educational outcomes of interest (Tab.7 and Tab.8)¹.

	1		1	
	Within-fam	ily estimates	Between-fam	ily estimates
	Beta coefficient for gender (ref. male)	Number of observations	Beta coefficient for gender (ref. male)	Number of observations
Upper secondary school enrolment	0.04*** (0.03 - 0.05)	23,022	0.04*** (0.036 - 0.041)	231,960
By parental education				
Lower secondary or less	0.05*** (0.03 - 0.07)	8,398	0.06*** (0.06 - 0.07)	83,290
Upper secondary school	0.04*** (0.03 - 0.05)	10,637	0.03*** (0.026 - 0.032)	114,234
Tertiary	0.01 (-0.005 - 0.02)	3,987	0.01*** (0.007 - 0.015)	34,436

 Table 7 - Upper secondary school enrolment: results from the family fixed-effects models and between-family estimates.

Robust confidence intervals in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Table 6 shows that girls are 4 percentage points (p.p.) more likely to be enrolled in upper secondary school than boys when all the common family-related factors are accounted for. Moreover, the gender differences are only pronounced within the families where parents have upper secondary or lower education, while in the families with tertiary-educated parents, these differences are non-existent, which is in line with the statistics reported on the sibling correlations. These results support the expectation of a greater vulnerability of boys compared to girls to socioeconomic disadvantages. The estimates obtained from family fixed-effects models do not differ substantially from between-family estimates computed on the sample including the households with 1-3 children of 15-17 years.

¹ Full tables (A1-A8) are provided in the Appendix to Chapter 2.

	Within-family estimates		Between-fam	nily estimates
	Beta coefficient for gender (ref. male)	Number of observations	Beta coefficient for gender (ref. male)	Number of observations
Enrolment in scientific curriculum within the academic track	-0.29*** (-0.320.26)	10,128	-0.31*** (-0.320.31)	103,400
By parental education				
Lower secondary or less	-0.38*** (-0.480.29)	1,862	-0.32*** (-0.340.31)	20,614
Upper secondary school	-0.25*** (-0.290.20)	5,060	-0.33*** (-0.340.32)	55,426
Tertiary	-0.32*** (-0.370.28)	3,206	-0.27*** (-0.280.26)	27,360
Enrolment in industry- oriented curricula within the technical track	-0.43*** (-0.480.38)	4,691	-0.45*** (-0.4610.445)	49,831
By parental education				
Lower secondary or less	-0.34*** (-0.410.28)	2,066	-0.46*** (-0.470.45)	20,522
Upper secondary school	-0.52*** (-0.610.44)	2,310	-0.45*** (-0.460.44)	26,289
Tertiary	-0.41*** (-0.610.21)	315	-0.38*** (-0.410.34)	3,020
Enrolment in industry- oriented curricula within the vocational track	-0.28*** (-0.380.19)	2,089	-0.32*** (-0.330.31)	20,217
By parental education				
Lower secondary or less	-0.33*** (-0.450.21)	1,170	-0.33*** (-0.340.31)	11,343
Upper secondary school	-0.20** (-0.350.41)	831	-0.31*** (-0.330.29)	8,242
Tertiary	-0.63*** (-1.050.21)	88	-0.30*** (-0.370.24)	632

 Table 8 - Enrolment in science/industry-oriented curricula within the three tracks: results from the family fixed effects models and between-family estimates.

Robust confidence intervals in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

The estimates of the probabilities of attending science/industry-oriented curricula within the three tracks obtained from the family fixed-effects models show that female disadvantage is more strongly pronounced within the technical track than within the

academic or vocational tracks (Tab. 8). Girls are 43 p.p. less likely than boys belonging to the same family to follow the industry-oriented curricula rather than services-oriented programs within the technical track, while in the case of the academic and vocational track the within-family female disadvantage is 29 p.p. and 28 p.p. respectively. Therefore, even if boys and girls share the same family background, their choices with respect to the curriculum differ significantly. It should also be noted that no substantial differences in the estimates on the choice of curricula are found between family fixed-effects models and linear probability models without fixed effects computed on the larger sample.

The gender divergence in the choice of the curriculum within the family might arise due to the differential treatment of parents and significant others who encourage girls and boys to follow different educational tracks and fields. Such influence partly reflects social control mechanisms operating through the gender-biased perception of the "natural" inclinations and preferences of students (Frank et al., 2008; Gabay-Egozi et al., 2015). It was found that expressive motivations related to preferences for school subjects and specific occupations mediate to a significant extent gender segregation in higher education (Barone & Assirelli, 2020). It is possible that these expressive preferences also have an impact on the earlier choice of the curriculum within the upper secondary track. Unfortunately, the data used in this study does not include information on parenting styles, teacher influences, and the students' individual preferences, which does not allow for conducting a more detailed analysis.

With respect to the heterogeneity of estimates by parental education, the expectations of smaller gender discrepancies (although of a very limited magnitude) within advantaged families in the choice of curricula are confirmed only for the academic track. In the case of the technical and vocational tracks, female disadvantage in being enrolled in industryoriented curricula is relatively lower within families with lower-educated parents than within families where parents are tertiary educated. However, it was expected that both girls and boys in advantaged families would avoid applying for industry-oriented programs leading mainly to manual blue-collar occupations and would prefer serviceoriented paths in order to buffer already unsuccessful school choices, while for lowerclass families the choice of the curricula within the technical track would be less relevant. This discrepancy between the expectations and empirical findings might be related to the fact that industry-oriented curricula in technical institutions also include programs for preparing surveyors (*geometra*), business experts (*periti d'azienda*), IT specialists (*informatica*), and vocational schools include curricula for preparing programmers (*programmatori*), which could be considered promising options for the boys from better-off families.

Figures A1, A2, and A3 in the Appendix show the average predictions obtained from the family fixed-effects models with interaction terms between gender and birth order, as well as their heterogeneity by parental background. In terms of all the outcomes of interest, the interaction between gender and birth order is not statistically significant and the effect has a very limited (almost negligible) magnitude. These results hold also when the heterogeneity by parental education is estimated. Therefore, the impact of gender on upper secondary school enrolment and the choice of an industry-oriented program is unlikely to vary by birth order.

It might be that educational outcomes depend on the gender composition of the siblings and relative standing of a child in this constellation, rather than on a child's gender and birth order. To test this assumption, the interacted impact of birth order and siblings' gender composition on the educational outcomes of boys and girls was estimated. For this purpose, a variable with nine categories based on all possible combinations of birth order (first-born, second-born, or third-born) and gender composition of all individual's siblings (all male, all female, mixed gender), including those siblings that are outside of the analytical sample, was generated.

Within-family analysis with respect to all the outcomes produced no significant results. Between-family estimates² (Fig. 3) showed that being raised among older female siblings gave an advantage of a higher probability of upper secondary school enrolment for thirdborn girls and third-born boys (although of a limited magnitude). This suggests that, to some extent, girls might provide a positive example for their younger siblings. In addition, third-born girls having only sisters and third-born boys having only brothers were, to some extent, more likely to be enrolled in science programs of the academic track compared to the other categories for the same gender (Fig. 4). This result might point to a social learning theory claiming that a child is more likely to follow the example of his/her siblings if they are of the same gender.

² See the full table (Tab. A9) in the Appendix to Chapter 2



Figure 3 - Between-family estimates of the interacted impact of an individual's birth order and his/her siblings' gender composition on upper secondary school enrolment.



Figure 4 - Between-family estimates of the interacted impact of an individual's birth order and his/her siblings' gender composition on enrolment in science programs of the academic track.



Figure 5 - Between-family estimates of the interacted impact of an individual's birth order and his/her siblings' gender composition on enrolment in industry-oriented programs of the technical track.



Figure 6 - Between-family estimates of the interacted impact of an individual's birth order and his/her siblings' gender composition on enrolment in industry-oriented programs of the vocational track.

With respect to the technical and vocational tracks, the results did not reveal any substantial and statistically significant differences in the effects of various combinations of sibling gender composition and birth order neither for boys nor for girls (Fig. 5 and Fig. 6). Overall, the limited magnitude of the interacted impact of the birth order and siblings' gender composition suggests that the choice of the curriculum is probably a result of individual preferences or parental decisions rather than the influence of siblings.

An additional between-family analysis on a sample of families with only two children did not show any critical discrepancies with the above-mentioned results. Future studies might further explore the issue of within-family differences in the impact of birth order and siblings' gender composition using, for instance, administrative data with a large set of observations and detailed information on educational outcomes, including cognitive ability.

10. Conclusions

Educational inequalities are one of the most persistent social problems of modern societies that have received extensive attention in social science research. Despite the dramatic educational expansion during the 20th century, inequality IEOs have not disappeared completely, and family background still represents an important predicting factor for individual attainments (Bukodi and Goldthorpe, 2013; Marzadro and Schizzerotto, 2014). The persistence of IEO induced greater attention of scholars to the qualitative dimension of education, such as the placement of students into different curricula or tracks in secondary education. It was shown that children of advantaged backgrounds are more likely to enrol in academic tracks, while children of lower social origins are more likely to follow vocational tracks (Breen and Jonsson, 2000; Gamoran and Mare, 1989; Lucas, 1999, 2001). The analysis of the horizontal dimension of educational inequalities is also important due to its link to future gender inequalities in the labour market. Within the academic track, girls are underrepresented in the scientific curriculum and overrepresented in the foreign languages and socio-pedagogic curricula. In technical and vocational tracks, females are less likely than males to attend industryoriented curricula and are more likely than males to be enrolled in service-oriented curricula (tourism, catering, accounting, etc.). These gendered patterns account for almost two-thirds of gender differences in access to the humanities and social sciences, and almost one-third of the gender gap in engineering and computing at the university level (Barone & Assirelli, 2020). This results in less favourable labour market prospects for women in terms of unemployment rates, earnings, and the risks of overeducation and skill mismatch, which are the outcomes found to be associated with humanities and the social sciences (Assirelli 2015; Barone & Ortiz 2011; Davies & Guppy 1997; Reimer et al. 2011).

The most popular way of studying educational inequalities is the intergenerational mobility approach implying the analysis of differences in educational outcomes between individuals coming from different families. An alternative approach is sibling correlation defined as the fraction of total inequality (measured as the variance) attributed to the factors shared by the children belonging to the same family. The key advantage of this method, compared to the intergenerational mobility approach, is that it provides a comprehensive measure of the importance of family background and community effects (Björklund & Jäntti, 2020), including the unobserved factors. The studies using the sibling correlation approach show that around half of the variation in educational outcomes is explained by the family background, which implies that another half of the variation arises within the families, due to the individual differences between siblings (Grätz, 2018). Therefore, the research on educational inequalities should not only focus on between-family analysis but also be supplemented by within-family analysis using family fixed-effects models. This method allows measuring the impact of child-specific factors (gender, birth order, maternal age, etc.) on within-family differences in educational outcomes, controlling for unobserved confounding variables, which are constant between siblings at the family level and in the environment.

This study provided between- and within-family analysis of educational inequalities in upper secondary education in Italy, which allowed estimating the fraction of variation in educational outcomes attributed to the family background and the gender differences in the outcomes holding constant all the common family-related factors (both observed and unobserved). The main results can be summarised in five points. First, the sibling correlations on educational outcomes related to upper secondary school in Italy were found to be in line with the results of the previous studies that analysed sibling similarity in years of education in other countries. Almost half (49%) of the variation in the probability of attending upper secondary school was attributed to the family background.

Second, the study demonstrated that the comparison of sibling correlations on binary outcomes might be misleading and problematic and should be complemented by the analysis of additional statistics (Breen & Ermisch, 2021). For instance, a simple comparison of ICCs on upper secondary school enrolment by parental education showed that there is less sibling similarity within families where parents are tertiary educated than within families where parents have less education, which might have seemed to provide

support for the theories of parental reinforcement. However, this result was driven by the fact that in the case of advantaged families, there was very little variation both at the individual level and at the family level since almost all sibling groups had the same outcome of being enrolled in upper secondary school. Sibling correlation on the attendance of science-oriented curriculum within the academic track was found to be lower than for the other two tracks due to the greater importance of individual characteristics as opposed to the family background. At the same time, the proportion of sibling groups with the same outcome of being enrolled in male-dominated programs for this track was higher than for the other two tracks, especially the vocational track, where there was more similarity in the negative outcome.

Third, as expected, family fixed-effects models showed that within better-off families gender differences in attending upper secondary school are non-existent, while they are particularly strong when parents have low levels of education, which confirmed the greater vulnerability of boys compared to girls to the social-origin disadvantage. At the same time, girls were found to be less likely than boys to attend the programs which in the future lead to better labour market prospects, and this disadvantage was particularly large within the technical track. This result indicates that gender inequalities in the choice of more prospective majors exist even if girls and boys are brought up within the same family, suggesting that the differences might arise due to the diverse treatment of parents, teachers, and significant others toward boys and girls, or due to the expressive motivations of male and females related to preferences for certain school subjects and specific occupations (Barone & Assirelli, 2020). Future research might attempt to estimate these factors, their importance, and implications for further educational outcomes. Unfortunately, the data used in this study did not offer information on these aspects of family background and individual preferences.

Fourth, between-family estimates confirmed the expectations of smaller gender discrepancies (although of a very limited magnitude) in the choice of science/industryoriented curricula within all the tracks among advantaged families compared to other socioeconomic groups. At the same time, the within-family estimates for the technical and vocational tracks showed that the female disadvantage in being enrolled in industryoriented curricula was relatively lower in families with lower-educated parents than within families with highly-educated parents. This might be related to the fact that industry-oriented curricula within the technical and vocational tracks include not only programs linked to blue-collar occupations but also programs for preparing surveyors *(geometra)*, business experts *(periti d'azienda)*, informatics specialists *(informatica)* (technical track), as well as programmers *(programmatori)* (vocational track) which might be considered as somewhat promising options for the boys from better-off families.

Finally, the study found no substantial and statistically significant impact of birth order interacted with gender on educational outcomes and no significant heterogeneity of this effect by parental education. With respect to the impact of birth order interacted with gender and siblings' gender composition, between-family models showed that being raised among older female siblings gave an advantage of a higher probability of upper secondary school enrolment for third-born girls and third-born boys (although of a limited magnitude). In addition, third-born girls having only sisters and third-born boys having only brothers were, to some extent, more likely to be enrolled in science programs of the academic track compared to the other categories for the same gender. With respect to the technical and vocational tracks, the results did not reveal any substantial and statistically significant differences in the effects of various combinations of sibling gender composition and birth order neither for boys nor for girls. Overall, the limited magnitude of the combined impact of the birth order and siblings' gender composition suggests that the choice of the curriculum is probably a result of individual preferences or parental decisions rather than the influence of siblings.

Overall, this study shed light on how interrelated mechanisms involving family background, individual characteristics, and contextual factors shape intergenerational educational outcomes in track choices among Italian students. The findings demonstrate that the weight of family background, as well as within-family gender differences, vary depending on the track considered and that there is heterogeneity within the traditional academic, technical, and vocational tracks. Thus, the study highlights the importance of considering other dimensions of horizontal stratification in future research, such as the distinction among schools with different teaching programmes, e. g., science- and industry-oriented schools. While previous research has primarily focused on the hierarchy among academic, technical, and vocational tracks (e.g., Panichella & Triventi, 2014), the expansion of upper secondary education in Western Europe – where participation at this level has become nearly universal – emphasizes the importance of new and unexplored

dimensions of horizontal stratification. Moreover, the focus on such dimensions is relevant due to their implications for gender labour market outcomes.

The main limitation of this study is that it did not account for the cognitive skills due to the absence of relative information in the dataset. Future studies might further explore the issue of within-family gender differences in educational outcomes, using, for instance, administrative data with a large set of observations and detailed information on educational outcomes, including cognitive ability.

Appendix

		By parental education			
VARIABLES	Total sample	Lower secondary or less	Upper secondary	Tertiary	
Gender (ref. Male)					
Female	0.04***	0.05***	0.04***	0.01	
	(0.03 - 0.05)	(0.03 - 0.07)	(0.03 - 0.05)	(-0.01 - 0.02)	
Birth order (ref. First-born)					
Second-born	-0.02***	-0.02**	-0.02***	-0.01**	
	(-0.020.01)	(-0.030.00)	(-0.030.01)	(-0.020.00)	
Third-born or higher order	-0.02**	-0.02	-0.02	0.00	
-	(-0.030.00)	(-0.05 - 0.01)	(-0.04 - 0.01)	(-0.03 - 0.04)	
Constant	0.85***	0.73***	0.89***	0.96***	
	(0.84 - 0.85)	(0.72 - 0.75)	(0.88 - 0.90)	(0.95 - 0.97)	
Observations	23,022	8,398	10,637	3,987	
Number of households	11,443	4,182	5,279	1,982	

Table A1 – Upper secondary school enrolment. Results from family fixed effects models.

Table A2 - Enrolment in science-oriented curriculum within the academic track. Results from family fixed effects models.

		By parental education			
VARIABLES	Total sample	Lower secondary or less	Upper secondary	Tertiary	
Gender (ref. Male)					
Female	-0.29***	-0.38***	-0.25***	-0.32***	
	(-0.320.26)	(-0.480.29)	(-0.290.20)	(-0.370.28)	
Birth order (ref. First-born)					
Second-born	0.01	-0.02	-0.00	0.03*	
	(-0.01 - 0.03)	(-0.07 - 0.03)	(-0.03 - 0.03)	(-0.00 - 0.06)	
Third-born or higher order	-0.02	-0.09	-0.06	0.05	
	(-0.08 - 0.03)	(-0.21 - 0.04)	(-0.14 - 0.01)	(-0.04 - 0.13)	
Constant	0.66***	0.66***	0.65***	0.70***	
	(0.64 - 0.68)	(0.58 - 0.74)	(0.62 - 0.68)	(0.68 - 0.73)	
Observations	10,128	1,862	5,060	3,206	
Number of households	6,522	1,378	3,371	1,773	
Robust confidence intervals in					

parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

		By parental education			
VARIABLES	Total sample	Lower secondary or less	Upper secondary	Tertiary	
Gender (ref. Male)					
Female	-0.43***	-0.34***	-0.52***	-0.41***	
	(-0.480.38)	(-0.410.28)	(-0.610.44)	(-0.610.21)	
Birth order (ref. First-born)					
Second-born	-0.02	-0.01	-0.01	-0.10*	
	(-0.05 - 0.02)	(-0.05 - 0.03)	(-0.06 - 0.04)	(-0.22 - 0.01)	
Third-born or higher order	0.02	0.07*	0.01	-0.10	
	(-0.04 - 0.08)	(-0.01 - 0.16)	(-0.09 - 0.11)	(-0.30 - 0.09)	
Constant	0.67***	0.62***	0.69***	0.75***	
	(0.64 - 0.69)	(0.58 - 0.66)	(0.66 - 0.73)	(0.66 - 0.85)	
Observations	4,691	2,066	2,310	315	
Number of households	3,574	1,527	1,795	252	

Table A3 - Enrolment in industry-oriented curriculum within the technical track. Results from family fixed effects models.

parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

		By parental education			
VARIABLES	Total sample	Lower secondary or less	Upper secondary	Tertiary	
Gender (ref. Male)					
Female	-0.28***	-0.33***	-0.20**	-0.63***	
	(-0.380.19)	(-0.450.21)	(-0.350.04)	(-1.050.21)	
Birth order (ref. First-born)					
Second-born	0.00	-0.00	-0.02	0.01	
	(-0.05 - 0.05)	(-0.07 - 0.07)	(-0.09 - 0.04)	(-0.29 - 0.31)	
Third-born or higher order	0.12**	0.04	0.36**	0.20	
-	(0.02 - 0.23)	(-0.05 - 0.13)	(0.08 - 0.64)	(-0.29 - 0.68)	
Constant	0.41***	0.44***	0.37***	0.49***	
	(0.36 - 0.47)	(0.37 - 0.51)	(0.28 - 0.46)	(0.27 - 0.71)	
Observations	2,089	1,170	831	88	
Number of households	1 703	929	698	76	

Table A4 - Enrolment in industry-oriented curriculum within the vocational track. Results from family fixed effects models.

parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

		By	y parental educati	on
VARIABLES	Total sample	Lower secondary or less	Upper secondary	Tertiary
Gender (ref. Male)				
Female	0.04***	0.06***	0.03***	0.01***
	(0.04 - 0.04)	(0.06 - 0.07)	(0.03 - 0.03)	(0.01 - 0.01)
Birth order (ref. Single child)				
First-born	0.05***	0.08***	0.03***	0.01
	(0.04 - 0.06)	(0.07 - 0.09)	(0.03 - 0.04)	(-0.00 - 0.01)
Second-born	0.04***	0.06***	0.02***	0.00
	(0.03 - 0.04)	(0.05 - 0.07)	(0.01 - 0.03)	(-0.01 - 0.01)
Third-born	0.06***	0.10***	0.03***	0.01
	(0.04 - 0.07)	(0.08 - 0.12)	(0.01 - 0.04)	(-0.01 - 0.02)
Number of children in a family	-0.04***	-0.07***	-0.02***	-0.00
runnoer of enharen in a fanning	(-0.050.04)	(-0.080.06)	(-0.030.02)	(-0.01 - 0.00)
Parental education (ref	(-0.050.04)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.030.02)	(-0.01 - 0.00)
Lower secondary or less)				
Upper secondary	0.15***	_	_	-
Spper Secondary	(0.14 - 0.15)			
Tertiary	0 20***	_	_	_
i ortiury	(0.19 - 0.20)			
Constant	0.77***	0 79***	0 01***	0 95***
Constant	(0.76 0.79)	(0.77 - 0.80)	$(0.00 \ 0.02)$	(0.93)
	(0.70 - 0.78)	(0.77 - 0.80)	(0.90 - 0.92)	(0.94 - 0.97)
Observations	231 960	83 290	114 234	34 436
		,_,,	,=0.	0.,.00

Table A5 – Upper secondary school enrolment. Results from between-family models.

Robust confidence intervals in

parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1Note: The models also control for the region of residence

		By	v parental education	
VARIABLES	Total sample	Lower Upper secondary or secondary less		Tertiary
Gender (ref. Male)				
Female	-0.31***	-0.32***	-0.33***	-0.27***
	(-0.320.31)	(-0.340.31)	(-0.340.32)	(-0.280.26)
Birth order (ref. Single child)				
First-born	0.06***	0.04***	0.07***	0.06***
	(0.05 - 0.07)	(0.01 - 0.07)	(0.05 - 0.09)	(0.03 - 0.08)
Second-born	0.06***	0.02	0.06***	0.08***
	(0.04 - 0.07)	(-0.01 - 0.05)	(0.04 - 0.08)	(0.05 - 0.11)
Third-born	0.08***	0.04	0.09***	0.09***
	(0.06 - 0.10)	(-0.01 - 0.08)	(0.06 - 0.13)	(0.05 - 0.14)
Number of children in a family	-0.03***	-0.03***	-0.04***	-0.03***
(-0.040.03)		(-0.040.01)	(-0.060.03)	(-0.040.01)
Parental education (ref.	(0.01 0.03)	(0.01 0.01)	(0.00 0.00)	(0.01 0.01)
Unper secondary	0 09***	-	_	_
opper secondary	(0.08 - 0.10)			
Tertiary	0.12***	_	_	_
1 of that y	(0.12)	-	_	-
Constant	0.64***	0 65***	0 76***	0 70***
Constant	(0.62 - 0.65)	(0.61 - 0.68)	(0.74 - 0.78)	(0.67 - 0.73)
Observations	103,400	20,614	55,426	27,360

Table A6 - Enrolment in science-oriented curriculum within the academic track. Results from between-family models.

Robust confidence intervals in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 Note: The models also control for the region of residence

		By parental education		
VARIABLES	Total sample	Lower secondary or less	Upper secondary	Tertiary
Gender (ref. Male)				
Female	-0 45***	-0 46***	-0 45***	-0 38***
	(-0.460.45)	(-0.470.45)	(-0.460.44)	(-0.410.34)
Birth order (ref. Single child)	(0110 0110)	(011, 0110)	(0110 0111)	(0
First-born	0.02*	0.02	0.00	0.11***
	(-0.00 - 0.03)	(-0.01 - 0.04)	(-0.02 - 0.03)	(0.03 - 0.18)
Second-born	-0.01	0.01	-0.04***	0.07*
	(-0.03 - 0.01)	(-0.02 - 0.04)	(-0.060.01)	(-0.00 - 0.15)
Third-born	-0.03	-0.02	-0.04*	0.11*
	(-0.06 - 0.01)	(-0.06 - 0.03)	(-0.09 - 0.00)	(-0.02 - 0.24)
Number of children in a family	0.00	-0.01	0.02*	-0.04
	(-0.01 - 0.02)	(-0.02 - 0.01)	(-0.00 - 0.03)	(-0.09 - 0.01)
Parental education (ref.				
Lower secondary or less)				
Upper secondary	-0.03***	-	-	-
	(-0.040.02)			
Tertiary	-0.04***	-	-	-
	(-0.060.02)			
Constant	0.77***	0.78***	0.73***	0.81***
	(0.75 - 0.80)	(0.75 - 0.82)	(0.71 - 0.76)	(0.72 - 0.89)
Observations	49.831	20.522	26.289	3.020

Table A7 - Enrolment in industry-oriented curriculum within the technical track. I	Results	from			
between-family models.					

Robust confidence intervals in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 Note: The models also control for the region of residence

		By parental education		
VARIABLES	Total sample	Lower secondary or less	Upper secondary	Tertiary
Gender (ref. Male)				
Female	-0.32***	-0.33***	-0.31***	-0.30***
	(-0.330.31)	(-0.340.31)	(-0.330.29)	(-0.370.24)
Birth order (ref. Single child)				
First-born	-0.00	-0.01	-0.01	0.10
	(-0.03 - 0.02)	(-0.05 - 0.02)	(-0.05 - 0.03)	(-0.06 - 0.26)
Second-born	-0.00	-0.01	-0.02	0.13*
	(-0.03 - 0.02)	(-0.04 - 0.03)	(-0.06 - 0.02)	(-0.02 - 0.28)
Third-born	-0.02	-0.01	-0.08**	0.14
	(-0.07 - 0.02)	(-0.07 - 0.04)	(-0.160.01)	(-0.11 - 0.38)
Number of children in a family	0.00	0.00	0.02	-0.08
-	(-0.01 - 0.02)	(-0.02 - 0.02)	(-0.01 - 0.05)	(-0.18 - 0.02)
Parental education (ref.				
Lower secondary or less)				
Upper secondary	-0.03***	-	-	-
11 2	(-0.040.02)			
Tertiary	-0.07***	-	-	-
5	(-0.110.04)			
Constant	0.44***	0.45***	0.39***	0.29***
	(0.41 - 0.47)	(0.41 - 0.50)	(0.34 - 0.44)	(0.13 - 0.45)
Observations	20,217	11,343	8,242	632

Table A8 – Enrolment in industry-oriented curriculum within the vocational track. Results from between-family models.

Robust confidence intervals in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Note: The models also control for the region of residence

VARIABLES	Upper secondary school enrolment	Science curriculum - academic track	Industry-oriented curriculum - technical track	Industry-oriented curriculum - vocational track
Condor (raf Malo)				
Female	0.03^{***}	-0.33*** (-0.340.32)	-0.45*** (-0.470.43)	-0.34*** (-0.370.31)
Birth order and sibling group gender composition (ref. First- born, all female)		(0.51 0.62)	(0.17 0.12)	(0.57 0.51)
Second-born, all female	-0.02***	-0.01	-0.01	-0.02
	(-0.030.01)	(-0.03 - 0.00)	(-0.02 - 0.01)	(-0.05 - 0.02)
Third-born, all female	0.04***	0.02	0.00	-0.03
	(0.02 - 0.06)	(-0.02 - 0.07)	(-0.05 - 0.05)	(-0.11 - 0.05)
First-born, all male	0.00	-0.01	0.01	-0.01
	(-0.00 - 0.01)	(-0.03 - 0.00)	(-0.01 - 0.03)	(-0.04 - 0.02)
Second-born, all male	-0.02***	-0.03***	-0.04***	-0.02
	(-0.030.02)	(-0.040.01)	(-0.060.03)	(-0.05 - 0.01)
Third-born, all male	0.00	0.04*	-0.04	-0.09***
	(-0.02 - 0.02)	(-0.01 - 0.08)	(-0.08 - 0.01)	(-0.160.03)
First-born, mixed	-0.00	-0.01	0.03*	-0.04*
	(-0.02 - 0.01)	(-0.04 - 0.02)	(-0.00 - 0.06)	(-0.10 - 0.01)
Second-born, mixed	-0.02**	-0.01	-0.03*	-0.04
	(-0.030.00)	(-0.04 - 0.03)	(-0.07 - 0.00)	(-0.09 - 0.01)
Third-born, mixed	-0.02**	-0.02	-0.05***	-0.04
	(-0.030.00)	(-0.06 - 0.02)	(-0.090.01)	(-0.10 - 0.02)
Gender#Birth order and sibling group gender composition Female#Second-born, all female	0.02***	0.03***	0.01	0.02
	(0.01 - 0.03)	(0.01 - 0.05)	(-0.02 - 0.04)	(-0.02 - 0.06)
Female#Third-born, all	0.00	0.04	0.05	0.05
Temale	-0.00	(-0.02 - 0.09)	-0.03	(-0.03)
Female#First-born, all	(-0.03 - 0.02)	(-0.02 - 0.09)	(-0.11 - 0.02)	(-0.04 - 0.15)
male	-0.01	0.00	-0.02	0.02
	(-0.02 - 0.00)	(-0.02 - 0.02)	(-0.05 - 0.01)	(-0.02 - 0.06)
Female#Second-born, all male	0.01***	0.02*	0.01	0.04**
	(0.00 - 0.02)	(-0.00 - 0.04)	(-0.02 - 0.03)	(0.00 - 0.08)
Female#Third-born, all				
male	-0.00	-0.03	-0.03	0.08*
Female#First born	(-0.03 - 0.02)	(-0.09 - 0.02)	(-0.09 - 0.03)	(-0.01 - 0.16)
mixed	0.00	0.03	-0.02	0.04
	(-0.02 - 0.02)	(-0.01 - 0.06)	(-0.07 - 0.03)	(-0.02 - 0.10)

Table A9 – Between-family models: the interacted impact of an individual's birth order and his/her siblings' gender composition on educational outcomes.

VARIABLES	Upper secondary school enrolment	Science curriculum - academic track	Industry-oriented curriculum - technical track	Industry-oriented curriculum - vocational track
Female#Second-born,				
mixed	0.01	-0.01	-0.02	0.09***
	(-0.01 - 0.03)	(-0.04 - 0.03)	(-0.07 - 0.02)	(0.02 - 0.15)
Female#Third-born,				
mixed	0.02	0.05**	0.03	0.05
	(-0.01 - 0.04)	(0.00 - 0.09)	(-0.03 - 0.08)	(-0.02 - 0.12)
Parental education (ref. Lower secondary or less)				
Upper secondary	0.15***	0.09***	-0.03***	-0.02***
	(0.15 - 0.16)	(0.08 - 0.10)	(-0.040.02)	(-0.040.01)
Tertiary	0.20***	0.13***	-0.03***	-0.06***
2	(0.20 - 0.20)	(0.12 - 0.14)	(-0.050.01)	(-0.100.02)
Number of children in a	· · · · ·	,	· · · · · ·	· · · · · ·
family	-0.04***	-0.04***	0.00	0.01
	(-0.050.04)	(-0.050.02)	(-0.01 - 0.02)	(-0.01 - 0.03)
Constant	0.82***	0.71***	0.78***	0.44***
	(0.80 - 0.83)	(0.68 - 0.74)	(0.74 - 0.82)	(0.38 - 0.50)
Observations	183,434	80,581	40,006	16,506

Robust confidence intervals in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Note: The models also control for the region of residence

Figure A1 - Probabilities of upper secondary school enrolment and their heterogeneity by parental education: average predictions obtained from family fixed-effects models with interaction terms between gender and birth order.



Figure A2 - Probabilities of enrolment in the science-oriented (male-dominated) curriculum of the academic track and their heterogeneity by parental education: average predictions obtained from family fixed-effects models with interaction terms between gender and birth order.



Figure A3 - Probabilities of enrolment in the industry-oriented (male-dominated) curriculum of the technical track and their heterogeneity by parental education: average predictions obtained from family fixed-effects models with interaction terms between gender and birth order.



Figure A4 - Probabilities of enrolment in the industry-oriented (male-dominated) curriculum of the vocational track and their heterogeneity by parental education: average predictions obtained from family fixed-effects models with interaction terms between gender and birth order.



Chapter 3

Family Migration and Women's Employment Over the Life Course. An Empirical Analysis of the Tied Migration Argument in Interregional Internal Migration in Europe.

As it has been shown in the introductory chapter of this thesis, women are disadvantaged compared to men in terms of employment probability and earnings, and one of the key factors creating such inequality is embedded within a family context and related to the transition to parenthood. While considerable attention has been paid to the role of motherhood, less is known about another aspect of family dynamics, that is, migration (Cooke et al., 2009). Although single women, like single men, were found to benefit from geographical mobility (GM) by taking advantage of better job opportunities offered in locations different from their place of origin or current residence (e.g., Geist & McManus, 2012; Jacobsen & Levin, 1997; Maxwell, 1988), partnered or family migration was shown to result in unfavourable labour market outcomes for females while improving the earnings of men (Cooke, 2003; Jacobsen & Levin, 2000).

The diverging outcomes of family migration for men and women were linked by the literature to the tied migration theory (Mincer, 1978) deriving from the human capital model of migration. According to this theory, couples move when the benefits to the family from doing so outweigh the costs so that the family utility is maximized. This means that a family may decide to migrate even if this action does not maximize the individual utility of each family member. As a result, partners who initiate migration for their own advantage have been labelled *"lead migrants"*, whereas those who are constrained to move facing prospective disadvantageous opportunities have been called *"tied migrants"*. While the theory assumes that the potential gains and losses of each individual are given equal weight, the empirical evidence has shown that women more often find themselves in a position of *"tied migrant"* or *"trailing wife"*, relocating in response to their partners' movement and facing negative consequences in terms of employment and earnings (e.g., Shihadeh, 1991; Bielby & Bielby, 1992; Cooke, 2003; Shauman & Noonan, 2007).

Despite extensive empirical evidence on "tied migration", previous research has some important limitations. On the one hand, the studies on international mobility of couples have mainly focused on comparing migrated men and women with the native population in terms of occupational outcomes and highlighting the "double disadvantage" of migrant females as a result of the combined negative impact of birthplace and gender (Boyd, 1984; Donato et al., 2014). However, this research stream does not inform about the differences in outcomes between those women who migrated and those who remained in the place of origin due to the absence of data related to the periods preceding migration. On the other hand, studies on internal migration, referring to long-distance moves within national borders, have investigated tied migration considering exclusively marital relationships as the unit of analysis, thus comparing the labour outcomes of married women who migrated with their husbands to married women who did not relocate. This research has been mainly framed by employment- and career-related arguments (Erlinghagen, 2021), neglecting the fact that couple migration might be a part of the family formation process. It has been shown that marriage and migration are often two closely connected and synchronized events meaning that marriage might occur shortly before or after relocation (Mulder & Wagner, 1993). For this reason, considering only married couples and ignoring cohabiting ones might lead to an incomplete analysis of the tied migration phenomenon. Thus, this study considers couple migration not only in the period of marriage but also in the preceding period of engagement. Furthermore, the studies on tied migration have not accounted for the fact that partners often move sequentially and several years apart (Green et al., 1999; OECD, 2017). For instance, a male partner might relocate first to explore the new environment and build the economic ground for the following migration of his female partner. While much attention has been paid to the impact of tied migration event on the labour market outcomes of women, no studies so far have analysed what happens to employment and occupational situation of women in the place of origin during the period of family separation. Finally, only a few studies have analysed the mid-long run consequences of couple migration for women, providing mixed evidence with some results showing that the negative outcomes are short-lived (Clark & Withers, 2002) and others finding persistent disadvantage several years after the move (Cooke et al., 2009).

The use of a large comparative panel data (SHARELIFE) in this study allows the author to overcome the limitations of the previous research owing to the availability of retrospective information on one's residential changes, employment, and family dynamics. The study aims, first, to analyse the impact of different internal migration patterns interacted with civil status on female employment opportunities, taking into account family migration dynamics before marriage and analysing the heterogeneity of these patterns by educational level. Second, the study aims to examine the change in female employment probabilities over age, comparing various migration simulated scenarios, to test whether they might foster cumulative (dis)advantages over the life course (DiPrete & Eirich, 2006).

The study brings several contributions to the previous research. First, it employs a novel continuous measure of family migration which allows to analyse employment outcomes in the period of family separation and consider engagement. In contrast to previous research, the study distinguishes not only between tied migrants and stayers, or tied migrants and single movers but also takes into account various combinations of marital and migration statuses, including, for example, women who relocated but their partners remained in the place of origin or vice versa, females who moved at the same time with their partners. Second, this detailed measure of migration patterns allows to examine the interrelation between marriage/cohabitation and geographical mobility contributing thus to the life course research. Finally, it examines the impact of migration patterns on female employment in the mid-long run. This analysis allows to investigate whether the initial employment penalty of partnered women is enhanced over time due to family migration, resulting in cumulative disadvantage (Diprete & Eirich, 2006).

The study is structured as follows. The first section examines various explanations of female disadvantages related to family migration starting from microeconomic models of utility maximization and bargaining between partners, as well as sociological theories of gender role ideology, and moving to the structural approach emphasising the role of occupational sex segregation and regional contexts of opportunity in shaping the couple's migration behaviour. The second section is focused on the interdependence of migration and life course events, in particular marriage, and the effects of family migration on women's labour market outcomes in the long run. The third section outlines empirical strategy, data, and methods. The fourth section describes the results. The final section provides the main conclusions and limitations.

1. Explanations of female labour market disadvantage related to family migration

1.1 From individual to family migration

In order to evaluate the impact of migration on labour market outcomes of women, it is important to understand the mechanisms underlying the migration decision-making process and how these mechanisms are embedded in the context of family. According to the basic individual-level migration model developed by Sjaastad (1962), potential migrants evaluate the discounted costs and benefits of relocating to another region. The costs of moving can be divided into monetary and non-monetary costs. The former includes out-of-pocket expenses of moving, while the latter includes the opportunity costs (the foregone income in the period of travelling, searching, and training for a new job) and the so-called "psychic costs" related to leaving behind family, friends, and familiar environment. The returns to migration can also be split up into monetary and nonmonetary components. The monetary returns imply not only an increase or decrease in one's income but a change in one's capacity as a consumer. The non-monetary component reflects the individual's preferences for the new place compared to the former residence. If the gains exceed the costs (if the net benefit is larger than zero), the individual decides to migrate to the other region. Hence, the model of individual migration can be formalized as follows:

$$R_i = G_i - C_i > 0$$
 (4),

where R_i is the expected return, G_i is the expected gains, and C_i is the expected costs of migration.

The evidence shows that, in almost all national contexts, the probability of migrating is the highest in early adulthood, among those aged 18-25 (Fielding, 2012). Migration decisions in this period of life are mainly guided by occupational and educational motives marking the stages of transition into independent adulthood, such as leaving the parental home, enrolling in education, and entering the labour market. Moreover, many studies have found that migrants are positively selected on educational qualifications (Polavieja et al, 2018). Education increases employment opportunities and returns to wages and

allows to alleviate the risks and costs of relocating. This is explained by the fact that highly educated individuals are more likely to be informed about employment opportunities and living conditions in other places, rely on wider social networks (Palloni et al. 2001), use more refined ways of estimating net migration gains (Greenwood, 1975, 2014; Greenwood & Hunt, 2003), and integrate economically more easily at destinations (Lall & Selod, 2006).

The formation of partnerships and families, however, leads to more complex decisionmaking processes implying the evaluations that go far beyond maximising individual economic returns (Coulter & Scott, 2015), since partners, unlike single individuals, must coordinate their location preferences, as well as employment and earnings capacities of each other. The literature on family migration consistently shows that women experience negative labour market outcomes in terms of employment chances and earnings (e.g., Shauman & Noonan, 2007; Boyle et al., 2009; Clark & Huang, 2006; Geist & McManus, 2012; Jacobsen & Levin, 1997), while the earnings of partnered men tend to increase after the move (Cooke, 2003; Jacobsen & Levin, 2000). This gender asymmetry in migration patterns has much challenged theoretical explanations. The earliest research on family migration conducted by economists in the 1970s and sociologists in the 1980s primarily concentrated on internal determinants and decision-making within couples by relying on either microeconomic models of utility maximization and bargaining between partners or sociological theories of gender role ideology. Further theoretical and empirical efforts have focused on the unresolved and ongoing debate about which of these explanations to endorse. General criticism of these approaches has recently emerged, pointing out the importance of considering the occupational context, namely occupational sex segregation, in shaping the mobility opportunities of men and women (Nisic & Melzer, 2016; Shauman & Noonan, 2007). However, the question of the relevance of structural explanations remains open. In addition, the recent research in family migration has taken a transdisciplinary perspective emphasising the broader social and economic implications of family migration processes and considering the complex interactions between family dynamics, life course events, and migration decisions. The following sections examine the mechanisms and related theories explaining gender divergence in the outcomes of family migration.

1.2 Household utility maximization and relationship dynamics

The earliest systematic research on family migration was conducted by economists in the 1970s. Among these first theoretical insights, the most influential remains the tied migration model developed by Mincer (1978) and based on human capital theory. In contrast to the model of individual migration proposed by Sjaastad (1962), tied migration theory no longer considers private rational interests the driver of the migration decision and argues instead that this decision is taken in the family context and particularly between partners in an effort to promote their collective return. According to this model, a family decides to migrate when the expected benefits to the couple from doing so outweigh the expected costs, and family utility is thereby maximized. The family utility is conceptualized as the net balance of the partner-specific costs and benefits associated with a migration. Mathematically, the model of tied migration can be expressed as follows:

$$R_c = \sum_{i=P_1,P_2} G_i - C_i > 0 \ (5),$$

where R_c is the couple's expected return from migration (or family utility) and P1 stands for Partner 1 and P2 for Partner 2.

The model assumes that the family utility can be positive not only when benefits outweigh the costs for both partners, but also when only one partner is expected to gain from migration. For instance, $R_{P1}<0$ and $R_{P2}>0$ – that is, Partner 1 expects to lose from migration, whereas Partner 2 expects to benefit from it. Yet, if $R_{P2}>|R_{P1}|$ and the expected net returns of Partner 2, therefore, are higher than the expected losses of Partner 1 in absolute terms, the couple's utility from migration is still positive, which means that it is rational for the family to move. In this scenario, a partner who migrates for his/her own advantage (i.e., Partner 2) has been labelled a *"lead migrant"*, whereas a partner who moves along facing prospective disadvantageous outcomes (i.e., Partner 1) has been called a *"tied migrant"*. Whether there is and who is the tied migrant is thus independent of gender and is only related to the actual and potential contribution of each partner to family utility.

Despite an a priori gender-neutral character of the model, the economists recognized that the structure of labour markets in industrialized societies, implying occupational sex segregation, and inequality between men and women in labour force participation and earnings, limited the opportunities for women to increase their income by means of migration. This leads to an expectation (confirmed empirically) that men are more likely to lead family migration, while women are more likely to follow their partners becoming thus "tied migrants" or "trailing wives" (Cooke, 2001). In addition, the model predicts that as partnered women gain more labour market resources (e.g., education, work experience, and earnings) and gender specialization within couples weakens, net family returns from migration decrease, and women's capacity to influence family migration decisions strengthens. It has been shown that women use their relative resources to block unfavourable family migration (Shauman, 2010). Such a scenario, called "tied staying," explains why dual-earner couples are less mobile than single-earner couples.

Notwithstanding the empirical support for the basic theory of tied migration, it has been increasingly criticized for its assumption that decisions are made collectively and consensually by partners. Bargaining models have challenged this assumption (Bielby & Bielby, 1992; Lundberg & Pollak, 2003; Ott, 1992). According to these models, migration decisions are the product of a negotiation process in which partners act with respect to their own interests, and compensation of the disadvantaged partner is not taken for granted. The result of such negotiations reflects the will of a family member with relatively more bargaining power. A crucial factor determining the bargaining power is economic success since it promotes an individual's independence from the partnership and, consequently, allows to dominate the migration decision by increasing the credibility of the threat to leave the partnership otherwise. Therefore, even if the migration might be beneficial for the household as a whole, the potential tied mover can refuse to move conditional on having sufficient bargaining power. The bargaining theory thus implies that the threshold required for a move to occur is higher than in the Mincer model. The migration happens only if both partners a priori benefit individually or if the family net returns from migration are large enough to compensate not only for the direct losses from the relocation but also for the negative shift in the bargaining power of the tied mover.

1.3 The impact of traditional gender role beliefs

Although the model proposed by Mincer and the bargaining approach differ in terms of the assumed migration decision rule, they are coherent with respect to the assumption that the gains and losses of male and female partners are given equal weight in the decision and that gender cleavage stems only from the differential distribution of migrationrelevant characteristics among partners (Cooke, 2008; Rabe, 2011; Shauman, 2010). This gender-symmetric perspective on family migration has been criticised for being unable to explain why men continue to lead family migrations despite women's progressive accumulation of labour market resources. Empirical evidence has shown that neither the prestige of the female partner's occupation nor the proportionate size of her contribution to the total household income significantly affects family migration decisions (Duncan & Perrucci, 1976; Lichter, 1983; Boyle et al.,2009). In addition, it was found that if women's education has an influence, it is mostly to impede migration (Bird & Bird, 1985; Melzer, 2013; Shihadeh, 1991; Smits, et al., 2003).

In contrast to the microeconomic gender-neutral approaches, sociologists offered an alternative theoretical explanation based on gender role theory (Bielby & Bielby, 1992; Shihadeh, 1991). Gender roles are "roles that men and women have been socialized to accept in society" (Shihadeh, 1991, p. 433), that structure mutual expectations about behaviour and responsibilities within the family and thereby have a profound impact on the family decision-making process. Traditionally, men are expected to take on the role of breadwinners, while women are supposed to focus on domestic work and care duties, irrespective of their relative earnings. Indeed, the empirical evidence shows that even in families where men's earnings and labour force attachment are exceeded by those of their wives, the division of household labour continues to be traditional and men are persistently viewed as household heads and breadwinners (Biddlecom & Kramarow, 1998; Potuchek, 1992; Bittman et al, 2003).

Since men's and women's roles within the family are viewed as not interchangeable in gender role theory, the costs and benefits of migration should not be calculated in the same way for male and female partners. Thus, traditional gender role beliefs are expected to reproduce in the process of couple migration and to introduce asymmetries into it with females' returns given a lower weight and males' returns attributed a higher weight. The adjusted model of family migration is then expressed as follows (Krieger, 2020):

$$R_{c} = \sum_{i=P1,P2} (G_{i} - C_{i}) / \delta_{i} > 0 \ (6)$$

where P1 now is the male and P2 is the female partner, $0 < \delta_{P1} < 1$ and $\delta_{P2} > 1$ are discount factors equally accepted by both partners. Consequently, $R_{P1}/\delta_{P1} > R_{P1}$ and $R_{P2}/\delta_{P2} < R_{P2}$. The model suggests that, on the one hand, small expected returns for male

partners are sufficient to guarantee a positive family utility even if female partners expect to sustain high losses. On the other hand, when male partners anticipate a loss, for a family net return to be positive, female partners should expect disproportionally high gains from GM. Therefore, the discount factors reflect the nature of traditional gender roles in which men are assumed to be the main providers (Bielby & Bielby, 1992).

However, it should be noted that testing the gender role approach against the microeconomic household or bargaining models proves to be challenging due to the lack of direct measures of gender role attitudes. Hypotheses are generally tested only indirectly, by showing that gender differences persist even after controlling for productivity-related characteristics or by demonstrating an unequal influence of male and female characteristics on migration decisions (Blackburn, 2010; Cooke, 2003; Shihadeh, 1991; Tenn, 2010). Thus, the empirical evidence regarding the influence of gender ideology on family migration outcomes remains underdeveloped. Early studies that attempted to directly test the impact of individual gender ideology suffered from substantial data limitations (e.g., Bird & Bird, 1985). Other studies implemented static concepts of gender roles without considering the interpersonal variation and temporal dynamics in individual ideologies (e.g., Shihadeh, 1991). Finally, gender ideology has often been measured at the couple level in previous research, ignoring individual-level variation (e.g., Jürges, 2006).

A recent study using data from the British Household Panel Survey and direct measures of each partner's gender ideology has shown that women's gender ideologies did not moderate the association between family migration and subsequent employment (Lersch, 2016). At the same time, women with egalitarian partners were less likely to leave employment after family migration than those with partners having traditional views. The results thus indicated that family migration decisions are more likely to be influenced by men's rather than women's interests. In addition, the fact that even egalitarian women tended to sacrifice their careers in favour of their partners' points to the persistence of gendered structures, for instance, in workplaces that remain affected by the cultural schema of male providers. Finally, it was shown that even after controlling for both partners' gender ideologies and relevant control variables, a substantial female disadvantage in the probability of leaving employment after family migration remained.
1.4 Structural approach: the importance of institutional context

In general, the micro-level explanations outlined above lack empirical support and have been criticised for failing to consider the broader context of opportunities that influence gender inequality in family migration decisions (Halfacree, 1995). For this reason, several studies have begun to question the role of occupational structures and regional contexts of opportunity in shaping the couple's migration behaviour (Shauman, 2010; Branden & Strom, 2011; Perales & Vidal, 2013). It has been argued that gender cleavage in migration outcomes, even at the same level of labour income, may be a consequence of structural gender segregation in occupations that impede women from utilizing their individual human capital and relative resources to influence migration decisions.

Persistent occupational gender segregation implies that men and women continue to be employed in occupations having distinct structural characteristics. Female-dominated jobs are likely to be found in the service sector of the economy, to be more geographically ubiquitous, and to offer fewer opportunities for career growth. Moreover, women tend to be overrepresented in occupations associated with lower average wages, lower occupational prestige, and lesser occupational autonomy and authority than maledominated occupations (England et al., 1988; Spain & Bianchi, 1996). These structural characteristics are associated with lower benefits from migration for women. As a result, on the one hand, female partners employed in these occupations will be less likely than male partners to initiate family moves since it is unlikely that their net gains from career opportunities in other regions will outweigh their male partners' losses from migration. On the other hand, these characteristics decrease the probability for women to hinder moves since their net loss of earnings is likely to be compensated by the potential income gains linked to remote opportunities for their male partners. Consequently, lower costs of being tied migrants for women may result in a higher risk of (temporary) unemployment following migration, despite the geographical ubiquity of female-dominated occupations that might facilitate a quick re-entry into employment (Perales & Vidal, 2013).

Empirical evidence shows that labour market gender inequalities indeed have an impact on the way men's and women's capabilities affect migration decisions, as well as the consequences such migration has on female work outcomes. For instance, using German data, Nisic (2009) finds that the employment outcomes of women who relocate following their partners depend on the labour market opportunities in the origin and

destination regions. Perales and Vidal (2013), analysing British data, show that gender discrepancies in the impact of spousal resources on couple migration decisions are influenced by structural inequalities in the labour market (such as occupational gender segregation). Using Swedish data, Branden (2013) finds that the fact that men's education impacts a couple's decision to move more than women's is related to a higher concentration of women in occupations with low wages and career potential.

2. The interrelation between migration and life course events

2.1 The life course approach in migration studies

While the theories outlined in the first section focus either on micro- (individual), meso-(family), or macro-level (institutional) factors determining the causes and consequences of migration, the life course approach implies a complex interplay between the individuals, their actions and biographies, and dynamics of social structures and institutions in the historical course of time. The recent shift towards such an approach has urged migration researchers to move beyond conventional techniques of analysis based on simplified assumptions (such as the homogeneity of (sub)populations, the independence of life events in one domain from events in other domains, and from the past) and to adopt methods that grasp the complexity and dynamic nature of individual life histories (Kulu & Milewski, 2007). The life course approach has thus allowed the researchers to look at migration as institutionally framed and implicitly embedded in individual biographies and societal structures, paying attention to the importance of the timing and interdependence of various events and, as a result, to obtain a complete picture of the causes and consequences of GM, including its cumulative effects.

The origins of life-course studies can be dated back to the studies of the Chicago School of Sociology in the early 20th century. Inspired by a classic work of Thomas and Znaniecki on Polish peasants in Europe and America (1918–20), researchers began to use life records to analyse social change and the life trajectories of individuals (Elder, 1985b: 24). In its current form, the life-course approach developed in the 1960s as a consequence of advances in theory, data resources, and methods (Elder, 1985a: 15–16). First, radical social change during the decade induced new questions on the associations between an individual's life history, the historical context, and the cohort. Second, the greater

availability of longitudinal data allowed to gain a 'holistic' picture of life trajectories, considering biographical events simultaneously and not as separate patterns. Third, the techniques of life course analysis were developed, starting with simple causal models and path analysis and shifting to complex event-history analysis.

The key advantage of the life course over the earlier use of the snapshot perspectives of individuals at a single point in time is that it focuses on transitions between the states and roles, on the process of change, where age is important, but is no longer the defining characteristic of the changes that occur. According to Elder et al. (2003), the life course paradigm is based on five heuristic principles: 1) *life-long development:* development does not end with adulthood, but goes on over the entire life course; 2) *agency:* individuals make choices within constraining opportunity structures, 3) *time and place:* historical and geographical context shape individual life courses, 4) *timing:* causes and consequences of events in the life course depend on their timing in the life course, and 5) *linked lives:* lives are lived interdependently within networks of shared relationships. The multidimensionality of lives, including parallel and interdependent work, family, residential, and health trajectories was underlined as an additional sixth principle.

Migration, from a life course perspective, can be viewed as a response to biographical events, an adjustment bringing the household into equilibrium following the changes in occupational, educational, or family domains. It has been shown that migration often takes place in connection with such events as enrolment in the educational system (Panichella, 2013; Tosi, et al., 2018), starting a new job (Mocetti & Porello, 2010; Widmer & Schneider, 2006), divorce (Dieleman & Schouw 1989), marriage (Mulder & Wagner, 1993; Odland & Shumway, 1993), and family composition change (Withers, 1998). However, not all changes in life domains are anticipated, therefore the life-course perspective also draws attention to the variability and unpredictable nature of individual biographies (Rindfuss et al. 1987).

2.2 The interdependencies between marriage and migration

Marriage might lead to relocation for two reasons. First, by definition, at least one of the partners is constrained to move to start a co-residential relationship. Either one of the partners moves in with the other partner or both of them move to a joint home (Brandén & Haandrikman, 2019; Flowerdew & Al-Hamad, 2004). Second, union formation implies

the establishment of a larger household requiring more space than the two pre-union households. These residential changes are partially enabled by financial benefits deriving from co-residence such as a larger household income (assuming that both partners work), pooled resources, increased levels of housing consumption (Helderman, 2007), and the benefits of economies of scale (Feijten & Mulder 2005).

Previous research has shown that the link between marriage and migration is not straightforward since it is important to distinguish between "event moves" (e.g., moves related to the event of getting married) and "state moves" (e.g., the status of being married). Several studies have found that the event of marriage leads to increased levels of migration whereas married individuals have a reduced likelihood of relocating (Jang et al., 2014; Michielin & Mulder, 2008; Mulder & Wagner, 1993; Odland & Shumway, 1993). Furthermore, the rates of migration decrease significantly as family size increases which is explained by economic and psychological factors (Sandefur & Scott, 1981). On the one hand, the economic cost of a move rises as the number of individuals living in a family increases. On the other hand, and more importantly, the presence of additional members in the family means that more ties must be broken at the place of origin and established at the destination.

Another complexity is that migration and marriage often occur as synchronized events. This means that a migration event might take place either at the same moment as marriage or in some short period before or after union formation. The concept of synchronized events permits distinguishing between the immediate impact of an event and the long-term effect of occupying a status. In other words, in the case of marriage and migration, it allows determining to what extent the difference in migration behaviour of married and unmarried individuals results from the simple fact that unmarried people "run the risk" of relocating together with marriage. It was shown that the dependence of short- and long-distance migration on age is substantially reduced if marriage is treated as a synchronization variable (Mulder & Wagner, 1993). Furthermore, the finding that married individuals are less likely to migrate than unmarried ones is reversed at short distances if marriage is considered as an event influencing the likelihood of another. The concept of synchronized events could also be useful to distinguish the effect of migration from the effect of marriage on labour market outcomes of women. While it is well known that women who marry and move are penalized in terms of labour market outcomes, the

question still remains whether or not they face negative outcomes compared to women who marry and do not move, and what are the long-term effects.

There are two features of the marriage-migration link that have not been yet considered by the previous research. First, marriage is often preceded by a period of cohabitation which might also involve migration. Nevertheless, most panel data do not allow the analysis of migration dynamics before marriage due to the absence of information on the period of cohabitation. Second, it has been shown, that partners often move sequentially and several years apart which can be a way to reduce the costs and risks of the migration project (Green et al., 1999; OECD, 2017; Impicciatore & Panichella, 2019). This means that family separation might take place before marriage. However, no studies dedicated to tied migration have analysed the impact of male partner relocation on the labour market outcomes of women in the place of origin during the period of family separation. Therefore, future research on migration dynamics and outcomes can be enriched by analysing these aspects.

2.3 Long-term effects of family migration

It should be noted that a limited number of studies on tied migration have analysed the long-term impact of this phenomenon on the labour market outcomes of women. Clark and Withers (2002) found that migration reduces the employment of married women in dual-earner couples by up to 10% in the months leading up to migration and by over 20% immediately after migration, although these effects were short-lived since the recovery to premigration employment levels took nearly one year. At the same time, a longitudinal analysis of family migration in Great Britain and the US by Cooke et al. (2009) showed that family migration had a significant impact on the earnings of married women for several years after a move. In GB, earnings never returned to their premigration level. Even though they did return to premigration levels in the US, the recovery took several years, and the lost earnings were never compensated. Moreover, it was shown that women's income recovers even more slowly if childbirth was registered in the migration interval (Clark & Huang, 2006).

The expectation of the long-lasting negative effect of tied migration on females' employment opportunities and earnings is suggested by a mechanism of cumulative advantage or disadvantage (Diprete & Eirich, 2006). According to this mechanism, the

initial socio-economic advantage of an individual (in the form of capital and resources), accumulates throughout the life course and tends to result in a position of greater advantage in later life. Similarly, a disadvantaged position in the early stages of life is likely to result in even lower socio-economic status later. A number of studies have shown that the spells of unemployment have long-term "scarring" effects because they reduce the future probability of being hired and incur a setback in re-employment earnings that persist long after the initial unemployment occurrence (e.g., Arulampalam, 2001; DiPrete, 1981; DiPrete & McManus, 2000; Gangl, 2004).

Two key mechanisms have been offered by the literature to uncover the process of unemployment scarring: "resource-specific" and "stigma-related". The "resourcespecific" mechanism, deriving from the human capital theory (Becker, 1993), implies that wage losses following an unemployment spell are associated with the process of human capital depreciation and skill relocation. Theory suggests that one can distinguish two types of human capital: generic human capital, gained through education and transferable across employers, and specific human capital, obtained through job-specific experience in a certain firm or sector and non-transferable across employers (Becker, 1993). While the first type loses its value over longer spells of unemployment, the second type depreciates immediately resulting in lower levels of productivity. Furthermore, the longer and more frequent the unemployment periods, the larger the scars on re-employment wages (Gangl, 2004; Gregory & Jukes, 2001). Since labour market trajectories of women are characterised by more frequent interruptions because of the periods of childbearing and caring, they are more likely to accumulate a reduced amount of work experience (Gupta & Smith, 2002; Gangl & Ziefle, 2009). This gender difference might be further amplified by the fact that women are more likely than men to be tied migrants facing the risk of unemployment following the move. In addition, longer and more frequent unemployment spells result in a higher risk of switching to lower-paying jobs or jobs located in other industries which is especially true for women (Aisenbrey et al., 2009). It is also known that the effects of unemployment scarring are short-lived with reemployment in occupations, sectors, or industries that are similar to that before unemployment (DiPrete, 1981) and long-lasting when re-employment is located in jobs outside of the worker's discipline or sector (Kuhn, 2002; Mühleisen & Zimmermann, 1994; Stewart, 2007).

According to the "stigma-related" mechanism, deriving from the signalling theory (Spence, 1973), group differences in wages emerge from the information asymmetry related to the hiring process. Given that hiring decisions are made in situation of uncertainty about a worker's productivity, employers rely on observable characteristics, such as age, ethnicity, family situation, as well as previous employment history (Lockwood, 1991; Eliason, 1995). Interrupted employment trajectories might be viewed by employers as a signal of low ability or low motivation and, thus, lead to a lower probability of being hired. Furthermore, existing literature shows that employers' hiring decisions are strongly influenced by one's parenthood status (e.g., Budig & England, 2001; Budig & Hodges, 2010, Correll et al., 2007) in the way that women with children are considered by employers as less productive and less competent, while fathers are expected to work hard and are viewed as more committed to their work (Ridgeway & Correll, 2004). In addition, it has been shown that migration is associated with an elevated probability of childbearing in the period following the move (Singley & Landale, 1998; Andersson, 2004), which means that migrant women are particularly at risk of being discriminated against by employers and facing long-term scarring effects on employment and earnings.

Finally, migration background may also serve employers as a signal of future productivity and result in discriminatory practices in several ways. First, the ambiguity related to the recognition of educational achievements or titles that are specific to certain occupations creates difficulties in assessing the skills of immigrant candidates in the hiring process (Chiswick, 1991). Second, language imperfections in speaking and writing fluency may cast doubts about the ability of non-native candidates to perform in high-skilled jobs (Chiswick, 1991; Dustmann & Fabbri, 2003). Third, in accordance with the theories of social closure (Blumer, 1965; Tomaskovic-Devey, 1993) employer's stereotypes are based on the normative ideas that they share about the economic and social position of the group to which they belong. This means that employers belonging to a group with a higher economic and social position (i.e., the native group), might have negative expectations about the productivity of an immigrant employee coming from a lower socioeconomic background and having more common unemployment spells.

The described mechanisms of employment scarring suggest that migration is likely to result in a cumulative disadvantage over the life course for partnered women rather than men or single women. At the same time, a longitudinal study using Dutch data shows that scarring effects among women do not accumulate with the duration and repetition of unemployment while this is true among men (Mooi-Reci & Ganzeboom, 2015). Moreover, for women, unemployment scarring is the largest after the first unemployment event and less prominent in the following interruptions, whereas for men it changes over the course of unemployment repetitions and its duration. The authors attribute this finding to the fact that women tend to switch to more "motherhood-friendly" sectors after the first job interruption (Aisenbrey et al., 2009, Gupta & Smith, 2002), which means that the costs of foregone skills and benefits are the highest after the first job interruption and less prominent in the following unemployment spells.

3. Empirical strategy and research aims

Despite a large number of studies on the topic of "tied migration", it still remains mainly a theoretical argument, only partially tested by empirical research due to the limited availability of panel data on residential, family, and employment histories both in the country of origin and in the host society. As it was shown in section 2, the importance of such data is related to the fact that migration is closely connected to the events in parallel careers in the life course, such as the beginning of higher education or a job, union formation, and divorce (Mulder & Wagner, 1993). This means that a migration event might occur simultaneously with a parallel event or in a short time before or after it. Taking into consideration this synchronization could allow distinguishing between the effects of migration and marriage. While it is well known that women who marry and move are penalized in terms of labour market outcomes, the question still remains whether or not they face negative outcomes compared to women who marry and do not move, and what are the long-term effects. Furthermore, most studies on tied migration have focused exclusively on married couples, whereas the synchronization between marriage and migration suggests that migration might take place right before the marriage, thus being part of the family formation process. Therefore, neglecting the period of cohabitation might lead to an incorrect definition of tied migration. Finally, it has been shown, that partners often move sequentially and several years apart (Green et al., 1999; OECD, 2017), which means that family separation might take place before marriage. However, no studies so far have analysed the impact of male partner migration

on the labour outcomes of women in the place of origin during the period of family separation.

The use of a large comparative panel dataset (SHARELIFE) allows the author to overcome the limitations of the previous research owing to the availability of retrospective information on one's residential changes, employment, and family dynamics. The study aims to answer the following research questions: (1) Are women who engage in tied migration, relocating after their partners, penalized more than those who move alone or before their partner (lead migrants) or at the same time with him (equal migrants)? (2) Can women's education mitigate the negative effect of tied migration on their employment probability? (3) How does the interplay between family migration dynamics and family behaviours foster the process of accumulation of (dis)advantages over the life course?

With respect to the first research question, it is expected that partnered women who decide to migrate are penalized compared to single female migrants (hypothesis 1a). While for single movers the decision to relocate is based on comparing only individual costs and benefits, for partnered women it implies a more complex consideration accounting for the outcomes for the whole family and involving the coordination of own interests and preferences, employment, and earning capacities with those of their partner. Furthermore, it is expected that tied movers relocating in response to their partner's move, is the most disadvantaged category that is less likely to be employed in the host region compared to lead or equal migrants (hypothesis 1b). These are women for whom migration is associated with individual utility losses but who expect these losses to be compensated by the overall increase in family utility. In such a situation a woman's partner, expecting individual gains from relocation, moves first to explore the new environment and build the economic ground for the following migration of his female partner. The women migrating at the same time with their partners (equal migrants) are likely to gain less from migration compared to lead migrants, however, their returns are sufficient to decide to relocate.

As for the second research question, on the one hand, it might be expected that tertiaryeducated women face relatively larger penalties in case of tied migration (*hypothesis 2a*) since higher levels of education are associated with more specialized qualifications and careers which might make it difficult to find suitable opportunities in a new place. On the

117

other hand, highly educated women might be better informed about employment opportunities in other regions, rely on wider social networks, and integrate culturally and economically faster and more easily compared to less educated women. Furthermore, it has been shown by empirical evidence that women might use their human capital to impede family migration bringing unfavourable outcomes for their careers (Shauman, 2010). Thus, an alternative expectation is that higher levels of education might allow women to alleviate the negative effects of tied migration (*hypothesis 2b*).

With respect to the long-term effects of family migration, it is expected that the initial disadvantage of women relocating in response to their partner's migration is amplified over time (*hypothesis 3*). This expectation is suggested by the cumulative (dis)advantage (Diprete & Eirich, 2006) mechanism, according to which the initial socio-economic (dis)advantage of an individual accumulates throughout the life course and tends to result in a position of greater (dis)advantage in later life. Similarly, the "employment scarring" effect implies that unemployment spells (which are expected to be more likely for tied movers) reduce the future probability of being hired.

The analytical strategy adopted to address the research questions of this study consists of three steps. In the preparation step, the Coarsened Exact Matching (CEM) procedure (Iacus et al., 2012) is implemented to reduce the degree of data unbalance and model dependence. In the first step, the impact of different internal migration patterns interacted with civil status on female employment opportunities is analysed. A novel measure of family migration, capturing the period of cohabitation and sequential migration, allows to conduct a more refined test of the tied migration hypothesis, as well as to estimate the impact of family separation on female employment. In the second step, the heterogeneity of the effects of migration patterns by educational level is examined. In the third step, the study proceeds with analysing the change in female employment probabilities over age, comparing various migration simulated scenarios, to test whether they might foster cumulative (dis)advantages over the life course (DiPrete & Eirich, 2006).

4. Data, variables and methods

4.1 Data

The study is based on SHARELIFE data, a retrospective survey focusing on people's life histories including all the important areas of respondents' lives, ranging from partners and children to housing and work history to detailed questions on health and health care. The two waves (w. 3, release 7.0.0, and w. 7, release 7.0.0) were merged and harmonized. Women were linked to their partners which allowed the author to consider migration as a family rather than an individual event, distinguish various migration scenarios, and avoid underestimation of the negative effect of family migration on women's employment status (Boyle et al., 2001). The analytical sample is based on the selection of eight European countries (Sweden, Czech Republic, Poland, Germany, France, Italy, Spain, Greece) and women of 20-55 years. The observations with missing cases on independent and control variables introduced below were excluded, which yielded an analytical sample of 431,995 observations from 14,520 women.

The dependent variable is a dummy for being employed. The independent variable is constructed based on different combinations of civil status and patterns of interregional migration at NUTS-2 level, commonly adopted as a unit of analysis in the literature on geographical mobility and, thus, guaranteeing better comparability with existing research on the topic. The independent variable is time-varying and has eight main categories: 1 -Single stayers, 2 - Single movers, 3 – Couple stayers, 4 - Couple: both partners migrated at the same time, 5 - Couple: only male migrated, 6 - Couple: only female migrated, 7 -Couple reunion (female tied), 8 - Couple reunion (male tied); and four residual categories: 90 - a male partner moving to the place of residence of a female partner, 91 - a female partner moving to the place of residence of a male partner, 92 – divorced or widowed women; 93 – partners migrating at the same time in different directions. Figure 7 shows possible changes in the independent variable over time. At point "zero", all women are considered single. Some of them might remain single and migrate or stay in their place of origin. Others might get married or engaged. Further, the partners might either remain in the place of origin, move together, or migrate sequentially with the following reunion. In addition to the eight categories, there were distinguished four residual groups, the results for which are not reported due to the small number of observations. The residual

categories included the following cases: either a man or a woman migrated to the place of residence of his/her partner for cohabitation; both partners moved at the same time but to the different places; divorced women.



Figure 7 - Independent variable.

4.2 Coarsened exact matching

Before estimating the statistical models, the Coarsened Exact Matching (CEM) procedure was employed in order to balance the treated (movers) and control groups (non-movers) on a set of pre-treatment variables: cohort, country, education, and social class of origin. The procedure is aimed at obtaining more efficient estimates by reducing the degree of imbalance and model dependence. The basic idea of CEM is to coarsen each variable by recoding so that substantively indistinguishable values are grouped and assigned the same numerical value (Iacus et al., 2012). Further, the "exact matching" algorithm is implemented to the coarsened data to define the matches and to prune unmatched units. Finally, the coarsened data are dismissed, and the original (uncoarsened) values of the matched data are kept. In other words, after coarsening, the CEM algorithm creates a set of strata having the same coarsened values of X. Units in strata that contain at least one treated and one control unit are retained, while the units in the remaining strata are discarded from the sample. To compensate for unequal numbers of treated and control units within a stratum, the procedure requires weighting observations according to the size of their strata.

 T^s is used to indicate the treated units in the stratum s and $m_T^s = \#T^s$ to denote the number of treated units in the stratum, similarly for the control units, that is C^s and $m_C^s =$

#*C*^s. The number of matched units are $m_T = \bigcup_{s \in S} m_T^S$ for the treated and $m_C = \bigcup_{s \in S} m_C^S$ for the controls. To each matched unit *i* in stratum *s* the following weight is assigned:

$$w_i = \begin{cases} 1, & i \in T^s \\ \frac{m_C}{m_T} \frac{m_T^s}{m_C^s} & i \in C^s \end{cases}$$

Unmatched units receive weight $w_i = 0$ which therefore allows to eliminate all imbalances.

CEM holds several properties that make it preferable to other matching methods. First, it belongs to the class of Monotonic Imbalance Bounding (MIB) matching methods. This means that the balance between the treated and control groups is chosen by the researcher ex-ante rather than discovered through the usual arduous process of checking and repeatedly rerunning the matching procedure. It ensures that adjusting the imbalance on one variable has no effect on the maximum imbalance of any other. Second, while many matching methods (including propensity score and Mahalanobis distance matching) work on a metric different from the original data violating the congruence principle, CEM operates in the space where X was created and its variables were measured, regardless of whether the data are continuous, discrete, or mixed. Meeting the congruence principle allows a researcher to leverage his/her substantive knowledge of the data to find better matches. Third, CEM automatically restricts the matched data to areas of common empirical support which eliminates the possibility of difficult-to-justify extrapolations of the causal effect that may become heavily model-dependent (King & Zeng, 2006). Finally, CEM is extremely fast computationally, even for large datasets.



Figure 8 - CEM strata (Class of origin: WC – working class, M – middle class, S – service class; Education: P – primary, LS – lower secondary, US – upper secondary, T – tertiary).

Figure 8 shows the distribution of treated units across the strata defined by the CEM method. The larger the circle corresponding to a stratum, the higher the number of treated units in that stratum. The figure also reflects the heterogeneity of migrants' selection across the countries. For example, in Italy, the majority of migrants are primarily educated, in Spain, most of the migrants are individuals with lower-secondary (or lower) education, while in Sweden, the majority of movers are tertiary-educated. These country differences in the selectivity of migrants might be related to the fact that Southern European countries are characterized by the movements from rural to urban areas offering better employment opportunities (e.g., Panichella, 2014), whereas in northern European countries the geographical mobility is more likely to take place among urban areas or big cities. Figure 9 reports the bounds within which the matched comparisons were made through the CEM procedure. The strata that did not contain at least one control and one treated unit were all "pruned" from the analysis, while all the other strata were weighted based on the number of observations of the effect of migration on employment probability.



Figure 9 - CEM – imbalance evaluation (Class of origin: WC – working class, M – middle class, S – service class; Education: P – primary, LS – lower secondary, US – upper secondary, T – tertiary).

4.3 Methods

In the first step of the analysis, the impact of different internal migration patterns on female employment opportunities was estimated through a hybrid model (Allison, 2009). A hybrid model is a random effects model where time-varying predictors are decomposed into between- and within-components. This model allows for overcoming "a major drawback" of a fixed effects model, that is the impossibility of estimating the effects of time-constant variables. The model, thus, controlled for time-constant variables: social class of origin (operationalized through dominance principle and having three categories: working, middle (white collars and petty bourgeoisie), service class), educational level (lower secondary or less, upper secondary, tertiary), region of origin (at age 15) NUTS-2, area of origin: urban or rural (at age 15), cohort (coded in three categories: 1920-1940s, 1950s, 1960s), as well as for time-varying variable age. The model can be specified as follows:

$$Y_{it} = \alpha + \beta (X_{it} - \overline{X}_i) + \gamma \overline{X}_i + \partial Z_i + \alpha_i + \varepsilon_{it} (7),$$

where Y_{it} is the probability of being employed, β estimate reproduces exactly the fixedeffects estimate, X_{it} is the vector of time-varying controls, γ estimate reproduces (approximately) the between-effects estimate, Z_i is the vector of time-constant variables, δ is the effect of time-constant regressors, ε_{it} is time-varying error term (idiosyncratic error term), α_i is a person-specific time-constant error term.

In the second step, fixed effects (FE) models were estimated separately for three groups of women depending on their educational level. Fixed-effects estimates allow to solve the problem of unobserved heterogeneity and obtain unbiased estimates under the assumption that the unobserved characteristics and their effect on the outcome of interest are time-invariant. It is well known in the migration literature that individuals who relocate may be selected on some unobserved characteristics (for instance, motivations, and cognitive skills). If these unobserved traits are also correlated with labour market outcomes, such as employment, ordinary least squares (OLS) estimates will be biased. Furthermore, couples may also have unobserved characteristics that make them more or less inclined towards gender specialization, and these attitudes towards gender roles may influence the decision to move. The fixed effects models can be specified as follows:

$$(Y_{it} - \overline{Y}_{i}) = \beta(X_{it} - \overline{X}_{i}) + (\alpha_{i} - \overline{\alpha}_{i}) + (\varepsilon_{it} - \overline{\varepsilon}_{i}) (8),$$

where X_{it} is the vector of time-varying regressors (age, mobility pattern), ε_{it} is a timevarying error term (idiosyncratic error term), α_i is a person-specific time-constant error term. Since demeaning wipes out person-specific time-constant unobserved heterogeneity, $(\alpha_i - \overline{\alpha}_i) = 0$.

Finally, FE models with interaction terms between the independent variable and age squared were implemented to estimate seven simulated scenarios shown in Table 9. For instance, the "Single mover" scenario implied that a non-married woman migrated at the age of 23. According to the "Couple - stayers" scenario, a woman got married or engaged at the age of 23 and neither she nor her partner had ever experienced a move. The "Female tied migrant" scenario refers to the situation when a woman got married or engaged at the age of 23, her partner migrated when she was 28, and she moved at the age of 33 to reunite with him. The two scenarios – "Couple - only male migrated", "Couple - only

female migrated" – imply the period of family separation which, in the case of "*Female tied migrant*" and "*Male tied migrant*", is followed by reunification.

Migration scenario	Marriage/engagement*	Women's migration*	Men's migration*
Single mover	no	23 years	n/a
Couple-stayers	23 years	no	no
Couple-only male migrated	23 years	no	28 years
Couple-only female migrated	23 years	28 years	no
Couple-joint migration	23 years	28 years	28 years
Female tied migrant	23 years	33 years	28 years
Male tied migrant	23 years	28 years	33 years

Table 9 - Migration scenarios.

*Age of a woman

5. Results

5.1 Employment opportunities of women across various migration patterns

Table 10 shows the results obtained from the hybrid model, where the reference category is "single stayer"³. GM has a positive impact on employment only for single women (0.03 p.p.), although on average among females this effect is not significant. In contrast, married or engaged women are penalized across all migration patterns, especially when they are "tied movers". Thus, the results confirm hypotheses 1a and 1b. In the situation when a woman reaches her immigrated partner, the within-group estimate of disadvantage with respect to single women who have never experienced GM is -0.12 p.p. However, the between-group estimate is not statistically significant. The results also show a negative impact of family separation on the employment probability of women, either when a female ("*Couple - only female moved*") or a male partner ("*Couple - only male moved*") migrates first. The between-group estimate of family separation is particularly large (-0.16 p.p.) in the situation when a male partner relocates but a woman remains in her place of origin. Finally, the only scenario where both within- and between-group estimates are not statistically significant is the reunification of a male partner with his immigrant partner.

³ Full table (Tab. A10) is provided in the Appendix to Chapter 3

VARIABLES	Between		Within	
	β	σ	β	σ
Single - mover	-0.02	(0.01)	0.03***	(0.01)
Couple - stayers	-0.11***	(0.01)	-0.03***	(0.00)
Couple - only M moved	-0.16**	(0.07)	-0.03***	(0.01)
Couple - only F moved	-0.08	(0.06)	-0.05***	(0.01)
Couple - both migrated at the same time	-0.15***	(0.02)	-0.03***	(0.01)
Reunion (F tied)	-0.53	(0.85)	-0.12***	(0.02)
Reunion (M tied)	-0.91	(0.96)	-0.02	(0.03)

Table 10 - Results from the hybrid model (ref. "single stayers").

Standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Results obtained from the fixed effects models (Figure 10) show a greater heterogeneity in the impact of migration patterns among the least educated women. Women with upper secondary or lower education, are strongly penalized when they are "tied migrants" (-0.24 p.p. and -0.22 p.p. respectively). They also face negative outcomes, although of lower magnitude, in the period of family separation following their partner's migration (-0.08 p.p. and -0.14 p.p. respectively), as well as when they migrate at the same time with their partner (-0.09 p.p. and -0.14 p.p. respectively). In contrast, tertiaryeducated women get benefited across all migration patterns, even when they are "tied movers" (0.27 p.p.). Moreover, it is interesting to note that "single mover" is the least beneficial scenario (0.22 p.p.) for highly educated women, in contrast to joint migration with their partners (0.38 p.p.) and family reunion after a woman's migration episode (0.35 p.p.). These results confirm hypothesis 2b, suggesting that tertiary education allows women to compensate negative effects of tied migration, while for women with lower levels of educational attainment tied migration scenario leads to cumulative disadvantages. Such outcomes might be explained by the fact that tertiary-educated women are either more successful in adapting to new places and finding better job opportunities due to the higher levels of human capital compared to lower-educated women, or able to bargain better outcomes in negotiations with their partners and migrate only if this decision brings employment benefits. Future studies might further explore the underlying mechanisms of compensatory effects for highly educated women in contrast to cumulative disadvantages of lower educated women.



Figure 10 – Beta coefficients for independent variable – mobility pattern (ref. "single stayers"). FE models by education, control for age.

5.2 Results from simulated scenarios

Figure 11 shows the results obtained from seven simulated migration scenarios that were estimated over a 15-year period (from 20 to 35 years). The results confirm that the only beneficial scenario for women is *"single mover"*, although even in this case, the positive impact of GM is not substantial and disappears already two years after migration turning into a disadvantage compared to *"single stayers"*. For *"couple stayers"*, the employment is characterised by a sharp negative trend right after the marriage episode with respect to *"single stayers"*. Further migration of a male partner almost does not affect this trend, as it is shown in the scenario *"Couple – only male migrated"*. However, when it is followed by female partner migration (*"Female tied"* scenario), the relative probability of employment drops substantially, making this pattern the most penalizing.



Figure 11 - Migration simulated scenarios over age (ref. "single stayers").

In situations when a woman migrates first ("Couple: only female migrated") or at the same time with her partner ("Couple: joint migration"), her relative employment probability worsens at the moment of migration but shows a slight improvement in the following years, which, however, does not eliminate the disadvantage compared to "Single stayers". Finally, in a "Male tied" scenario, the migration of a male partner followed by a woman's relocation gives an additional boost to the woman's employment opportunities, which nevertheless takes a diminishing trend afterward.

To sum up, this analysis reveals that migration does not eliminate the long-term negative impact of family formation on women's employment opportunities but creates heterogeneities within the group of single females and within the group of partnered ones. For single women, migration brings an advantage in terms of labour market attachment, which, however, does not accumulate but, in contrast, weakens over time turning into a disadvantage. For married or engaged women, the outcomes vary depending on the sequence of partner migration. When a woman takes the role of a lead migrant (i.e., relocates first) or moves at the same time with her partner (couple joint migration), she has an opportunity to partially compensate for a disadvantage related to family formation.

Finally, as expected by hypothesis 3, the tied migration results in the accumulation of disadvantage over age. That is, the initial negative impact of marriage/engagement is further amplified when a woman is constrained to follow her partner's relocation to the detriment of her own career, resulting in the so-called "unemployment scarring" effect.

6. Conclusions

Although GM provides an opportunity for individuals to find better job opportunities offered in other places and on average has a positive impact on occupational attainment, its outcomes are not the same for men and women. It has been shown that migration favours men rather than women, and the roots of this cleavage lie in the context of family. Numerous studies have found that partnered women are more likely than men to find themselves in a position of "tied migrant", relocating in response to their partners' movement and facing negative consequences in terms of their employment chances and earnings (e.g., Shauman & Noonan, 2007; Boyle et al., 2009; Clark & Huang, 2006; Geist & McManus, 2012; Jacobsen & Levin, 1997). On the contrary, empirical evidence shows that migration has a positive influence on career development and earnings of partnered men (e.g., Cooke, 2003; Jacobsen & Levin, 2000).

Several theories have been put forward to explain gender differences in the outcomes of family migration. The earliest research on family migration conducted by economists in the 1970s and sociologists in the 1980s primarily concentrated on internal determinants and decision-making within couples by relying on either microeconomic models of utility maximization and bargaining between partners or sociological theories of gender role ideology. Further theoretical explanations focused on the importance of considering the occupational context, namely occupational sex segregation, in shaping the mobility opportunities of men and women (Nisic & Melzer, 2016; Shauman & Noonan, 2007). Finally, the recent research in family migration has taken a transdisciplinary perspective emphasising the broader social and economic implications of family migration processes and considering the complex interactions between family dynamics, life course events, and migration decisions.

However, "*tied migration*" remains mainly a theoretical argument, which has been only partially tested by empirical research due to the limited availability of panel data on residential, family, and employment histories. The importance of such data is related to the fact that migration is closely connected to the events in parallel careers in the life course, such as, for example, union formation (Mulder & Wagner, 1993). This means that a migration event might occur simultaneously with a parallel event or in a short time before or after it. Taking into consideration this synchronization could allow for a more nuanced analysis of migration patterns distinguishing between the effects of migration and marriage. Furthermore, longitudinal data are also crucial for capturing the phenomenon of sequential migration, that is, when partners move one after another, and its impact on labour market outcomes of women, which has not been considered by the previous studies.

The use of a large comparative panel data (SHARELIFE) allowed the author to overcome the limitations of the previous research owing to the availability of retrospective information on one's residential changes, employment, and family dynamics. Based on such data it was possible to distinguish various patterns and scenarios of interregional migration revealing heterogeneous outcomes, as well as to disentangle the impact of migration from the impact of marriage. Overall, the study has shown that the role of migration for female employment is limited. First, it does not eliminate the negative impact of family formation on women's labour market outcomes but creates heterogeneity within the group of single women and within the group of those who are married or engaged. The results revealed that the only beneficial scenario for women in terms of employment opportunities was "single mover", even though in the long run its positive impact disappeared turning into a disadvantage compared to "single stayers". In contrast, the worst outcomes were found for "tied migrants", confirming the existing empirical evidence. Moreover, the initial disadvantage of female "tied migrants" associated with marriage/cohabitation was amplified by a migration event and increased over age, which thus corroborated the "cumulative disadvantage" hypothesis. At the same time, "female lead migrant" scenario allowed married/engaged females to partially compensate for the accumulation of disadvantage. It should also be noted that, for the first time, the study analysed the impact of family separation on the employment outcomes of women. Either when a woman or a man migrated first, the effect of family separation was negative, although less substantial in magnitude compared to "female tied migration" pattern.

The second aspect pointing to the limited role of family migration is that its outcomes were not the same across educational groups, namely its negative effects were limited to upper-secondary and lower-educated women. In contrast, tertiary-educated women were able to avoid the negative consequences of GM and even get benefited across all migration patterns, even when they were *"tied migrants"*. These results might suggest that tertiary-educated women are either more successful in adapting to new places and finding better job opportunities due to the higher levels of human capital compared to lower-educated women, or able to bargain better outcomes in negotiations with their partners and migrate only if this decision brings employment benefits.

It should be noted that the study has several limitations that might be tackled by future research. First, the couple migration patterns are developed based on the relative timing of the moves of the partners. That is, for instance, a female tied migrant in this study is a woman who migrated after the move of her partner. This definition, however, does not take into account the decision-making process behind the move, as well as the reasons for relocation and motivations of the partners (the information that was not available in the dataset). Thus, it is not possible to know whether indeed the male partner's interest was the main driving force of migration, while a female partner was constrained to move to the detriment of her career. Moreover, it might be the case that some women move for the benefit of their children and explicitly choose to stay out of the labour market after migration in order to devote themselves to care duties. In this case, the reduction of employment opportunities is not, in the strict sense, a penalization for a woman. Thus, future research could focus on exploring the decision-making process and motivations related to family migration in order to understand better the underlying mechanisms. Second, the analysis does not take into account the relative occupational status, education, or earnings of the partners. For instance, it could be worthwhile to explore how the outcomes found in this study vary depending on whether a man or a woman is the main earner in the family, or on the patterns of assortative mating. Third, future research could build on this study by analysing the heterogeneity of family migration outcomes by countries. Cross-national variation might be influenced by institutional and cultural context, namely by the level of support towards female employment and normative expectations about appropriate gender roles (Vidal et al., 2017). In countries where policies offer scarce support for female employment and cultural beliefs undervalue

female work, women might have limited opportunities to affect family migration decisions, as well as to get a job after relocation. On the contrary, in countries with the prevalence of gender-egalitarian attitudes and policies aimed at supporting female employment (such as affordable childcare, and availability of flexible work arrangements) women might have a greater possibility to influence family relocations.

Appendix

VARIABLES	between	within
Mobility pattern (ref. Single staver)		
Single mover	-0.02	0 03***
Single mover	(0.01)	(0.01)
Couple - stavers	-0.11***	-0.03***
	(0.01)	(0.00)
Couple - only M moved	-0.16**	-0.03***
	(0.07)	(0.01)
Couple - only F moved	-0.08	-0.05***
	(0.06)	(0.01)
Couple - both migrated at the same time	-0.15***	-0.03***
	(0.02)	(0.01)
Reunion (F tied)	-0.53	-0.12***
	(0.85)	(0.02)
Reunion (M tied)	-0.91	-0.02
	(0.96)	(0.03)
Res: a male partner moving to the place of residence of a	(0150)	(0.00)
female partner	-0.10***	-0.00
	(0.02)	(0.01)
Res: a female partner moving to the place of residence	(0102)	(0.01)
of a male partner	-0.13***	-0.06***
	(0.02)	(0,01)
Res: divorced or widowed women	0.02	0.02***
	(0.02)	(0,00)
Rest partners migrating at the same time in different	(0:02)	(0.00)
directions	0.04	-0 10***
	(0.22)	(0.03)
Аде	0.04***	0.00***
	(0,00)	(0,00)
Аде#аде	-0.00***	-0.00***
	0.00	0.00
	(0.00)	(0.00)
Cohort (ref. 1920-1940s)		
1950s	0.05***	-
	(0.01)	
1960s	0.03***	-
	(0.01)	
Education (ref. Primary)		
Lower secondary or less	0.07***	-
	(0.01)	
Upper secondary	0.19***	-
	(0.01)	
Tertiary	0.13***	-
	(0.01)	

Table A10 – The impact of mobility patterns on employment probabilities of women: results from hybrid models

Social class of origin (ref. Service)

VARIABLES	between	within	
Middle	0.04***	-	
Working	(0.01) 0.03***		
working	(0.01)	-	
Geographical area of origin (ref. Big city)			
Suburbs	0.01	-	
	(0.01)		
Large town	-0.01	-	
	(0.01)		
Small town	-0.02	-	
	(0.01)		
Rural	-0.01	-	
	(0.01)		
Constant	-0.29***		
	(0.07)		
Observations	431,995		
Number of id	14,520		
Standard errors in parentheses)		

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Chapter 4

Social Origin and Motherhood Employment Penalty. Heterogeneity by partners' resources and country context.

Family of origin and family of destination are both crucial factors influencing one's labour market outcomes. On the one hand, it is well established in intergenerational social mobility research that social origin exerts a substantial effect on one's occupational attainment (Blau & Duncan, 1967; Torche, 2011; Bernardi & Ballarino, 2016). On the other hand, the gender inequality research underlines the key role of parenthood in generating gaps in labour market outcomes among women, as well as between males and females (e.g., Budig & England, 2001; Gangl & Ziefle, 2009; Killewald, 2013). Despite substantial advances in educational levels and labour market participation rates, women still bear a major share of housekeeping and caregiving responsibilities incurring employment interruptions, reduced working hours, skill attrition, foregone experience, and training. Moreover, even when these individual factors are accounted for, the motherhood penalty remains. This residual part is often linked to discrimination practices on the part of employers (Correll, et al. 2007) perceiving women with children as less committed and less productive.

Several studies have analysed how educational level affects women's employment (e.g., Steiber et al, 2016; Evertsson et al., 2009), while no research has been done on the impact of family background on the motherhood penalty, net of education. The direct effect of social origin might have consequences for mothers' employment chances through access to social networks, employers' favouritism, inheritance of family business or financial resources, which might result in a cumulative or double disadvantage for women from less privileged family backgrounds or compensate the penalty for women from better-off origins. Moreover, the effect of social origin might vary depending on the factors related to the family of destination, such as the partner's resources (his education and/or occupational status). Empirical evidence has shown that the husband's social standing has a negative impact on a woman's employment in couples where a male partner has a comparative advantage in terms of education or occupational status, whereas

it exerts no effect in high-status homogeneous couples (Bernardi, 1999; Vandecasteele & Esche, 2015). At the same time, to the best knowledge of the author, there is no evidence on how partner's resources interact with a woman's social origin, net of her education, and whether this interaction creates an additional source of cumulative (dis)advantage.

On top of the individual-level factors, the employment of mothers is determined by the macro context characterised by the country's family policies, gender norms, and labour market structure and regulations. Although there is a large number of studies that investigate cross-country differences in women's employment (e.g., Pfau-Effinger, 2012; Stier et al, 2001; Fortin, 2005), as well as the studies that model female labour supply based on micro-data in single countries, limited attention has been paid to the variation in the impact of individual factors by national contexts. On the supply side, macro-level factors might affect the relationship between motherhood penalties and social origin by shaping the opportunity structure of women with children. The role of parental resources, such as networks and financial support, might be particularly important for arranging childcare and maintaining labour force attachment in countries with weak state support for female employment, traditional gender norms, limited secondary segment, scant parttime opportunities, as well as strict employment protection regulation. On the demand side, macro-level factors might influence the association between motherhood penalties and social origin through shaping the employer's hiring and promotion decisions. In rigid labour markets, where dismissal costs are high and employers tend to make hiring decisions based on a scrupulous screening, taking into account the ascriptive characteristics of the candidates (such as parenthood status and gender), mothers from less privileged families might be particularly disadvantaged compared to their counterparts from better-off families. Moreover, advantaged backgrounds might mitigate the employers' statistical discrimination against mothers based on negative perceptions of their productivity and commitment, which might be particularly pronounced in countries with traditional gender norms and limited support for female employment.

Using the retrospective data SHARELIFE, this study aims to analyse the interplay between the family-of-origin (social class of origin) and family-of-destination factors (motherhood, partner's resources) in determining women's employment outcomes. First, it attempts to explore whether the motherhood employment penalty is attenuated by advantaged family background or aggravated by less privileged origins (net of education).

136

Second, it aims to investigate whether the DESO on motherhood employment penalty changes depending on the partner's resources. Third, it analyses how the DESO on employment of women with children differs across European countries. Thus, one of the key contributions of this study is that it makes the first attempt in analysing the role of social origin for mothers' employment chances by connecting the literature on social stratification to the research on gender inequalities and adding to the studies on cumulative (dis)advantage (Diprete & Eirich, 2006). While the previous chapter has considered the temporal dimension of cumulative (dis)advantages, in this study, the focus is on the status-resource interplay. The impact of social origin on one's labour market outcomes over and above education deserves attention in studies dedicated to motherhood penalties since it might exacerbate the disadvantage of women with children. Finally, this work contributes to the comparative literature on female employment by analysing how the interplay between the family-of-origin and family-of-destination factors might vary across European countries.

The study is structured as follows. The first section examines how individual- (such as education, social origin) and household-level (partner's resources) factors might shape mothers' employment chances. The second section is dedicated to the role of macro context, in particular, family policies, gender norms, and labour market regulation and structure, in determining women's employment. The third section outlines the research questions and relative hypotheses. The fourth section describes data and methods. The fifth section describes the results. The final section provides the main conclusions and limitations.

1. Motherhood and employment penalty

1.1 How education and social origin influence mothers' employment

Reduced employment rates of mothers are generally explained by the fact that women with children bear a greater burden of childcare, housework, and family responsibilities compared to fathers and childless women and men (Anderson et al. 2003; Gangl and Ziefle 2009; Budig & England 2001). However, not all mothers forego employment, which raises the question of which micro-level factors (both individual and household) facilitate maternal employment.

The key factor influencing maternal employment is education. First, according to human capital theory, more highly educated women are more likely to remain in paid work when they become mothers than their counterparts with lower levels of education since they have a greater wage potential and thus face higher opportunity costs of leaving the labour force (Becker, 1991). Moreover, lower-educated mothers are more likely to have less secure jobs and encounter a higher risk of involuntary non-employment (e.g., Erlinghagen, 2008; Gesthuizen et al., 2011). Second, highly educated women are more likely to have egalitarian attitudes towards gender roles, that is, they believe that paid and unpaid labour should be more equally divided between men and women and thus that women should work more for pay than they do now. In addition, they hold more favourable views on maternal employment and non-maternal childcare (Schaninger & Buss, 1986). Third, due to educational assortative mating they often have an equally highly educated partner with similar attitudes (Kanjii, 2013; Blossfeld & Drobnič, 2001), which fosters less traditional roles in the household (Bolzendahl & Myers, 2004). In addition to that, education can enhance women's bargaining position in the household, allowing them to obtain greater support from their partner (Brynin & Francesconi, 2004) and ultimately easing reconciliation. Finally, highly educated women are more likely to afford reliable childcare or housekeeping services due to higher levels of income, thus reducing the possible conflict between work and care/household responsibilities.

While several studies have considered the role of education for maternal employment, to the knowledge of the author, no research has been done with respect to the impact of social class of origin on motherhood penalties. The literature on social stratification has pointed out that family background exerts a strong influence on one's occupational achievement and income even when education is controlled for. This effect has been termed the direct effect of social origin (DESO) (Blau & Duncan, 1967; Torche, 2011; Bernardi & Ballarino, 2016). When it comes to women's labour market outcomes, the mechanisms underlying DESO are important to consider since they might allow women from better-off families to compensate for the negative effects of motherhood. First, mothers with advantaged social origins might benefit from social networks, providing access to useful information on vacancies or facilitating decisions relating to hiring and promotion (Lin et al., 2001). Second, they might receive financial support from their parents for entrepreneurial activities, directly inherit the family business, or get a job in a

family-run company when being involuntarily dismissed or not having other job opportunities. Third, mothers from better-off families might be more ambitious and sensitive to occupational success and, thus, more willing to return to paid work after childbearing.

In addition to that, in certain ways, the advantaged family background can serve as a signal of better productivity and commitment for employers which might offset or mitigate the discrimination against mothers. Employers might discriminate against mothers based on either statistical information or social norms and cultural beliefs. The first mechanism implies that measuring the productivity of each individual is costly and time-intensive, therefore employers prefer to pay higher wages or to hire individuals from a group that is expected to have higher productivity and is less likely to quit a job, that is childless women. The second mechanism entails the conflict between the normative demands on the ideal worker – to be constantly available for his or her employer – and the normative expectations on the good mother - to be constantly available for her children (Correll et al.: 1306). Qualitative and experimental studies have demonstrated significant bias against mothers when it comes to hiring and promotion decisions. It was revealed that employers question mothers' ability to work long hours (Rivera & Tilcsik 2016), perceive them as less competent and committed than equally qualified childless women, and are less likely to hire women with children (Benard & Correll 2010; Correll et al. 2007). Having an advantaged family background might offset the negative perceptions about mothers' productivity in several ways. First, individuals from betteroff families might have better productivity-enhancing cognitive and non-cognitive skills (such as self-confidence, perseverance, conscientiousness, and extraversion) that are highly valued in the labour market but not reflected in formal educational qualifications (Karlson, 2019). Second, similar to the role of education, the impact of the social class of origin might be reflected in more economic resources at the disposal of mothers for obtaining quality childcare and thus having more time and energy to devote to paid work. Finally, employers might prefer to hire for better positions mothers from privileged backgrounds, all else being equal. This favouritism might be due to the employers' taste for discrimination based on social origin (Becker, 1971) or statistical discrimination.

Thus, although motherhood is associated with the increased demand for caring activities at home and therefore reduction of working hours and higher risk of unemployment, the magnitude of this effect might not be the same across women of different educational levels and family backgrounds. Mothers from advantaged families and mothers with higher levels of education are expected to have greater chances of remaining in the workforce than their counterparts from less privileged backgrounds and with lower levels of education.

1.2 Household context: the role of the partner's resources

In addition to individual-level factors examined in the previous section, the probability of maternal employment can be affected by the household context, namely by the partner's social standing and partnership constellations with varying levels of status differences between the partners. With respect to the partner effects, the literature offers two theoretical explanations leading to opposite outcomes. The first explanation is based on New Home Economics (Becker, 1991) which can be considered an extension of human capital theory to family context. According to this approach, the partners pool their resources and make decisions in order to maximize the joint family utility. In particular, they decide how to allocate their time between paid market work and unpaid domestic work based on the comparison of a husband's and wife's marginal productivities in both areas. If a husband has a comparative advantage in labour market, then he will specialize in paid work, while his wife will specialize in domestic work. In other words, the higher is the social class and, thus, the earning potential of a husband, the less likely a wife will engage in employment. Thus, New Home Economics predicts a negative linear relationship between the husband's social class and the wife's labour supply. The studies conducted in several countries have shown that indeed a female partner's employment is lower when her husband's educational level, occupational status, or earnings are higher while controlling for the woman's own resources (Bernardi, 1999; Bernasco et al., 1998; Blossfeld et al., 2001; Verbakel & de Graaf, 2008, 2009).

In contrast to the New Home Economics, the second explanation based on social capital theory leads to the expectation of a positive relationship between husband's resources and woman's employment. In accordance with this approach, the partner's occupational position can be considered a form of social capital since it provides resources that can be used to facilitate labour market success (Lin et al., 1981). First, the husband can transmit his professional skills, competencies, experience, and even

knowledge on how to behave at a job interview to his wife. Secondly, a partner might stimulate his wife's labour market outcomes by transferring his positive attitude toward career advancement and motivating his partner to put effort into their professional growth. Thirdly, a partner can provide information about job openings and put his wife in contact with a potential employer. Finally, the husband might exploit his social networks to exert direct influence and facilitate his wife's employment. Although empirical evidence has not provided much support for the role of social capital for women's labour supply, studies have shown that social capital matters for occupational success among the employed. It has been found that the husband's social status has a positive impact on upward mobility chances (Robert & Bukodi, 2002 Verbakel & de Graaf, 2008), the probability of getting promoted to a top position (Bröckel et al., 2013), and on occupational prestige scores (Bernasco et al., 1998; Verbakel & de Graaf, 2009). Thus, it can be said that the economic and sociological theories apply to different aspects of female careers: the economic theory explains the labour supply, while the sociological theory accounts for the occupational outcomes (Bernardi, 1999).

It should be noted that partner effects might work unequally for women of different social standing. While previous studies have focused only on the combinations of partner's resources with a woman's own educational level (Bernardi, 1999) or ISEI (Vandecasteele & Esche, 2015), no research has considered the family background of a woman. Since both educational level and socioeconomic status are highly correlated with social origin, the expectation concerning the combinations of a woman's family background and her husband's own social class can be developed in the same direction as the existing literature. In particular, it might be expected that having a partner belonging to upper or middle social classes may provide a weak incentive to leave the labour market for women from advantaged family backgrounds. One reason for this prediction is that women from better-off families in general have a higher probability of being employed due to the mechanism reviewed in the previous section, as well as due to the higher likelihood of occupying better jobs and, thus, higher opportunity cost of not working. The second reason is that women who have grown up in advantaged families are more likely to develop gender-egalitarian attitudes and less traditional views on household division of labour (Kalmin & Kraaykamp, 2007). The key implication of this expectation is that there is a risk of cumulative advantage for women from better-off social origins. The empirical evidence for Italy shows that the negative impact of the husband's resources on his wife's employment is present only in couples where a male partner has a comparative advantage compared to his wife, whereas for women occupying upper positions in social stratification, partner's resources do not disincentivise employment (Bernardi, 1999). Similarly, for Germany, the findings show that negative partner effect is largely neutralised for women in high-status homogamous partnerships (Vandecasteele & Esche, 2015).

Thus, the role of the partner's resources for women's employment should be examined in conjunction with their own resources expressed either through their occupational position, educational level, or family background. The previous empirical evidence suggests that husband's effect operates unevenly across different partnership constellations. While women in homogamous high-status couples have a rather low probability of leaving the labour force, women in homogamous low-status couples face the highest risk of becoming housewives (Vandecasteele & Esche, 2015). This implies the accumulation of inequality at the intersection of gender and social class/education/family background. Moreover, high-status women not only have greater chances of maintaining their employment but are also more likely to have a high-status partner that can provide them with additional support in terms of occupational attainment.

2. Mothers' employment in comparative perspective

2.1 The role of institutional and cultural contexts

On top of the individual-level factors, mothers' employment is affected by the institutional and cultural contexts expressed through family policies, labour markets, and norms regarding gender roles.

In terms of family policies, the studies on female employment usually focus on the role of maternity and father's/parental leave, as well as childcare provisions. Maternity leave policies are generally meant to support parental caregiving while guaranteeing employment protection and, in most countries, income security during this period. However, their impact on mothers' labour force attachment differs according to the length of the leave, and this relationship is found to be curvilinear.

Long or poorly compensated leaves hinder women's employment and undermine their opportunities in the labour market (e.g., Bainbridge et al., 2003; Pettit & Hook 2005; Boeckmann et al., 2015), leading to less secure, part-time positions afterward. By accentuating mothers' primary role as a caregiver, long leave reinforces the traditional gender norms (Budig et al., 2016) and employers' bias against women. This might result in lower chances of hiring or promotion for women with children and a greater likelihood of transferring them to part-time jobs or even dismissal upon the end of the job-protected period (Glass & Fodor 2011). Moreover, extended leaves are likely to result in skill deterioration and erosion of professional networks.

In contrast, short leave implies a minimal care role for mothers and presumes that they return to the labour market soon after childbirth. This might suggest reduced statistical discrimination and skills deterioration. However, empirical evidence shows that while short leave allows women with children to return to work sooner, many of them end up leaving the labour market entirely or getting jobs that enable them to reconcile family responsibilities (Keck & Saraceno, 2013). The reason for this is insufficient time for mothers to get ready to re-enter labour market after childbirth, especially when they are still expected to be the primary carer. As a result, short leaves might also lead to employers' statistical discrimination and restrict career choices for women as they enter the labour market.

Fathers' leave policy and, to some extent, parental leave, imply a dual-career family where fathers are actively involved in childcare. Its impact on mothers' employment might not be straightforward. On the one hand, father's leave may undermine existing gender norms and, as a result, reduce the statistical discrimination against women with children. The studies show that father's participation in childcare, especially in the early stages, often has a positive influence on women's continued employment and earnings (Andersen, 2018; Norman, 2020). On the other hand, in order for this positive impact to occur, the leave has to be sufficiently long for fathers to take part in childcare and change the perceptions around gender roles. With this regard, some countries (for instance, Sweden and Norway) have reserved certain periods of parental leave for fathers (the so-called "daddy quota") which disappear if they refuse to take it (Rønsen & Sundström, 2002). Furthermore, in countries where father's care role is not widely acknowledged, men may be stigmatized and even penalized at work for taking leave as they deviate from

the "masculine" "ideal worker" norm. This may lead to men's lower take up of leave and, thus, not result in facilitating mothers' employment.

Childcare provision may help mitigate work-family conflict, however, its impact on women's active labour force participation depends on the availability of suitable job opportunities, as well as on whether the childcare service is private or public, full-time or part-time. Part-time childcare services might be incompatible with mothers' normal working hours forcing them to opt for part-time work or exit the labour market completely. Furthermore, quality childcare might be costly and unaffordable for parents, making women leave employment or reduce working hours. However, if it is state-provided or subsidized, particularly for very young children (aged under three), it may positively affect mothers' employment rates (Pettit & Hook, 2005, 2009). In addition, it has been shown that an increase in public childcare is particularly beneficial for low-educated mothers, and this positive effect is most pronounced at lower levels of childcare coverage, which highlights the importance of this policy measure for fighting social inequalities among households with young children (Scherer & Pavolini, 2023).

There is another aspect of public childcare provisions that might affect women's employment opportunities. In countries with generous family policies, state-sponsored family services, such as childcare, elderly care, and educational institutions, operate within the public sector, providing attractive employment conditions for women, especially mothers (Mandel & Semyonov, 2005). The jobs in this sector are characterised by high protection, flexible working hours, and tolerance to absenteeism (Esping-Andersen, 1990; Kolberg, 1991). At the same time, while the extensive public sector enhances women's employment chances, it also limits their earnings capacity and occupational attainment. That is, it reinforces the concentration of women in female-typed occupations offering convenient working conditions but restraining them from obtaining high-paying positions, therefore contributing to the widening of gender wage gaps (Mandel & Semyonov, 2005).

Besides family policies, the basis for the employment behaviour of women as mothers might be formed by the gender culture comprising the values, models, and belief systems concerning the gendered relationship of the family to employment and childcare (Pfau-Effinger, 2012). Motherhood penalties in terms of employment and earnings may be larger in countries with the dominant male breadwinner ideology. Similarly, gender
ideologies emphasizing mothers' care for children may result in lower rates of maternal employment. On the contrary, in countries where gender culture implies both men's and women's contribution to the household income, one may find smaller motherhood-based employment and earnings differences. However, it should be kept in mind that gender ideology and institutional measures are not independent, that is family policies are influenced and conditioned by cultural contexts and norms. This means that the association between gender culture and women's or maternal employment might simply reflect the impact of family policies. Indeed, cross-national comparative studies show that in countries with more egalitarian gender-role attitudes (where population supports a more equal division of household and paid labour between men and women), female labour supply is greater than in countries with less egalitarian attitudes (where the population holds that women should be involved more in household labour and less in paid labour than men), they provide no evidence on an independent effect of contextual culture net of institutional measures (e.g. Pettit & Hook, 2005; Steiber & Haas, 2009; Uunk & Lersch, 2019).

The institutional and cultural factors might unequally affect the employment opportunities of mothers from different family backgrounds. In countries with limited state support for female employment (i.e., lack of public childcare services, long and poorly compensated maternity leave, absence of father leave policies) and traditional gender norms, the role of parental resources, such as networks, financial support, might be particularly important for arranging childcare and maintaining labour force attachment. Moreover, advantaged family background might mitigate the employers' statistical discrimination against mothers based on negative perceptions of their productivity and commitment, which might be especially pronounced in countries with the dominant male breadwinner ideology and poor family policies.

2.2 Labour market structure and regulation

In addition to family policies and cultural context, maternal employment might be affected by the characteristics of the labour market, such as its structure and degree of flexibility, general unemployment rate, and availability of part-time jobs.

The empirical evidence shows that there is a negative association between unemployment and women's probability of being employed (e.g., Pettit & Hook, 2005; Van Ham & Buchel, 2006). However, one needs to keep in mind that the mechanisms underlying the impact of unemployment on women's labour market participation are not straightforward. While high female unemployment is likely to dampen women's labour force participation, high rates of male unemployment may have the opposite impact (e.g. Jaumotte, 2004) making women compensate for their partner's unemployment ("added worker effect"). Furthermore, such "added worker effects" might occur in some (e.g. Germany) but not in other countries (e.g. the UK, where unemployment benefits are means-tested against family income) (McGinnity, 2004).

The lack of part-time opportunities is commonly expected to limit women in their employment options, i.e., more mothers would enter the labour force if such opportunities were widely available (e.g., Del Boca, 2002). Indeed, the availability of part-time work may allow women to combine employment with childcare thus encouraging some mothers to maintain labour market attachment instead of quitting their jobs. At the same time, part-time employment may also have a reverse effect on women's labour supply, making them work shorter hours. The existing evidence shows that the effect of part-time opportunities is not the same across the countries. The increase in part-time opportunities correlates positively with women's workforce participation only in countries where parttime jobs provide equivalent social protection and stability as full-time employment. In contrast, in contexts where part-time employment is linked to lower wages and poorer career prospects, it inevitably exacerbates labour market segmentation on a gender basis as well as a gendered division of paid and unpaid work, thereby bounding women to a role as secondary earners (Barbieri et al. 2019). It has been shown that the regional availability of part-time jobs fosters women's employment in Italy but not in France or the UK, where this type of work arrangement is likely to be of lower quality and highly penalized (Del Boca et al., 2009). Moreover, the diffusion of part-time work is beneficial particularly for women's active labour force participation in Continental/Conservative and even more so in the Mediterranean countries where the institutional and normative context supports the (modified) male breadwinner model and where the gender employment gap is accordingly high (Barbieri et al. 2019).

Furthermore, maternal employment might be affected by the country's labour market structure, in particular, by the size of the secondary segment. According to institutional economics, in advanced economies, the labour markets are characterised by nonuniformity, namely by their segmentation into two sectors: capital-intensive or primary, and labour-intensive or secondary. Employees in the primary segment have stable, skilled jobs, requiring significant knowledge and experience, get high wages, good working conditions, and opportunities for promotion. Furthermore, the workers in this segment have considerable market power since they are protected by unions, and their wage contracts are generally covered by job security legislation, which makes the turnover costs high for the employers. In contrast, employees in the secondary sector get rather unstable and unskilled jobs characterised by low wages, bad working conditions, irregular working hours, and limited career prospects. They may be dismissed at any time with little or no cost to the employer due to their almost negligible market power and the fact that wages are often set through informal agreements.

The labour market dualism can be also considered through the lens of the insideroutsider theory (Lindbeck & Snower, 1988) which distinguishes three groups of workers depending on turnover costs: (1) the "insiders", experienced incumbent employees, whose jobs are protected by high turnover costs; (2) the "entrants", who have recently secured jobs with a future prospect of obtaining insider status, but whose current positions are not characterised by considerable turnover costs; and (3) the "outsiders", who have no protection and are either unemployed or work in the informal sector, providing limited security. In the context of the dual labour market theory, incumbent employees in the primary sector represent 'insiders', while 'outsiders' are either unemployed or workers in the secondary sector. The empirical evidence shows that women are disproportionately overrepresented in outsider jobs (e.g., Esping-Andersen, 1999; Schwander and Häusermann, 2013). In contrast to men, women are more likely to work part-time (especially mothers) and have temporary jobs or career interruptions. In addition, they are more likely to hold low-income jobs with few career prospects, even in the case of fulltime or standard employment contracts (ILO, 2019).

On the one hand, disadvantaged groups, such as mothers, have higher probabilities of securing employment in the secondary labour market, which is less constrained by institutional regulations and where occupational experience and other human capital characteristics matter very little. Therefore, in countries with a relatively larger secondary segment and a stronger demand for unskilled or low-skilled labour, women with children should have on average fewer difficulties in getting a job. This means that the motherhood

employment penalty should be lower. On the other hand, the jobs in the secondary segment are highly unstable and characterised by frequent and extended unemployment spells (Vishwanath, 1989; Blanchard & Diamond, 1994). Moreover, the "outsiders" have limited access to generalised or specific on-the-job training which makes it difficult to enhance one's human capital and compete for new positions. This suggests high unemployment rates among vulnerable groups and a lack of mobility between primary and secondary segments, leading to a permanent attachment to the outsiders' sector.

The flexibility of a labour market in a certain country is determined by the extent of its regulation which might affect employment chances, particularly among individuals in vulnerable groups. A key element of labour market regulation is Employment Protection Legislation (EPL) which comprises policies concerning hiring and firing and constraints on employers' rights to terminate at will or to use short-term, contingent, or temporary (i.e., precarious) hiring contracts. In countries with a more stringent EPL, where dismissal costs are high, employers make hiring decisions based on a scrupulous screening rather than on a trial-and-error approach. Given the uncertainty about an applicant's actual productivity, employers seeking to mitigate the risk of a bad match pay attention not only to observable and clear signals of appropriate skills (such as educational credentials and experience) but also to ascriptive characteristics, such as gender or immigrant status (Kogan, 2007). This results in a higher probability of statistical or error discrimination practices and activation of stereotypes among employers. Thus, under the constraints of the strict EPL, firms might be less likely to hire mothers compared to men or childless women, which might further amplify the divide between outsiders and insiders.

Since EPL concerns mainly the primary segment, employers in the secondary segment are less likely to scrutinize ascriptive characteristics and more likely to test employees' characteristics on the job, even in countries with overall strict labour market regulation. The reason is that the hiring process operates according to profit-maximisation principles and the costs of a bad match are relatively low. This means that mothers should have a lower unemployment disadvantage in countries with stronger demand for unskilled or low-skilled, secondary labour market jobs, even when the EPL is stringent. On the contrary, in countries with strict EPL and limited secondary segments, women with children are expected to have lower chances of entering the labour force. However, as it was mentioned previously, it should be kept in mind that secondary labour market jobs are generally temporary and more unstable, being susceptible to business cycle fluctuations and economic restructuring.

The impact of labour market characteristics on mothers' employment probabilities might differ among women from better-off families and those from less privileged backgrounds. In rigid labour markets, where dismissal costs are high and employers tend to make hiring decisions based on a scrupulous screening, taking into account the ascriptive characteristics of the candidates (such as parenthood status and gender), mothers from less privileged families might be particularly disadvantaged compared to their counterparts from better-off families, facing a double penalization. Moreover, limited secondary segment and scant part-time jobs might further restrict the employment chances of mothers with disadvantaged social origins, not having an opportunity to rely on parental networks and financial resources.

2.3 Welfare regimes as the basis for comparative analysis

The studies addressing the cross-country differences in female/maternal labour market supply usually adopt a typology of welfare regimes proposed by Esping-Andersen (1990) which is based on country differences in labour markets and their regulation, as well as welfare provisions. According to this typology, three models of the welfare state are distinguished: social-democratic, liberal, and conservative-corporatist. Although the three welfare regimes do not exist in pure form, representing ideal types or approximations of the most prevailing characteristics within a cluster of countries, the proposed typology provides an important interpretative framework for comparative analysis.

According to Esping-Andersen (1990), the key targets of welfare state intervention, class, and gender stratification, are tackled by decommodification and defamilialization. The former is accomplished through substitutes for wages, either directly by means of income transfers or indirectly by providing free or subsidized goods and services (e.g., free education and health services, insurance against sickness, and public housing). The latter is realized through care services that support the reconciliation of women's paid work and household responsibilities. Moreover, the decommodification of health and education services, or defamilialization of child and elder care, results in the third function, that is, the welfare state as employer, providing jobs for women and labour-

force entrants (Esping-Andersen, 1990). The three roles influence the cross-country differences in female labour market outcomes.

The social-democratic regime, encompassing Scandinavian countries (Sweden, Denmark, Norway, Finland), represents all three welfare state roles with a high level of decommodification, defamilialization, and a large public sector of employment (Mandel & Shalev, 2009). It is based on the principles of egalitarianism, encouraging equality across classes, and universalism, ensuring full responsibility of the state for guaranteeing the welfare of its citizens regardless of market forces in general and the citizens' own market activity in particular. The labour market is generally quite flexible providing many low-skilled service jobs in the public sector, although not in the private sector (Esping-Andersen, 1999). In general, weak economic incentives may result in long-term unemployment and welfare dependency.

Given the principle of egalitarianism, the social-democratic regime is committed to enhancing gender equality in several ways. First, state-subsidized child-care services facilitate female employment. The universalistic approach to this measure leads to the integration of less committed workers into the labor market, which partially explains a higher concentration of women in the public sector and female-dominated occupations (Hansen, 1995). Second, monetary remunerations for childcare (in the form of paid maternity and paternity leaves, child allowances, and tax relief for children) improve women's economic position and support their economic independence. Third, part-time employment guarantees continuous engagement of mothers in the labor force. It is offered as a temporary stage during early childrearing, with a further transition to full-time employment. Consequently, it is not perceived by employers as a signal of lower commitment. Moreover, part-time work is characterised by conditions similar to full-time employment, including employment benefits, union protection, and access to good jobs. With this regard, one would expect relatively higher rates of employment and its continuity for mothers in countries with a social-democratic welfare regime.

The liberal regime, comprising English-speaking countries (e.g., the USA, Australia, the UK), is the opposite of the social-democratic regime as it implies the primacy of the market in providing social and family services. State intervention occurs only when the market fails. The social programs are designated mainly for the working class and the poor and means-tested assistance is prevalent. The regime is characterised by high labour

market flexibility and weak, decentralised industrial relations. Theoretically, it should result in more jobs for the low-skilled and prevention of long-term unemployment (Andersen & Halvorsen, 2002). At the same time, the liberal regime is also associated with large wage disparities and much poverty.

The division of household responsibilities in liberal welfare countries is determined by the market. Men, having better labour market positions and being free of childcare duties (both normatively and practically), are expected to devote most of their time to work. Women are limited in their time allocation decisions and are forced to weigh the costs and benefits of paid work against household responsibilities. Poor public childcare provisions and usually short and poorly compensated parental leaves make work-family reconciliation problematic. Part-time employment is mainly found in a limited number of occupations and dead-end, temporary jobs with scarce career prospects (Stier et al., 2001). Moreover, it is typically considered by employers as a signal of lower commitment to work compared to full-time employment (Kishler & Alexander, 1987). As a consequence, countries with a liberal welfare regime are usually characterised by a strong selection of mothers into labour market based on expected rewards and their orientation toward work (Blakemore & Drake, 1996; Hansen, 1995). Those who have lower earnings and higher costs of childcare are likely to experience employment interruptions, whereas those who can "afford" childcare are likely to continue their employment.

In conservative-corporatist welfare regime (e.g., Germany, France, Austria, Italy, Spain), the state rather than the market is likely to be responsible for providing welfare. At the same time, it does not promote redistribution or equalisation, keeping the existing class and status differentials. The regime is characterised by highly segregated, segmented, and rigid labour markets with substantial labour costs, rather compressed wage structures, employment-based social insurance, and, as a consequence, strong insider-outsider divisions (Kogan, 2007).

The conservative-corporatist regime promotes a traditional division of household responsibilities, both normatively and institutionally, with no attempt to enhance gender equality. Men are considered breadwinners and granted strong job protection. A high degree of defamilialization implies that childcare is mainly provided by women. Family policies, including the tax regime and undeveloped public childcare facilities, foster women's withdrawal from (or limit their involvement in) labour market, especially when

they have young children (Stier et al., 2001). Part-time employment is viewed as a form of female labour market integration. Given the main role of women as caregivers and housewives, part-time jobs are likely to be found in female-type, secondary sectors of employment. At the same time, they are characterised by employment benefits and union protection similar to full-time jobs. Therefore, due to the dominance of traditional gender norms and poor labour market opportunities, especially for young mothers, one would expect a high likelihood of unemployment and work interruptions among women with children in countries with a conservative-corporatist welfare regime. Moreover, because of the concentration of mothers in secondary jobs with relatively low wages, intermittent employment may not be costly to women.

The post-socialist countries of Central and Eastern Europe are usually analysed as a separate specific group. Women's employment patterns have been historically different in these countries compared to Western Europe. As a consequence of the socialist emphasis on maximum utilization of labour force potential, female employment rates in Eastern Europe in the period from the 1960s until the political turnover in 1989 were much higher than in Western Europe. Under the "dual earner-female double burden model", women were supposed to contribute to the household budget and, at the same time, be the main care providers for their families. This model was encouraged by generous social policies, job guarantees, and low competition in the labour market. The breakdown of socialism brought changes in the labour market structure, as well as the reduction in public support for families, both in terms of income and provision of services. At the same time, the female dual burden persisted, resulting in greater difficulty in reconciling work and family responsibilities. Despite this challenge, mothers in Central and Eastern Europe still tend to return to full-time employment relatively quickly after childbearing (Matysiak, 2011). As for the labour markets in general, they were extremely rigid during the socialist era, with administrative assignment and life-long job security, restricted dismissals, as well as uniform job classifications and wage scales set at the national level (Cook, 2010). Since 1990, however, the Central and Eastern European countries have adopted legislation that made the labour markets more flexible.

3. Research questions and hypotheses

While several studies have analysed the heterogeneity of maternal employment by educational level, no research has been done with respect to the impact of social class of origin on a mother's occupation. The importance of considering family background can be explained by two reasons. First, even though there is a strong positive association between one's education and social class of origin, family background influences one's occupational outcomes over and above the educational level. In other words, education does not explain the total impact of social origin. Second, the direct effect of social origin might add up to the effect of motherhood resulting in a cumulative disadvantage or compensate for the negative impact of childbearing on women's employment chances. That is, on the one hand, women with children coming from disadvantaged backgrounds might be particularly penalized in terms of their employment opportunities. On the other hand, mothers from better-off families might be more likely employed thanks to the DESO mechanisms at work, such as, for instance, direct inheritance of the family business, financial support for starting their own entrepreneurial activities, getting a job thanks to parental social networks, higher motivations to return to paid work after childbearing, as well as a lower likelihood of being discriminated by employers. Thus, the first research question of the study and the relative hypothesis can be formulated as follows:

RQ1: Do mothers with advantaged social origin have higher chances of being employed compared to mothers with less privileged backgrounds, net of the educational level?

H1: Mothers with advantaged social origin have higher chances of being employed compared to mothers with less privileged backgrounds, net of the educational level.

Furthermore, the DESO might interact with the number of children in the family. On the one hand, the higher the number of children, the greater the burden of household responsibilities, which makes the resources of the family of origin particularly important for work-family reconciliation and for mitigating the negative perceptions of employers regarding the mothers' productivity. On the other hand, the higher number of children might be associated with the higher economic necessity of being employed, especially for women from disadvantaged backgrounds. Thus, the second research question can be formulated as follows: *RQ2*: Does the DESO on the employment probability of mothers change according to the number of children?

The theoretical expectations regarding this question are not straightforward, thus no hypothesis is developed.

The impact of social class of origin on a mother's employment might also vary depending on her husband's own social class. While previous studies have focused only on the combinations of a partner's resources with a woman's own educational level (Bernardi, 1999) or ISEI (Vandecasteele & Esche, 2015), no research has considered the family background of a woman. As specified in section 1.2, the impact of a partner's resources can be explained based on the New Home Economics (Becker, 1991) or social capital theory. The empirical evidence shows that the former applies to the labour supply, while the latter accounts for the occupational outcomes (Bernardi, 1999). Although the New Home Economics predicts a negative relationship between the husband's social class and the wife's labour supply, the effect might not be the same for mothers from different family backgrounds. There are at least two reasons to expect that having a partner belonging to upper or middle social classes may provide a weak incentive to leave the labour market for women from advantaged family backgrounds. First, women from better-off families in general have a higher probability of being employed as well as a higher likelihood of occupying better jobs and, thus, a higher opportunity cost for not working. Second, women who have grown up in advantaged families are more likely to develop gender-egalitarian attitudes and less traditional views on household division of labour (Kalmin & Kraaykamp, 2007). Therefore, the effect of the husband's resources might lead to a risk of cumulative advantage for women from better-off social origins. With this regard, the third research question and the relative hypothesis can be formulated as follows:

RQ3: Does the impact of the partner's higher social standing result in a cumulative advantage for mothers from upper and middle social classes of origin?

H3: A higher social class of partner disincentivises the employment of mothers from disadvantaged families but has no effect on employment probabilities of mothers from advantaged social origins.

In addition, the study also poses the following question:

RQ4: Does the impact of the partner's social class of origin on employment probabilities of mothers from different social origins vary according to the number of children in the family?

In addition to individual-level factors, the employment of mothers is determined by the macro context characterised by the country's family policies, gender norms, and labour market structure and regulations. Although there is a large number of studies that investigate cross-country differences in women's employment (e.g., Pfau-Effinger, 2012; Stier et al, 2001; Fortin, 2005), as well as the studies that model female labour supply based on micro-data in single countries, limited attention has been paid to the variation in the impact of individual factors by national contexts. Therefore, the fifth research question of this study is set in the following way:

RQ5: How does the DESO on employment probabilities of mothers differ across the countries?

In this study, the comparisons are made between eleven countries belonging to different welfare regimes and having different labour market structures and regulations: Sweden, Denmark, Czech Republic, Poland Germany, Austria, Switzerland, France, Italy, Spain, and Greece.

First, the differences in motherhood employment penalties among women from advantaged and disadvantaged origins might be particularly pronounced in countries with low state support for female employment (such as poor public provision of childcare, limited part-time opportunities, long and poorly paid maternity leaves) and strong traditional gender-role attitudes. The parental resources might provide additional support in terms of arranging private childcare services. Moreover, the advantaged background might mitigate the employers' statistical discrimination against mothers based on negative perceptions of their productivity and commitment, which might be particularly strong in the countries with the above-mentioned characteristics. Second, as discussed in section 2.2, the differences in motherhood employment penalties among women from advantaged and disadvantaged origins might be relatively larger in the countries with strict EPL and limited secondary segment. In rigid labour markets, where dismissal costs are high, employers make hiring decisions based on a scrupulous screening, taking into account the ascriptive characteristics of the candidates (such as parenthood status and gender). This results in a higher probability of statistical or error discrimination practices and activation of stereotypes against mothers. However, as mentioned above, the advantaged social origin might offset the negative perceptions about the productivity and commitment of mothers. Since EPL concerns mainly the primary segment, the larger the secondary segment the more alternative employment chances (although of a low quality) are available for women, especially for those who are coming from disadvantaged families. Employers in the secondary segment are less likely to scrutinize ascriptive characteristics and more likely to test the workers' characteristics on the job, even in countries with overall strict labour market regulation.

Based on these considerations, it is expected that in Sweden and Denmark, the countries belonging to social-democratic welfare regime and characterised by high labour market flexibility, the motherhood employment penalty, as well as the differences in its magnitude among women from upper/middle and lower social classes of origin, will be the smallest. Both countries provide extensive public childcare services, and short-paid parental leave schemes, limiting skill attrition whilst allowing mothers to keep their position in the labour market. Moreover, both countries are characterised by open and egalitarian mobility opportunities, expanded public service sector employment, limited demand for unskilled and low-skilled jobs, and quality part-time jobs. These contextual factors suggest the availability of employment opportunities, especially for mothers of lower socioeconomic backgrounds, and less likelihood of employer's discrimination practices.

On the other hand, it is expected that the motherhood disadvantage of women from lower social classes compared to women from better-off families will be the largest in several countries belonging to conservative-corporatist welfare regime, such as Germany, France, and Austria. These three countries are characterised by rigid labour markets with substantial labour costs, which implies that employers' hiring decisions are likely to be affected by ascriptive characteristics, such as social class of origin. Moreover, undeveloped public childcare facilities together with strong traditional attitudes toward gender roles, foster women's withdrawal from (or limit their involvement in) labour market, especially when they have young children, and consequently fuel employers' stereotypes about productivity and commitment of mothers. At the same time, the advantaged family background might eliminate or limit employers' negative perceptions since women from service- or middle-class families might demonstrate increased career motivations and have better financial opportunities for affording private childcare services.

Despite the fact that Southern-European countries (Italy, Spain, Greece) have even more rigid labour markets compared to Germany, France, and Austria, the differences in motherhood penalties between the two groups of women are expected to be relatively lower due to the presence of large secondary segment not subject to strict regulations and thus providing easy access to employment. The existence of an extensive secondary segment in Southern Europe is related to unsatisfied demand for low-skilled labour, as a result of weak welfare systems and the lack of public care services. In addition, these countries are characterised by the prevalence of small and micro firms for which labour regulation either is looser or it is only partially or not all enforced. Therefore, the hypothesis related to the fifth research question can be outlined as follows:

H5: The differences in motherhood employment penalties among women from advantaged and disadvantaged origins are the smallest in Sweden and Denmark, while in Germany, Austria, and France the gaps between the two groups are the largest.

4. Data, variables, and methods

The study is based on SHARELIFE data, a retrospective survey focusing on people's life histories including all the important areas of respondents' lives, ranging from partners and children to housing and work history to detailed questions on health and health care. The two waves (w. 3, release 7.0.0, and w. 7, release 7.0.0) were merged and harmonized, women were linked to their partners. The analytical sample is based on the selection of women of 25-55 years who had at least one episode of employment and includes eleven countries: Sweden, Denmark, Czech Republic, Poland Germany, Austria, Switzerland, France, Italy, Spain, Greece. The sample covers the years from 1955 to 2017 and four cohorts: 1930s, 1940s, 1950s, and 1960s. The observations with missing cases on independent and control variables introduced below were excluded, which yielded an analytical sample of 326,443 observations from 10,758 women.

Since there might be problems of selection, employment can be considered sufficient for studying labour market penalization of mothers (for instance, in Italy employment of women, especially mothers, is concentrated among high earners, therefore mothers with low income are not represented in the sample simply because they do not work). Thus, the dependent variable in this study is a dummy for being employed. The independent variables are (contingent on a specific model) the number of children (0 – no children, 1 – one child, 2 – two or more children) or a children dummy.

Fixed-effects (FE) models were used to answer the research questions as they allow to solve the problem of unobserved heterogeneity and obtain unbiased estimates under the assumption that the unobserved characteristics and their effect on the outcome of interest are time-invariant. In the first step, FE models were estimated separately for two categories of a woman's social class of origin (1 - middle or service class, 2 - working class) operationalized through a dominance principle:

$$(Y_{it} - \overline{Y}_{i}) = \beta(X_{it} - \overline{X}_{i}) + (\alpha_{i} - \overline{\alpha}_{i}) + (\varepsilon_{it} - \overline{\varepsilon}_{i})$$
(9),

where X_{it} is the vector of time-varying regressors (age squared, year, region of residence, civil status (0 – single, 1 – engaged, 2 – married, 3 – divorced) and number of children), ε_{it} is a time-varying error term (idiosyncratic error term), α_i is a person-specific time-constant error term. Since demeaning wipes out person-specific time-constant unobserved heterogeneity, ($\alpha_i - \overline{\alpha}_i$) = 0.

In the second step, FE models with interaction terms between the number of children and partner's social class (1 - Service/Middle, 2 - Working, 3 - single/divorced/or widowed women) were estimated separately for two categories of a woman's social class of origin. The models controlled for age squared, year, and region of residence. In the third step, fixed-effects models were estimated separately for 22 groups of women depending on their social class of origin and country of residence. The independent variable in these models was children dummy, while control variables were age squared, year, region of residence, and civil status.

5. Results

Figure 12 shows the results with respect to relative employment probabilities obtained from the FE models estimated separately for two categories of a woman's social class of

origin⁴. Compared to childless women, mothers are penalized in terms of their employment probability and this disadvantage increases with the number of children, irrespective of the social class of origin. However, women coming from service and middle social classes face lower penalties in contrast to women of working-class origin. This means that even under the condition of equal levels of education, mothers from disadvantaged backgrounds fare worse than their counterparts from middle- or upper-class families.



Figure 12 - Employment probability (ref. childless women) by social class of origin.

Moreover, the direct effect of the social class of origin together with the number of children creates a cumulative disadvantage. The transition from a one-child family to a family with two or more children is associated with a 0.03 p.p. decrease in the relative employment probability of women with better-off origins, while for women from working-class backgrounds, the relative employment propensity falls by 0.06 p.p. Therefore, the results confirm hypothesis 1, claiming that mothers with advantaged social origin have higher chances of being employed compared to mothers with less privileged backgrounds, net of the educational level. This means that motherhood status combined with the direct effect of social origin generates a cumulative disadvantage, the mechanisms of which might be related to the direct inheritance of the family business, financial support for starting own entrepreneurial activities, getting a job thanks to parental social networks, higher motivations to return to paid work after childbearing, as

⁴ Full table (A11) is provided in the Appendix to Chapter 4

well as a lower likelihood of being discriminated by employers. In addition, the cumulative disadvantage for mothers from lower-class families is further amplified by the impact of the number of children in the family. This might suggest that the increased burden of household responsibilities associated with a higher number of children makes the resources of the family of origin particularly important for work-family reconciliation and for mitigating the negative perceptions of employers regarding the mothers' productivity. The data used in this study, however, do not allow testing of the possible mechanisms behind the outcomes revealed. Future studies might tackle this issue by implementing experimental research designs.



Figure 13 - Employment probability (ref. childless women) by a woman's social class of origin and her partner's own social class.

In the following step of the analysis, the social class of a woman's partner was introduced in the model in order to investigate whether a husband's high social status might compensate for the disadvantage of women with working-class backgrounds or further boost the advantage of women from service and middle social classes of origin. Figure 13 shows the results from the FE models with interaction terms between the number of children and partner's social class estimated separately for two categories of a woman's social class of origin⁵. For mothers with one child, a partner's social standing makes no difference in their employment propensities, irrespective of their own family background. In contrast, in families with two or more children, a partner's higher social

⁵ Full table (A12) is provided in the Appendix to Chapter 4

standing provides a substantial advantage for women from middle or upper social classes of origin, while it does not attenuate the motherhood penalty for women from less privileged backgrounds. Thus, the impact of the partner's social class on the magnitude of the motherhood penalty of women from different social classes of origin is limited to families with two or more children. Moreover, in contrast to the expectations (H3), it is found that the partner's social class has no impact on employment of women from disadvantaged families, while it counts for women with two or more children from betteroff families. Therefore, the role of the partner's social class has a limited impact on the employment probability of mothers and does not eliminate or substantially moderate the direct effect of social origins.

To analyse whether the direct effect of social origin on motherhood employment penalties varies across national contexts, the FE models were estimated separately for 22 groups of women depending on their social class of origin and country of residence. The results are reported in Figure 14 and Figure 15⁶. The former shows the motherhood employment penalties for women of different family backgrounds, while the latter displays average predicted probabilities of employment for women with or without children coming from different social classes.

Germany, Austria, and Switzerland show the largest motherhood penalties for women, irrespective of their social origins. Moreover, these countries also display substantial differences in motherhood employment gaps among women from different family backgrounds: 12 p.p., 10 p.p., and 13 p.p., respectively. These outcomes might be related to the rigidity of labour markets (in Germany and Austria), traditional or modernized male breadwinner model along with a familialistic care regime. Although, in terms of gender regime Switzerland, like Germany and Austria, belongs to a conservative cluster, the labour market regulation in this country is much less rigid. In particular, Switzerland is characterised by weak employment protection, low collective bargaining coverage, and the absence of a legal minimum wage (Murphy & Oesch, 2018). The combination of market-liberal institutions, low rates of unemployment, and intense work migration results in a highly competitive labour market.

⁶ Full tables (A13-A16) are provided in the Appendix to Chapter 4



Figure 14 - Employment probability (ref. childless women) by social class of origin and country.

Moreover, the Swiss occupational structure is strongly sex-segregated with substantial mobility barriers between the segments: access to a specific segment depends on holding the appropriate occupation-specific certificate (Buchmann et al, 2010). Expensive childcare, together with strong competitiveness and segmentation of the labour market might explain the substantial DESO found for mother's employment in Switzerland. Such a national context might result in the activation of stereotypes against mothers' labour market performance, as well as discrimination based on ascriptive characteristics.

As expected, although Southern-European countries (Italy and Spain) are characterised by the highly segmented labour market, where strong rigidity is associated with large unformal flexibility, the gaps in motherhood employment penalties between women from the upper classes and women coming from disadvantaged backgrounds in these national contexts are almost non-existent and not statistically significant. On the one hand, this outcome might be explained by the existence of a large secondary segment not subject to strict regulations and thus providing easy access to employment. On the other hand, this result might be related to the fact that, in general, Southern-European countries, characterised by the prevalence of the male breadwinner model and limited formal caring services, show the lowest female employment rates in Europe, which can also be seen from Figure 15, so that DESO makes almost no difference for motherhood penalties. The exception in the group of Southern-European countries is Greece, for which there is a substantial difference (16 p.p.) in motherhood employment penalty between the two groups of women. However, this result should be treated with caution due to the high uncertainty of the estimates for women from working-class families resulting from the limited number of observations.

The results, similar to Italy and Spain, are the Czech Republic, although the latter country shows, on average, relatively higher employment rates for women of both social origin groups. As for Poland, although it shares the same labour market characteristics, gender ideology, and family policies as the Czech Republic, the results show a slightly larger relative disadvantage in terms of employment probability for women of working-class social origin in this country (6 p.p.).



Figure 15 - Average predicted employment probabilities by social class of origin (dark bars – service and middle social class of origin, grey bars – working class of origin) and country.

Since both countries are characterised by highly rigid labour markets (at least till the start of the transitional period), absence of part-time work opportunities for women, and emphasis on mothers' responsibility for childcare, one would expect similarly substantial DESO on motherhood employment penalties. At the same time, the results for the Czech Republic and Poland should be treated with caution since the labour markets in these countries experienced substantial changes in the period of transition. Thus, further analysis should deepen the understanding of country-specific mechanisms underlying the impact of family background on motherhood employment gaps.

The outcomes for Sweden confirm the expectations of limited differences in motherhood penalties among women from different family backgrounds, while Denmark does not fit the hypothesis. However, the estimate for working-class women in the latter country is highly uncertain due to the limited number of observations.

6. Conclusions

This study has focused on the interplay between the family-of-origin (social class of origin) and the family-of-destination (motherhood, partner's resources) factors in shaping women's employment outcomes. Starting one's own family and moving to parenthood is a major life course event and one of the key factors leading to the differences in workforce participation and wages between men and women (gender gap), as well as between mothers and non-mothers (motherhood penalty). Although several studies have examined the role of education for women's employment, there is no evidence on how social origin, net of educational achievement, might impact the labour market outcomes associated with motherhood. The importance of addressing this question is related to the fact that DESO might create a cumulative disadvantage for mothers from less privileged backgrounds or compensate for the motherhood penalty for women from better-off origins.

The results of this study showed that mothers with advantaged social origins had higher chances of being employed compared to mothers with less privileged backgrounds, net of the educational level. Although the data used in this study did not allow to analyse the underlying mechanisms, it might be hypothesized that such outcome is related to the direct inheritance of the family business, financial support for starting own entrepreneurial activities, getting a job thanks to parental social networks, higher motivations to return to paid work after childbearing, as well as a lower likelihood of being discriminated by employers. It should also be noted that the cumulative disadvantage for mothers from lower-class families was further amplified by the impact of the number of children in the family. This might suggest that the increased burden of household and care responsibilities associated with a higher number of children makes the resources of the family of origin particularly important for work-family reconciliation and for mitigating the negative perceptions of employers regarding the mothers' productivity.

Further, the study examined whether there was an interaction between the resources of the family of origin and the partner's resources in shaping the mothers' employment chances. Contrary to the expectations, it was found that the partner's social standing had no effect on the workforce participation of mothers from disadvantaged families. At the same time, a partner's higher social class partially mitigated the motherhood employment penalty for women from better-off origins, although this impact was limited to families with two or more children.

In the final step, the study focused on cross-country comparisons of DESO on motherhood. In accordance with the theoretical expectations, it was found that the employment disadvantage of mothers from working-class families compared to mothers from middle- or upper-class families was relatively larger in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland. These countries are characterised by low state support for female employment (in particular, poor public provision of childcare) and traditional gender-role attitudes, which might facilitate employers' negative perceptions regarding the productivity and commitment of mothers. At the same, time these discrimination practices might be counterbalanced by more favourable attitudes towards women from better-off families. Moreover, family resources might be particularly important for arranging private childcare services. In addition, Germany and Austria are countries with rigid labour markets, which means that the dismissal costs are high and employers are likely to make hiring decisions based on a scrupulous screening, taking into account the ascriptive characteristics of the candidates (such as parenthood status, gender, and social origin). Although, in terms of state regulation, the labour market in Switzerland is more liberal, its highly competitive and segmented nature may also reinforce employers' discriminatory practices based on ascriptive characteristics.

Relatively lower differences in motherhood penalties between the women from betteroff origins and those from less privileged families were found in Sweden and Southern European countries (Italy, Spain). For Sweden, this outcome might be explained by extensive public support for childcare, open and egalitarian mobility opportunities, and as a result more employment opportunities for mothers and less likelihood of employers' discrimination based on parenthood status, gender, and social origin. On the other hand, for Spain and Italy, countries with highly rigid labour markets and poor public support for childcare, a relatively lower DESO on motherhood penalty might be related to the existence of a large secondary segment not subject to strict regulations and thus providing easy access to employment, especially for mothers from less privileged origins. An alternative explanation might be derived from the fact that these countries show, on average, the lowest female employment rates in Europe, so that DESO makes almost no difference for motherhood penalties.

To conclude, this study confirmed the existence of DESO on employment opportunities of women with children, resulting in a cumulative disadvantage for mothers from less privileged family backgrounds. This effect is further amplified by the number of children in a family, whereas the role of the partner's resources in the interplay with a woman's social origin is limited. A partner's own social standing is found to compensate for the motherhood employment penalty only among women from better-off families having two or more children. Furthermore, a country comparative analysis showed that DESO on motherhood employment penalties operates differently across various national contexts. It appears that relatively larger differences in motherhood penalties among mothers from less privileged backgrounds and those from better-off origins are likely to be found in countries with limited support for female workforce participation, traditional gender role attitudes, as well as highly rigid labour markets, and limited or non-existent secondary segment. In contrast, lower DESO on motherhood employment penalties is likely to occur in contexts with extensive public childcare services, egalitarian gender role attitudes, and flexible labour markets with open mobility patterns. At the same time, DESO seems to be also less pronounced in Southern European countries characterised by very low female employment rates.

It should be noted that the study has important limitations that call for further research on the role of DESO for female employment opportunities. First, the study did not analyse the mechanisms underlying the impact of social origin on the magnitude of the motherhood employment penalty. Second, the data used in this study did not allow the author to include the effect of partner's resources in the analysis of cross-country differences. Third, European countries exhibit substantial regional differences in family policies and labour market characteristics, suggesting that the aggregate national results might be inaccurate when it comes to assessing the role of institutional factors for motherhood penalties. Finally, future studies might enrich the research on mothers' labour market outcomes by analysing the effect of social origin on the motherhood wage penalty and occupational outcomes, as well as how this effect operates around childbirth and over time. With this regard, particular attention could be paid to a woman's pre-birth occupational characteristics, as recent research shows that the lack of flexibility, especially relevant for blue-collar and service occupations, might push mothers out of the labour force. Women employed in occupations characterised by a higher incidence of 40plus-hour workweeks and a larger wage premium to longer work hours are found to be less likely to remain employed after childbirth compared to women in occupations where longer workweeks are less common, and the wage premiums for extended work hours are smaller (Ishizuka & Musick, 2021).

Appendix

Table A11 – Heterogeneity of motherhood employment penalties by social class of origin. Results	
from fixed-effect models.	

VARIABLES	Service or middle	Working	
Number of children (ref. No children)			
One	-0.12***	-0.15***	
	(-0.130.11)	(-0.170.14)	
Two or more	-0.16***	-0.23***	
	(-0.170.15)	(-0.240.21)	
Civil status (ref. Single)			
Engaged	-0.04***	-0.07***	
	(-0.050.03)	(-0.100.04)	
Married	-0.10***	-0.11***	
	(-0.110.08)	(-0.140.08)	
Divorced	-0.04***	-0.08***	
	(-0.050.03)	(-0.110.05)	
Age	0.05***	0.05***	
	(0.05 - 0.05)	(0.04 - 0.05)	
Age#age	-0.00***	-0.00***	
	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	
Constant	-0.07	0.20**	
	(-0.17 - 0.03)	(0.02 - 0.39)	
Observations	268,289	58,154	
Number of id	8,841	1,917	

parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Note: The models also control for region and year

VARIABLES	Service or middle	Working
Number of children (ref. No children)		
One	-0.16***	-0.20***
	(-0.170.15)	(-0.230.18)
Two or more	-0.19***	-0.29***
	(-0.200.18)	(-0.320.27)
Partner's social class (ref. Service or middle)		
Working	0.05***	0.04
6	(0.03 - 0.07)	(-0.01 - 0.08)
Single/divorced/or widowed women	-0.06***	-0.15***
6	(-0.070.05)	(-0.180.12)
Interaction between partner's social class and number of children		``````````````````````````````````````
One child#Working	-0.01	0.01
C	(-0.03 - 0.02)	(-0.04 - 0.07)
One child#Single/divorced/or widowed	· · · · ·	
women	0.01	0.05***
	(-0.00 - 0.02)	(0.02 - 0.08)
Two or more children#Service or middle	0.00	0.00
	(0.00 - 0.00)	(0.00 - 0.00)
Two or more children#Working	-0.06***	0.01
	(-0.080.03)	(-0.04 - 0.06)
Two or more children#Single/divorced/or		
widowed women	-0.00	0.09***
	(-0.01 - 0.01)	(0.06 - 0.12)
Age	0.05***	0.05***
	(0.04 - 0.05)	(0.04 - 0.05)
Age#age	-0.00***	-0.00***
Constant	-0.06	0.26***
	(-0.17 - 0.04)	(0.07 - 0.45)
Observations	268,289	58,154
Number of id	8.841	1.917

Table A12 – Heterogeneity of motherhood employment penalties by social class of origin. Results from fixed-effect models with interaction terms between the number of children and partner's social class.

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 Note: The models also control for region and year

VADIADIES	Sweden		Denmark		Czech republic	
VARIABLES	Service or middle	Working	Service or middle	Working	Service or middle	Working
Presence of children (ref. No)						
Yes	-0.10***	-0.02	-0.02*	-0.22***	-0.05***	-0.09***
Age	(-0.120.08) 0.03***	(-0.08 - 0.03) 0.02***	(-0.05 - 0.00) 0.05***	(-0.320.11) 0.07***	(-0.070.03) 0.05***	(-0.140.04) 0.05***
Age#age	(0.02 - 0.04) -0.00***	(0.01 - 0.04) -0.00***	(0.04 - 0.06) -0.00***	(0.05 - 0.09) -0.00***	(0.05 - 0.06) -0.00***	(0.04 - 0.06) -0.00***
	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)
Civil status (ref. Single)						
Engaged	-0.01	0.05	0.09***	-0.03	-0.02	0.11***
	(-0.04 - 0.02)	(-0.04 - 0.14)	(0.05 - 0.13)	(-0.16 - 0.10)	(-0.06 - 0.02)	(0.03 - 0.19)
Married	-0.05***	0.06	0.07***	-0.12*	-0.03*	0.09**
	(-0.080.01)	(-0.03 - 0.15)	(0.04 - 0.11)	(-0.25 - 0.01)	(-0.06 - 0.00)	(0.02 - 0.17)
Divorced	-0.04**	0.07	0.07***	0.04	0.01	0.11***
	(-0.070.00)	(-0.03 - 0.16)	(0.03 - 0.12)	(-0.09 - 0.18)	(-0.03 - 0.04)	(0.03 - 0.19)
Constant	0.27**	0.39	-0.30	-0.15	-0.15	-0.08
	(0.03 - 0.51)	(-0.10 - 0.89)	(-0.66 - 0.06)	(-0.85 - 0.55)	(-0.43 - 0.13)	(-0.44 - 0.29)
Observations	24,688	4,204	16,309	2,208	31,262	11,199
Number of id	811	137	538	73	1,020	364

Table A13 – Heterogeneity of motherhood employment penalties by social class of origin and country. Results from fixed-effect models. Part 1.

Confidence intervals in

parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Note: The models also control for region and year

	Poland		Germany		Austria	
VARIABLES	Service or middle	Working	Service or middle	Working	Service or middle	Working
Presence of children (ref. No)						
Yes	-0.08***	-0.15***	-0.28***	-0.40***	-0.26***	-0.36***
	(-0.110.06)	(-0.210.08)	(-0.300.26)	(-0.450.35)	(-0.290.24)	(-0.420.31)
Age	0.08***	0.06***	0.03***	0.05***	0.05***	0.05***
Age#age	(0.07 - 0.08) -0.00***	(0.04 - 0.07) -0.00***	(0.03 - 0.04) -0.00***	(0.03 - 0.06) -0.00***	(0.04 - 0.05) -0.00***	(0.04 - 0.06) -0.00***
	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)
Civil status (ref. Single)						
Engaged	-0.06***	-0.01	-0.09***	-0.10**	-0.05**	-0.13***
	(-0.110.02)	(-0.14 - 0.11)	(-0.130.05)	(-0.190.01)	(-0.090.01)	(-0.230.03)
Married	-0.03	-0.02	-0.15***	-0.19***	-0.16***	-0.23***
	(-0.06 - 0.01)	(-0.13 - 0.08)	(-0.180.11)	(-0.270.11)	(-0.200.13)	(-0.320.14)
Divorced	-0.03	-0.01	-0.10***	-0.19***	-0.02	-0.14***
	(-0.08 - 0.01)	(-0.14 - 0.12)	(-0.150.06)	(-0.280.09)	(-0.06 - 0.02)	(-0.230.05)
Constant	-0.79***	0.01	0.27	-0.05	0.13	0.37
	(-1.090.49)	(-0.71 - 0.73)	(-0.07 - 0.61)	(-0.74 - 0.64)	(-0.11 - 0.37)	(-0.18 - 0.92)
Observations	38,632	5,869	29,480	7,471	28,335	7,400
Number of id	1,269	194	975	251	934	242

Table A14 – Heterogeneity of motherhood employment penalties by social class of origin and country. Results from fixed-effect models. Part 2.

Confidence intervals in

parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Note: The models also control for region and year

VARIARIES	Switzerland		France		Italy	
VARIABLES	Service or middle	Working	Service or middle	Working	Service or middle	Working
Presence of children (ref. No)						
Yes	-0.30***	-0.43***	-0.14***	-0.04	-0.09***	-0.07***
	(-0.330.27)	(-0.500.36)	(-0.170.12)	(-0.11 - 0.02)	(-0.110.06)	(-0.110.04)
Age	0.05***	0.04***	0.05***	0.03***	0.05***	0.07***
Age#age	(0.04 - 0.06) -0.00***	(0.02 - 0.06) -0.00***	(0.04 - 0.06) -0.00***	(0.02 - 0.05) -0.00***	(0.05 - 0.06) -0.00***	(0.06 - 0.08) -0.00***
0 0	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)	(-0.000.00)
Civil status (ref. Single)						
Engaged	-0.12***	-0.24***	-0.10***	-0.07	-0.03	-0.11***
	(-0.160.09)	(-0.370.11)	(-0.150.05)	(-0.19 - 0.05)	(-0.06 - 0.01)	(-0.180.04)
Married	-0.28***	-0.54***	-0.19***	-0.12**	-0.06***	-0.06*
	(-0.320.24)	(-0.650.43)	(-0.240.14)	(-0.240.01)	(-0.100.03)	(-0.12 - 0.00)
Divorced	-0.18***	-0.54***	-0.15***	-0.21***	0.00	0.05
	(-0.220.13)	(-0.660.42)	(-0.200.10)	(-0.330.08)	(-0.05 - 0.05)	(-0.06 - 0.17)
Constant	0.02	0.27	0.05	0.38	0.01	-1.23***
	(-0.34 - 0.38)	(-0.28 - 0.82)	(-0.23 - 0.33)	(-0.28 - 1.03)	(-0.35 - 0.38)	(-1.590.88)
Observations	16,280	2,547	19,333	3,883	22,724	8,158
Number of id	547	87	638	128	744	266

Table A15 – Heterogeneity of motherhood employment penalties by social class of origin and country. Results from fixed-effect models. Part 3.

Confidence intervals in

parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 Note: The models also control for region and year

VADIADIES	Spai	n	Greece		
VARIABLES	Service or middle	Working	Service or middle	Working	
Presence of children (ref. No)					
Yes	-0.12***	-0.14***	-0.16***	-0.32***	
Age	(-0.140.10) 0.04^{***} (0.03 - 0.04)	(-0.200.08) 0.03*** (0.01 - 0.04)	(-0.210.11) 0.07*** (0.06 - 0.08)	(-0.460.19) 0.05*** (0.02 - 0.07)	
Age#age	-0.00*** (-0.000.00)	-0.00*** (-0.000.00)	-0.00*** (-0.000.00)	-0.00***	
Civil status (ref. Single)			,	· · · · ·	
Engaged	0.05***	-0.12*	-0.11***	-0.17	
Married	(0.01 - 0.08) -0.17*** (-0.210.14)	(-0.25 - 0.00) -0.09 (-0.20 - 0.03)	(-0.190.04) -0.09*** (-0.150.03)	(-0.38 - 0.04) -0.28*** (-0.460.11)	
Divorced	-0.10***	-0.04	0.01	-0.40***	
Constant	(-0.150.05) 0.14 (-0.04 - 0.32)	(-0.19 - 0.11) 0.34* (-0.02 - 0.71)	(-0.09 - 0.10) -0.85*** (-1.370.34)	(-0.620.19) -0.01 (-0.74 - 0.72)	
Observations	34,570	4,379	6,676	836	
Number of id	1,144	147	221	28	
Confidence intervals in					

Table A16 – Heterogeneity of motherhood employment penalties by social class of origin and country. Results from fixed-effect models. Part 4.

parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Note: The models also control for region and year

Conclusions

This thesis provided compelling empirical evidence on the interplay between social stratification and gender inequality, highlighting the role of the family of origin, on the one hand, and the family of destination, on the other hand.

Most of the studies on IEO have mainly focused on the associations between single parental characteristics, such as education, income, social class or occupational status, and children's educational outcomes. At the same time, less attention has been paid to the overall importance of the family background (which includes unobserved factors, such as parental motivations) and the role of siblings. The first study of this thesis aimed at capturing the total weight of the family background on children's educational outcomes in Italy using the sibling correlation approach. The results showed that family background explained approximately half (49%) of the variation in the likelihood of attending upper secondary education among siblings, in line with previous studies on various educational outcomes. Furthermore, the study emphasized the importance of considering additional statistical measures beyond sibling correlations to fully understand the intricacies of intergenerational educational inequality, as evidenced by the variation in sibling similarity among families with different levels of parental education (Breen & Ermisch, 2021). In addition, the heterogeneity of sibling correlations found for the probability of enrolment in science/industry-oriented curricula within different tracks highlighted the importance of examining not only conventional horizontal dimensions of IEO, such as tracks, but also the distinction among schools with different teaching programmes. Given the educational expansion in most Western European countries, as well as the importance of curricular choices for women's labour market outcomes, future studies should pay more attention to the horizontal dimensions of IEO.

The analysis of sibling correlations in the first study has been complemented by family fixed-effects models, allowing to measure the impact of child-specific factors (gender, birth order, etc.) on within-family differences in educational outcomes, controlling for unobserved confounding variables, which are constant between siblings at the family level and in the environment. The results showed that within better-off families gender differences in attending upper secondary school are non-existent, while they are particularly strong when parents have low levels of education, which confirmed the greater vulnerability of boys compared to girls to the social-origin disadvantage. At the same time, girls were found to be less likely than boys to attend the programs which in the future lead to better labour market prospects, and this disadvantage was particularly large within the technical track. This result indicates that gender inequalities in the choice of more prospective majors exist even if girls and boys are brought up within the same family, suggesting that the differences might arise due to the diverse treatment of parents, teachers, and significant others toward boys and girls, or due to the expressive motivations of male and females related to preferences for certain school subjects and specific occupations (Barone & Assirelli, 2020). Future research might attempt to estimate these factors, their importance, and implications for further educational outcomes. Finally, with respect to the variation of gender differences in educational outcomes by birth order or sibling gender composition, the first study found no substantial and significant differences, suggesting that the choice of the curriculum is probably a result of individual preferences or parental decisions rather than the influence of siblings.

The second study of the thesis focused on the role of the dynamics that take place within the family of destination, namely on family migration. Although geographical mobility provides an opportunity for individuals to find better job opportunities offered in other places and, on average, has a positive impact on occupational attainment, its outcomes are not the same for men and women. It has been shown that migration favours men rather than women, and the roots of this cleavage lie in the context of family. Numerous studies have found that partnered women are more likely than men to find themselves in a position of "tied migrant", relocating in response to their partners' movement and facing negative consequences in terms of their employment chances and earnings.

The tied migration hypothesis remains a theoretical proposition, and its empirical testing has been limited by the scarcity of data that capture information on residential, family, and employment histories both in the country of origin and in the host society. The planning of family migration strategies typically occurs before migration, and this critical period of decision-making involves complex interrelationships between migration decisions and other biographical events (Mulder & Wagner, 1993; Impicciatore & Panichella, 2019). However, cross-sectional data collected in the host societies often do

not capture these pre-migration dynamics, which makes it difficult to test the tied migration hypothesis. As a result, more panel data that track the occupational trajectories of migrants in destination countries and the interplay between family and migration dynamics in the society of origin are needed to advance our understanding of this important phenomenon (see Ballarino & Panichella, 2018).

The use of a large comparative panel data (SHARELIFE) allowed the author to overcome the limitations of the previous research owing to the availability of retrospective information on one's residential changes, employment, and family dynamics. Based on such data it was possible to distinguish various migration patterns and scenarios revealing heterogeneous outcomes, as well as to disentangle the impact of migration from the impact of marriage. Overall, the study showed that the role of migration for female employment is limited. First, it does not eliminate the negative impact of family formation on women's labour market outcomes but creates heterogeneity within the group of single women and within the group of those who are married or engaged. The results revealed that the only beneficial scenario for women in terms of employment opportunities was "single mover", even though in the long run its positive impact disappeared turning into a disadvantage compared to "single stayers". In contrast, the worst outcomes were found for "tied migrants", confirming the existing empirical evidence. Moreover, the initial penalization of female "tied migrants" associated with marriage/cohabitation was amplified by a migration event and increased over age, resulting in a cumulative disadvantage. For the first time, the study analysed the impact of family separation on the employment outcomes of women, which was found to be negative.

The second aspect pointing to the limited role of family migration is that its outcomes were not the same across educational groups, namely its negative effects were limited to upper-secondary and lower-educated women. In contrast, tertiary-educated women were able to avoid the negative consequences of GM and even get benefited across all migration patterns, even when they were *"tied migrants"*. These results might suggest that tertiary-educated women are either more successful in adapting to new places and finding better job opportunities due to the higher levels of human capital compared to lower-educated women, or able to bargain better outcomes in negotiations with their partners and migrate only if this decision brings employment benefits. The third study of the thesis focused on the interplay between the family of destination and the family of origin for women's employment outcomes. On the one hand, social stratification studies point out to the importance of social origin in determining one's occupational attainment. On the other hand, gender inequality research underlines the role of parenthood, a crucial event within the family of destination, in generating gaps in labour market outcomes among women, as well as between males and females. However, there has been no evidence of interaction among these two aspects. The third study, thus, explored how motherhood penalty in terms of employment varies depending on a woman's family background and how her partner's resources interact with the influence of social origin.

The results showed that mothers with advantaged social origins have higher chances of being employed compared to mothers with less privileged backgrounds, net of the educational level. Although the data used in the study did not allow to analyse the underlying mechanisms, it might be hypothesized that such outcome is related to the direct inheritance of the family business, financial support for starting own entrepreneurial activities, getting a job thanks to parental social networks, higher motivations to return to paid work after childbearing, as well as a lower likelihood of being discriminated by employers. The cumulative disadvantage of mothers from less privileged families was further amplified by the impact of the number of children in the family. This might suggest that the increased burden of household and care responsibilities associated with a higher number of children makes the resources of the family of origin particularly important for work-family reconciliation and for mitigating the negative perceptions of employers regarding the mothers' productivity. In contrast, the role of the partner's resources in the interplay with a woman's social origin was found to be limited, as they compensated for the negative impact of motherhood only for women from better-off families having two or more children.

Furthermore, a country comparative analysis showed that DESO on motherhood employment penalties operated differently across various national contexts. Relatively larger differences in motherhood penalties among mothers from less privileged backgrounds and those from better-off origins were likely to be found in countries with limited support for female workforce participation, traditional gender role attitudes, as well as highly rigid labour markets and limited or non-existent secondary segment. In contrast, lower DESO on motherhood employment penalties was likely to occur in contexts with extensive public childcare services, egalitarian gender role attitudes, and flexible labour markets with open mobility patterns. At the same time, DESO seemed to be also less pronounced in Southern European countries characterised by very low female employment rates.

To conclude, the thesis underlined the importance of the processes that happen both within the family of origin and the family of destination in shaping women's educational and labour market outcomes and creating various patterns of cumulative (dis)advantage. On the one hand, the family background shared by the siblings has a substantial weight in determining educational outcomes. On the other hand, even when the common family environment is accounted for, gender discrepancies do not disappear completely, which is particularly important when the choice of major is considered. Despite the reversal of the gender gap in educational attainment, women are still underrepresented in engineering, mathematics, and computer sciences, leading to relatively higher labour market returns. Hence, future research should explore the gender differences in the treatment of parents, teachers, and significant others toward boys and girls, as well as in individual motivations and preferences for certain school subjects or occupations.

In addition to the choice of study field, a crucial factor contributing to gender differences in labour market is the formation of one's own family and the processes happening with it. While individual migration decisions are likely to improve one's occupational attainment, family migration brings negative outcomes for women, which appear already at the moment of separation and increase over age. At the same time, tertiary educated women, moving in response to their husband's relocation, are able to avoid the penalties associated with family migration and even get benefited. These findings leave space for future studies which should investigate the processes of decisionmaking and the mechanisms allowing highly educated women to obtain positive outcomes from family migration.

Finally, this work has shown how the family-of-origin (DESO) and the family-ofdestination (motherhood, partner's resources) factors interact while shaping women's employment outcomes. Mothers from less privileged families have lower chances of being employed compared to mothers from better-off backgrounds, and this disadvantage is further amplified as the number of children increases. Moreover, partner's resources make no difference for the cumulative disadvantage of these mothers, while they compensate for the negative impact of motherhood for women from better-off families having two or more children. In addition, it was shown that the interplay between motherhood and DESO varies across countries having different labour market structures, gender cultures, and welfare regimes. Future studies should uncover the role of the mechanisms underlying DESO for mother's employment, as well as scrutinize the cross-country differences.
References

- Aastrup, W. (ed.) (2007). Guidance and counselling in higher education in European Union member states serial. Aarhus: Narayana Press.
- Abbiati, G., Argentin, G. & Gerosa, T. (2017). Different Teachers for Different Students? Evidence on Teacher-Student Matching and its Consequences in the Italian Case. *Politica Economica*, 1, 12-58.
- Aguirre, J., & Matta, J. (2021). Walking in your footsteps: Sibling spillovers in higher education choices. *Economics of Education Review*, 80, 102062.
- Aisenbrey, S., Evertsson, M., Grunow, D. (2009). Is there a career penalty for mothers' time out? A comparison of Germany, Sweden and the United States. *Social Forces*, 88 (2), 573–605.
- Akerlof, G.A. & Kranton, R.E. (2000). Economics and identity. *The Quarterly Journal* of *Economics*, 115(3), 715-753.
- Akerlof, G.A. & Kranton, R.E. (2002). Identity and schooling: Some lessons for the economics of education. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 40(4), 1167-1201.
- Allison, P. D. (2009). Fixed Effects Regression Models. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Amin, V. (2009). Sibling sex composition and educational outcomes: A review of theory and evidence for the UK. *Labour*, 23(1), 67–96.
- Anderson, D. J., Binder, M., & Krause, K. (2003). The motherhood wage penalty revisited: Experience, heterogeneity, work effort, and work-schedule flexibility. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 56(2), 273–294.
- Andersen, J. G., & Halvorsen, K. (2002). Changing labour markets, unemployment and unemployment policies in a citizenship perspective. In *Europe's new state of welfare* (pp. 1-20). Policy Press.
- Andersen, S. H. (2018). Paternity leave and the motherhood penalty: new causal evidence. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 80(5), 1125–1143.
- Andersson, G. (2004). Childbearing after migration: fertility patterns of foreign-born women in Sweden. *International Migration Review*, 38(1), 364–392.
- Anelli, M., & Peri, G. (2015). Gender of siblings and choice of college major. CESifo Economic Studies, 61(1), 53-71.

Argentin, G. (2009). Una scelta nella scelta: a quale istituto scolastico iscriversi? In G. Giovannetti (ed.), Scegliere la scuola superiore (pp. 57-77), Milano: Franco Angeli.

Argentin, G. (2018). Gli insegnanti nella scuola italiana. Bologna: Il Mulino.

- Argentin, G., Barbieri, G., & Barone, C. (2017). Origini sociali, consiglio orientativo e iscrizione al liceo: un'analisi basata sui dati dell'Anagrafe Studenti. *Social Policies*, 4 (1), 53–74.
- Argentin, G., & Pavolini, E. (2020). How schools directly contribute to the reproduction of social inequalities. Evidence of tertiary effects, taken from Italian research. *Politiche Sociali*, 7(1), 149–176.
- Argentin, G. & Triventi, M. (2015). The North-South Divide in School Grading Standards: New Evidence from National Assessments of the Italian Student Population. *Italian Journal of Sociology of Education*, 7, 157-185.
- Argentin, G. & Triventi, M. (2016). Come mi giudichi? Analisi delle pratiche e degli standard di attribuzione dei voti agli studenti nelle scuole italiane. In P. Falzetti (ed.), *Concorso di Idee per la Ricerca*. Padova: CLEUP.
- Arulampalam, W. (2001). Is unemployment really scarring? Effects of unemployment experiences on wages. *The Economic Journal (London)*, 111 (475), 585–606.
- Assirelli, G. (2015). Credential and skill mismatches among tertiary graduates: the effect of labour market institutions on the differences between fields of study in 18 countries. *European Societies*, 17(4), 535–568.
- Auspurg, K., Hinz, T. and Sauer, C. (2017). Why should women get less? Evidence on the gender pay gap from multifactorial survey experiments. *American Sociological Review*, 82, 179–210.
- Azmitia, M., & Hesser, J. (1993). Why siblings are important agents of cognitive development: A comparison of siblings and peers. *Child Development*, 64(2), 430– 444.
- Azzolini, D., & Barone, C. (2012). Tra vecchie e nuove disuguaglianze: la partecipazione scolastica degli studenti immigrati nelle scuole secondarie superiori in Italia. *Rassegna Italiana Di Sociologia*, 53(4), 687–718.
- Babcock, L., & Laschever, S. (2003). Women don't ask: Negotiation and the gender divide. Princeton University Press.

- Bainbridge, J., Meyers, M.K., and Waldfogel, J. (2003). Child Care Policy Reform and the Employment of Single Mothers. *Social Science Quarterly*, 84, 771–91.
- Ballarino, G., Barone, C., Panichella, N., & Bernardi, F. (2016). Social background and education in occupational attainment in Italy. *Education, Occupation and Social Origin. A Comparative Analysis of the Transmission of Socio-Economic Inequalities.* Edited by Fabrizio Bernardi and Gabriele Ballarino. Northampton: Edward Elgar Publishing, 82-93.
- Ballarino, G., Bernardi, F., Requena, M. & Schadee, H. (2009). Persistent Inequalities? Expansion of education and class inequality in Italy and Spain, *European Sociological Review*, 2009, 138(1), 123-138.
- Ballarino, G., Bison, I., & Schadee, H. (2011). Early school leaving and social stratification in contemporary Italy. *Stato e Mercato*, 3, 479-518.
- Ballarino, G. & Panichella, N. (2014). Origini familiari, scuola secondaria e accesso all'università dei diplomati italiani, 1995-2007. *Scuola democratica*, 2, 365–92.
- Ballarino, G. & Panichella, N. (2021). Sociologia dell'istruzione. Il Mulino.
- Ballarino, G., & Panichella, N. (2015). The educational integration of second-generation southern Italian migrants to the north. *Demographic Research*, 33, 1105-1136.
- Ballarino, G., & Panichella, N. (2016). Social stratification, secondary school tracking and university enrolment in Italy. *Contemporary Social Science*, 11(2-3), 169–182.
- Ballarino, G., Panichella, N., & Triventi, M. (2014). School expansion and uneven modernization. Comparing educational inequality in Northern and Southern Italy. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 36, 69-86.
- Ballarino, G., & Schadee, H. (2010). Allocation and distribution: A discussion of the educational transition model, with reference to the Italian case. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 28,45–58.
- Bandura, Albert. (1977). Social Learning Theory. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.
- Barbieri G., Cipollone, P. & Sestito, P. (2007). Labour Market for Teachers: Demographics Characteristics and Allocative Mechanisms. *Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia*, 66, 3, 335-373.
- Barbieri, P., Cutuli, G., Guetto, R., & Scherer, S. (2019). Part-time employment as a way to increase women's employment: (Where) does it work? *International Journal of Comparative Sociology*, 60(4), 249–268.

- Barclay, K. J. (2015a). Birth order and educational attainment: evidence from fully adopted sibling groups. *Intelligence*, 48, 109-22.
- Barclay, K. J. (2015b). A within-family analysis of birth order and intelligence using population conscription data on Swedish men. *Intelligence*, 49, 134–43.
- Barone, C. (2011). Some things never change gender segregation in higher. Education across Eight Nations and Three Decades. *Sociology of Education*, 84, 157–176.
- Barone, C. (2019). Towards an education-based meritocracy. Why modernisation and social reproduction theories cannot explain trends in educational inequalities: outline of an alternative explanation. *ISA eSymposium for Sociology*, 9(1).
- Barone, C., & Assirelli, G. (2020). Gender segregation in higher education: an empirical test of seven explanations. *Higher Education*, 79(1), 55–78.
- Barone, C., Assirelli, G., Abbiati, G., Argentin, G., & De Luca, D. (2018). Social origins, relative risk aversion and track choice: A field experiment on the role of information biases. *Acta Sociologica (United Kingdom)*, 61(4), 441–459.
- Barone, C., Luijkx, R. & Schizzerotto, A. (2010). Elogio dei grandi numeri: il lento declino delle disuguaglianze nelle opportunità di istruzione in Italia, *Polis*, 43,5-34.
- Barone, C., & Ortiz, L. (2011). Overeducation among European university graduates: a comparative analysis of its incidence and the importance of higher education differentiation. *Higher Education*, 61(3), 325–337.
- Barone, C. & Ruggera, L., (2016). Educational equalization stalled? Trends in inequality of educational opportunity between 1930 and 1980 across 26 European nations. *European Societies*, 12(2), 123-158.
- Barone, C., Schizerotto, A., Abbiati, G. M., & Assirelli, G. (2017). Gender, information barriers and fields of study choice: a field experiment. *Laboratory for Interdisciplinary Evaluation of Public Policies*, January, 1–43.
- Barone, C., Triventi, M., & Facchini, M. (2021). Social origins, tracking and occupational attainment in Italy. *Longitudinal and Life Course Studies*, 12(3), 441–462.
- Bauer, T, & Gang, I.N. (2001). Sibling rivalry in educational attainment: the German case. *Labour*, 15(2), 237–255.
- Bauer, P., & Riphahn, R. T. (2006). Timing of School Tracking as a Determinant of Intergenerational Transmission of Education. *Economics Letters*, 91, 90–97.

- Beck, U., & Beck-Gernsheim, E. (2001). Individualization: Institutionalized Individualism and Its Social and Political Consequences. Newbury Park, Calif.: Sage.
- Becker, G. (1991). *A Treatise on the Family*: Enlarged Edition. Harvard: Harvard University Press.
- Becker, G. S. (1993). *Human Capital. A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis with Special Reference to Education.* University of Chicago Press, Chicago/ London.
- Becker, G. S. (1985). Human Capital, Effort, and the Sexual Division of Labor. *Journal* of Labor Economics, 3(1), S33–S58.
- Becker, G. (1971). *The Economics of Discrimination*, 2nd ed., Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Becker, G. S., & Tomes, N. (1979). An equilibrium theory of the distribution of income and intergenerational mobility. *Journal of Political Economy*, 87, 1153–1189.
- Becker, G. S., & Tomes, N. (1986). Human capital and the rise and fall of families. Journal of Labor Economics, 4 (3), S1–S39.
- Behrman, J. R., Pollak, R. A. & Taubman, P. (1982). Parental preferences and provision for progeny. *Journal of Political Economy*, 90(1), 52–73.
- Bell, D. (1976). The Coming of Post-Industrial Society: A Venture in Social Forecasting. Basic Books.
- Benard, S., & Correll, S. J. (2010). Normative discrimination and the motherhood penalty. Gender & Society, 24, 616–646.
- Ben-Porath, Y. & Welch, F. (1976). Do Sex Preferences Really Matter? *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 90(2), 285–307.
- Berggren, C. (2008). Horizontal and Vertical Differentiation within Higher Education: Gender and Class Perspectives. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 62(1–2), 20–39.
- Bernard, A., Bell, M., & Charles-Edwards, E. (2014). Life-course transitions and the age profile of internal migration. *Population and Development Review*, 40(2), 213–239.
- Bernardi, F. (1999). Does the husband matter? Married women and employment in Italy. *European Sociological Review*, 15(3), 285–300.
- Bernardi, F. (2016). Is education the great equalizer for the chances of social mobility in Spain. *Education, occupation and social origin: A comparative analysis of the*

transmission of socio-economic inequalities. Edited by Fabrizio Bernardi and Gabriele Ballarino. Northampton: Edward Elgar Publishing, 168-181.

- Bernardi, F. (2012). Unequal transitions: selection bias and the compensatory effect of social background on educational careers. *Research in Social Stratification and Inequality*, 30, 159-174.
- Bernardi, F., & Ballarino, G. (Eds.). (2016). Education, occupation and social origin: A comparative analysis of the transmission of socio-economic inequalities. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Bernardi, F., Hertel, F. & Yastrebov, Y. (2018). A U-turn in inequality in college attainment by parental education in the US? *Research in social stratification and mobility*, 58, 33-43.
- Bernasco, W., De Graaf, P. and Ultee, W. (1998). Coupled careers: effects of spouse's resources on occupational attainment in the Netherlands. *European Sociological Review*, 1, 15-3.
- Bernhardt, A., Morris, M. and Hancock, M.S. (1995) Women's Gains or Men's Losses? A Closer Look at the Shrinking Gender Gap in Earnings. *American Journal of Sociology*, 101(2), 302–28.
- Bernstein, B. (1971). Class, Codes and Control, vol. I, Theoretical Studies Towards a Sociology of Language. London: Routledge.
- Bertrand, M., Goldin, C., & Katz, L. F. (2010). Dynamics of the gender gap for young professionals in the financial and corporate sectors. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 2(3), 228–255.
- Biddlecom, & Kramarow, E. A. (1998). Household headship among married women: the roles of economic power, education, and convention. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 19(4), 367–382.
- Bielby, W. T., & Bielby, D. D. (1992). I will follow him Family ties, gender-role beliefs, and reluctance to relocate for a better job. *American Journal of Sociology*, 97, 1241-1267.
- Bird, G.A. and Bird, G.W. (1985). Determinants of mobility in two-earner families: Does the wife's income count? *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 47(2): 753-758.

- Bittman, M., England, P., Sayer, L., Folbre, N., & Matheson, G. (2003). When does gender trump money? Bargaining and time in household work. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 109(1), 186–214.
- Bjerkedal, T., Kristensen, P., Skjeret, G. A., & Brevik, J. I. (2007). intelligence test scores and birth order among young Norwegian men (Conscripts) analyzed within and between families. *Intelligence*, 35, 503–14.
- Björklund, A., & Jäntti, M. (2012). How important is family background for laboreconomic outcomes? *Labour Economics*, 19, 465–74.
- Björklund, A., & Jäntti, M. (2020). Intergenerational mobility, intergenerational effects, sibling correlations, and equality of opportunity: A comparison of four approaches. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 70, 100455.
- Black, S. E., Deveraux, P. J. and Salvanes, K. G. (2007). *Older and Wiser? Birth Order and IQ of Young Men.* Discussion paper no. 3007. Bonn: IZA.
- Black, S. E., Devereux, P. J., & Salvanes, K. G. (2005). The more the merrier? The effect of family size and birth order on children's education. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 120(2), 669–700.
- Blackburn, M. L. (2010). Internal migration and the earnings of married couples in the United States. *Journal of Economic Geography*, 10, 87–111.
- Blair-Loy, M. (2013). Competing devotions: Career and family among women executives. Harvard University Press; Cambridge, MA.
- Blakemore, K., and Drake, R. (1996). *Understanding Equal Opportunity Policies*. London: Prentice Hall.
- Blanchard, O. J., & Diamond, P. (1994). Ranking, unemployment duration, and wages. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 61(3), 417-434.
- Blau, F. & Kahn, L. (2000). Gender differences in pay. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, vol. 14(4), pp. 75–99.
- Blau, F, & Kahn, L. M. (2017). The Gender Wage Gap: Extent, Trends, and Explanations. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 55(3), 57–60.
- Blau, F., & Kahn, L.M. (2006). The U.S. Gender Pay Gap in the 1990s: Slowing Convergence. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 60(1), 45–66.
- Blau, P. M., & Duncan, O. D. (1967). *The American occupational structure*. New York: Free Press.

- Blossfeld, P., Blossfeld G. & Blossfeld H. (2015). Educational expansion and inequalities in educational opportunity: long-term changes for East and West Germany, *European Sociological Review*, 31(2), 144–160.
- Blossfeld, H. P., Buchholz, S., Skopek, J., & Triventi, M. (Eds.). (2016). Models of secondary education and social inequality: An international comparison. Cheltenham, UK and Northampton, MA, USA: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Blossfeld, H.P., & Drobnic, S. (eds.) (2001). Careers of Couples in Contemporary Societies - From Male Breadwinner to Dual Earner Families, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Blossfeld, H. P., Drobnic, S., and Rohwer, G. (2001). Spouses' Employment careers in (West) Germany, in: H.-P. Blossfeld & S. Drobnic (Eds.), *Careers of couples in contemporary societies. From male breadwinners to dual-earner families*, pp. 53 – 76, New York.
- Blossfeld, H. P., & Shavit, Y. (1993). Persisting Barriers: Changes in Educational Opportunities in Thirteen Countries. In Shavit, Y. Blossfeld, H.-P. (eds), *Persistent Inequality: Changing Educational Attainment in Thirteen Countries* (pp. 1-23.) Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Blumer, H. (1965). Race prejudice as a sense of group position. *Pacific Sociological Review*, 1 (1), 3–7.
- Bobbitt-Zeher, D. (2007). The gender income gap and the role of education. *Sociology of Education*, 80(1), 1–22.
- Bobonis, G. J., & Finan, F. (2009). Neighborhood peer effects in secondary school enrollment decisions. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 91(4), 695–716.
- Boeckmann, I., Misra, J., & Budig, M. J. (2015). Cultural and institutional factors shaping mothers' employment and working hours in postindustrial countries. *Social Forces*, 93(4), 1301–1333.
- Bolzendahl, C. and Myers, D.J. (2004). Feminist attitudes and support for gender equality: opinion change in women and men, 1974–1998. *Social Forces*, 83(2), 759–790.
- Bonesronning, H. & Massih, S. S. (2011). Birth order effects on young students' academic achievement. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 40, 824-832.

- Bonney, N., & Love, J. (1991). Gender and migration: geographical mobility and the wife's sacrifice. *The Sociological Review*, 39(2), 335–348.
- Booth, A. L., & Kee, H. J. (2009). Birth Order Matters: The Effect of Family Size and Birth Order on Educational Attainment. *Journal of Population Economics*, 22, 367– 97.
- Bordignon, M., Carapella, P. & Turati G., (2017). *Eduscopio: le determinanti dell'accesso all'informazione*, FGA Working paper, 56.
- Borghans, L., Diris, R., Smits, W., & De Vries, J. (2019). The long-run effects of secondary school track assignment. *PLoS One*, 14(10), Article e0215493.
- Borghans, L., Duckworth, A., Heckman, J., Weel, B. (2008). The Economics and Psychology of Personality Traits. *IZA Discussion Paper*, No. 3333, Bonn.
- Borghans, L., ter Weel, B. and Weinberg, B.A. (2014). People Skills and the Labor-Market Outcomes of Underrepresented Groups. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 67 (2), 287–334.
- Borgna, C., & Struffolino, E. (2017). Pushed or pulled? Girls and boys facing early school leaving risk in Italy. Social Science Research, 61, 298–313.
- Boudon, R. (1974). *Education, Opportunity and Social Inequality*. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The Forms of Capital, in J.G. Richardson (ed.) Handbook for Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education, New York: Greenwood Press.
- Bourdieu, P. & Passeron, J.-C. (1971). I delfini: gli studenti e la cultura. Bologna: Guaraldi.
- Boyd, M. (1984). At a disadvantage: The occupational attainments of foreign-born women in Canada. *International Migration Review*, 18(4), 1091–1119.
- Boyle, P., Cooke, T. J., Halfacree, K., Smith, D., Boyle, P., Cooke, T. J., Halfacree, K.,
 & Smith, D. (2001). A Cross-National Comparison of the Impact of Family Migration on Women's Employment Status. *Demography*, 38(2), 201–213.
- Boyle, P., Feng, Z., Gayle, V. (2009). A New Look at Family Migration and Women's Employment Status. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 71(2), 417-431.
- Bradley, K. (2000). The Incorporation of Women into Higher Education: Paradoxical Outcomes? *Sociology of Education*, 73, 1–18.

- Brandén, M. (2013). Couples' education and regional mobility the importance of occupation, income and gender. Population, Space and Place, 19(5), 522-536.
- Brandén, M., & Haandrikman, K. (2019). Who moves to whom? Gender differences in the distance moved to a shared residence. *European Journal of Population*, 35(3), 435–458
- Brandén, M., & Ström, S. (2011). For whose sake do couples relocate? Gender, career opportunities and couples' internal migration (No. 2011: 3). Working Paper.
- Breen, R. (Ed.). (2004). Social mobility in Europe. OUP Oxford.
- Breen, R., & Ermisch, J. (2021). Sibling Models, Categorical Outcomes, and the Intra-Class Correlation. *European Sociological Review*, 37(3), 497–504.
- Breen, R. & Goldthorpe, J.H. (1997). Explaining Educational Differentials: Towards a Formal Rational Action Theory. *Rationality & Society*, 9(3), 275-305.
- Breen, R. & Jonsson, J.O. (2000). Analyzing educational careers: A multinomial transition model. *American Sociological Review*, 65(5), 754-772.
- Breen, R., Luijkx, R., Müller, W., & Pollak, R. (2009). Nonpersistent inequality in educational attainment: evidence from eight European countries. *American journal* of sociology, 114, 1475-521.
- Breen, R., Luijkx, R., Muller, W., & Pollak, R. (2010). Long-term trends in educational inequality in Europe: class inequalities and gender differences. *European Sociological Review*, 26, 31-48.
- Bröckel, M., Busch, A., and Golsch, K. (2013). Headwind or Tailwind? Do Partner's Resources Support or Restrict a Promotion to a Leadership Position in Germany? SFB 882 Working Paper Series, (14).
- Brown, C., Corcoran, M. (1997). Sex-based differences in school content and the malefemale wage gap. *J. Labor Econ.*, 15, 431–65.
- Brunello, & Checchi, D. (2007). Does school tracking affect equality of opportunity?: New international evidence. Economic Policy, 22(52), 781–861.
- Brynin, M. and Francesconi, M. (2004) The material returns to partnership: The effects of educational matching on labour market outcomes and gender equality. *European Sociological Review*, 20(4), 363-377.

- Buchmann, C., & DiPrete, T. A. (2006). The growing female advantage in college completion: The role of family background and academic achievement. *American Sociological Review*, 71(4), 515–541.
- Buchmann, C., DiPrete, T.A., & McDaniel, A. (2008). Gender inequalities in education. *Annu. Rev. Sociol.*, 34 (1), 319-337.
- Buchmann, M. C., Kriesi, I., & Sacchi, S. (2010). Labour market structures and women's employment levels. *Work, Employment and Society*, 24(2), 279-299.
- Buchmann, C. & Park, H. (2009). Stratification and the formation of expectations in highly differentiated educational systems. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 27(4), 245–267.
- Budig, M. J. & England, P. (2001). The wage penalty for motherhood. American Sociological Review, 66 (2), 204–225.
- Budig, M. J. & Hodges, M. J. (2010). Differences in disadvantage variation in the motherhood penalty across white women's earnings distribution. *American Sociological Review*, 75 (5), 705–728.
- Budig, M.J., Misra J., Boeckmann, I. (2016). Work–family policy trade-offs for mothers? Unpacking the cross-national variation in motherhood earnings penalties. *Work and Occupations*, 43(2), 119–177.
- Bukodi, E. and Goldthorpe, J. (2018). *Social Mobility and Education in Britain: research, Politics and Policy*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Busch-Heizmann, A. (2015). Supply-side explanations for occupational gender segregation: adolescents' work values and gender-(A)typical occupational aspirations. *European Sociological Review*, 31, 48–64.
- Butcher, K.F., & Case, A. (1994). The effect of sibling sex composition on women's education and earnings. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 109(3), 531–563.
- Cappellari, L. (2004). High School Types, Academic Performance and Early Labour Market Outcomes. *IZA Discussion Paper No 1048*. Bonn: Institute for the Study of Labor.
- Card, D., Cardoso, A. R., & Kline, P. (2016). Bargaining, sorting, and the gender wage gap: Quantifying the impact of firms on the relative pay of women. The Quarterly journal of economics, 131(2), 633-686.

- Cavalli, A. & Facchini, C. (eds) (2001). Scelte cruciali. Indagine Iard su giovani e famiglie di fronte alle scelte alla fine della scuola secondaria. Bologna, Italy: Mulino.
- Cech, E. (2013). The Self-expressive Edge of Occupational Sex Segregation. *American Journal of Sociology*, 119(3), 747–89.
- Ceci, S., Williams, W., (2010). Sex Differences in Math-Intensive Fields, in Current Directions. *Psychological Science*, 1(5), 11-23.
- Charles, M., & Bradley, K. (2009). Indulging our gendered selves? Sex segregation by field of study in 44 countries. American Journal of Sociology, 114(4), 924–976.
- Checchi, D., & Flabbi, L. (2013). Intergenerational Mobility and Schooling Decisions in Germany and Italy: The Impact of Secondary School Tracks. *Rivista Di Politica Economica*, 3, 7–57.
- Charles, M. (2011). A World of Difference: International Trends in Women's Economic Status. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 37, 355–71.
- Charles, M. & Grusky, D.B. (2004). Occupational Ghettos: The Worldwide Segregation of Women and Men. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Checchi, D., Fiorio, C. & Leonardi, M. (2008). Intergenerational Persistence in Educational Attainment in Italy. *IZA Discussion Paper No 3622*. Bonn: Institute for the Study of Labor.
- Chiswick, B. R. (1991). Speaking, reading and earnings among low-skilled immigrants. *Journal of labor economics*, 9, 149–170.
- Clark, W. A. V., & Huang, Y. (2006). Balancing move and work: Women's labour market exits and entries after family migration. *Population, Space and Place, 12*(1), 31–44.
- Clark, W. A. V., & Withers, S. D. (2002). Disentangling the interaction of migration, mobility, and labor force participation. *Environment and Planning A*, 34(5), 923-945.
- Cohen, P. N., Huffman, M. L. and Knauer, S. (2009). Stalled Progress? Gender Segregation and Wage Inequality among Managers, 1980-2000. Work and Occupations, 36(4), 318–42.
- Collins, R. (1979). The credential society: An historical sociology of education and stratification. New York, NY: Academic Press.

- Combet, B., & Oesch, D. (2019). The Gender Wage Gap Opens Long before Motherhood. Panel Evidence on Early Careers in Switzerland. *European Sociological Review*, 35(3), 332–345.
- Conley, D. (2008). Bringing sibling differences in: Enlarging our understanding of the transmission of advantage in families, in: A. Lareau & D. Conley (Eds) Social class: How does it work? (New York, Russell Sage Foundation), 179–200.
- Conley, D. (2000). Sibship sex composition: effects on educational attainment. *Social Science Research*, 29(3), 441–457.
- Conley, D. (2004). *The Pecking Order: Which Siblings Succeed and Why*. New York, NY: Pantheon Books.
- Conley, D., & Glauber, R. (2008). All in the family? Family composition, resources, and sibling similarity in socioeconomic status. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 26(4), 297–306.
- Conley, D., Pfeiffer, K. M., & Velez, M. (2007). Explaining sibling differences in achievement and behavioral outcomes: The importance of within- and betweenfamily factors. *Social Science Research*, 36(3), 1087–1104.
- Contini, D., & Scagni, A. (2011). Inequality of opportunity in secondary school enrolment in Italy, Germany and the Netherlands. *Quality and Quantity*, 45(2), 441–464
- Contini, D., Scagni, A. (2013). Social origin inequalities in educational careers in Italy. Performance or decision effects? In: Jackson, M. (Ed.), *Determined to Succeed? Performance versus Choice in Educational Attainment*. Stanford University Press, 149-184.
- Cook, L. J. (2010). More Rights, Less Power: Labor Standards and Labor Markets in East European Post-communist States. *Studies in Comparative International Development*, 45(2), 170–197.
- Cooke, T.J. (2003). Family migration and the relative earnings of husbands and wives. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 93, 338–349.
- Cooke, T. J. (2008). Gender role beliefs and family migration. *Population, Space and Place*, 14(3), 163–175.
- Cooke, T.J. (2001). 'Trailing wife' or 'trailing mother'? The effect of parental status on the relationship between family migration and the labor-market participation of married women. *Environment and Planning A*, 33, 419–430.

- Cooke, T. J., Boyle, P., Couch, K., Feijten, P., Cooke, T. J., Boyle, P., Couch, K., & Feijten, P. (2009). A Longitudinal Analysis of Family Migration and the Gender Gap in Earnings in the United States and Great Britain. *Demography*, 46(1), 147–167.
- Correll, S.J. (2004). Constraints into preferences: gender, status, and emerging career aspirations. *American Sociological Review*, 69, 93–113.
- Correll, S. J. (2001). Gender and the Career Choice Process: The Role of Biased Self-Assessments. *American Journal of Sociology*, 106, 1691–1730.
- Correll, S. J., Benard, S., & Paik, I. (2007). Getting a job: Is there a motherhood penalty? *American Journal of Sociology*, 112, 1297–1338.
- Coulter, R., Scott, J. (2015). What Motivates Residential Mobility? Reexamining Self-Reported Reasons for Desiring and Making Residential Moves. Population, Space and Place, 21(4), 354-371.
- Croson, R., and Gneezy, U. (2009). Gender Differences in Preferences. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 47 (2), 448–74.
- Damaske, S., & Frech, A. (2016). Women's work pathways across the life course. Demography, 53, 365–391.
- Davis, S. N. & Greenstein, T. N. (2009). Gender ideology: components, predictors, and consequences. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 35, 87–105.
- Davies, S., & Guppy, N. (1997). Fields of study, college selectivity, and student inequalities in higher education. *Social Forces*, 75(4), 1417–1438.
- Daymont T., Andrisani P. (1984). Job preference, college major, and the gender gap in earnings. *Journal of Human Resources*, 19, 408–28.
- De Haan, M., Plug, E., Rosero, J. (2014). Birth order and human capital development: evidence from Ecuador. *Journal of Human Resources*, 49, 359–392.
- Deary, I. J., Strand, S., Smith, P., & Fernandes, C. (2007). Intelligence and educational achievement. *Intelligence*, 35,13–21.
- Del Boca, D. (2002). The Effect of Child Care and Part Time Opportunities on Participation and Fertility Decisions in Italy. *Journal of Population Economics*, 15(3), 549-573.
- Del Boca, D., Pasqua, S. and Pronzato, C. (2009). Motherhood and Market Work Decisions in Institutional Context: a European Perspective. Oxford Economic Papers, 61, i147-i171.

- Dieleman, F., & Schouw, R. (1989). Divorce, mobility and housing demand. European *Journal of Population*, 5(3), 235–252.
- DiPrete, T. A. (1981). Unemployment Over the Life Cycle: Racial Differences and the Effect of Changing Economic Conditions. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 87(2), 286–307.
- DiPrete, T. A. & Buchmann, C. (2013). *The Rise of Women: The Growing Gender Gap in Education and what it means for American Schools*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Diprete, T. A., & Eirich, G. M. (2006). Cumulative advantage as a mechanism for inequality: A review of theoretical and empirical developments. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 32, 271–297.
- DiPrete, T. A. & McManus, P. A. (2000). Family Change, Employment Transitions, and the Welfare State: Household Income Dynamics in the United States and Germany. *American Sociological Review*, 65(3), 343–370.
- Dotti Sani, G. (2018). *Time Use in Domestic Settings Throughout the Life Course. The Italian Case.* Berlin: Springer.
- Downey, D.B. (2001). Number of siblings and intellectual development. The resource dilution explanation. *Am Psychol*, 56, 497–504.
- Dryler, H. (1998). Parental role models, gender and educational choice. *British Journal* of Sociology, 49, 375–398.
- Duncan, G.J., Boisjoly, J. & Harris, K.M. (2001) Sibling, peer, neighbor, and schoolmate correla- tions as indicators of the importance of context for adolescent development. *Demography*, 38 (3), 437–447.
- Duncan, R. P., & Perrucci, C. C. (1976). Dual occupation families and migration. *American Sociological Review*, 41(2), 252–261.
- Dustmann, C. (2004). Parental background, secondary school track choice, and wages. *Oxford Economic Papers*, 56(2), 209-230.
- Dustmann, C., & Fabbri, F. (2003). Language proficiency and the labor market performance of immigrants in the United Kingdom. *The Economic Journal*, 113 (489), 695–717.

- Duta, A., Iannelli, C., & Breen, R. (2021). Social inequalities in attaining higher education in Scotland: New evidence from sibling data. *British Educational Research Journal*, 47(5), 1281–1302.
- Eckel, C. C., & Grossman, P. J. (2008). Differences in the economic decisions of men and women: Experimental evidence. Handbook of experimental economics results, 1, 509-519.
- Elder, G. H., Johnson, M. K., & Crosnoe, R. (2003). The Emergence and Development of Life Course Theory. In J. T. Mortimer & M. J. Shanahan (Eds.), *Handbook of the Life Course* (pp. 3–19). Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Elder, Jr., G. H. (1985a). Preface, in G. H. Elder, Jr. (Ed.), *Life Course Dynamics: Trajectories and Transitions, 1968–1980.* Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 15–20.
- Elder, Jr., G. H. (1985b). Perspective on the life course, in G. H. Elder, Jr. (Ed.), *Life Course Dynamics: Trajectories and Transitions*, 1968–1980. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 23–49.
- Eliason, S. R. (1995). An extension of the Sørensen-Kalleberg theory of the labor market matching and attainment processes. *American Sociological Review*, 60 (2), 247–271.
- Encinas-Martin, M. (2020). Why do gender gaps in education and work persist? Paris, OECD.
- England, P. (1992). *Comparable worth: Theories and evidence*. Piscataway, NJ: Transaction Publishers.
- England, P. (2010). The Gender Revolution: Uneven and Stalled. *Gender & Society*, 24(2), 149–66.
- England, P., Farkas, G., Kilbourne, B.S., and Dou, T. (1988). Explaining occupational sex segregation and wages: findings from a model with fixed effects. *American Sociological Review*, 53(4), 544–58.
- Epstein, C. F. (1981). Women in the Law. New York: Basic Books.
- Erikson, R. & Jonsson, J. (eds) (1996). *Can education be equalised? The Swedish case in Comparative Perspective*. Boulder: Westview Press.
- Erikson, R. & Rudolphi, F. (2010). Change in social selection to upper secondary school– primary and secondary effects in Sweden. *European Sociological Review*, 26(3), 291-305.

- Erlinghagen, M. (2008). Self-perceived job insecurity and social context: A multi-level analysis of 17 European countries. *European Sociological Review*, 24, 183–197.
- Erlinghagen, M. (2021). Love in motion: Migration patterns of internationally mobile couples. *Population, Space and Place*, *27*(2), 1–16.
- Ermisch, J., Jäntti, M. & Smeeding, T.M. (Eds.) (2012). From Parents to Children. The Intergenerational Transmission of Advantage. New York: Russell Sage.
- Eschelbach, M. (2015). Family background and educational attainment Are there birth order effects in Germany? *Jahrbucher Fur Nationalokonomie Und Statistik*, 235(1), 41–60.
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1999). Social Foundations of Postindustrial Economies. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1990). *The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism*. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Esping-Andersen, G. (2014). Welfare regimes and stratification, *Journal of European Social Policy*, 37(1), 203-234.
- Esser, H. (2016). The Model of Ability Tracking Theoretical Expectations and Empirical Findings on How Educational Systems Impact on Educational Success and Inequality. In H.-P. Blossfeld, S. Buchholz, J. Skopek & M. Triventi (eds.), *Models of Secondary Education and Social Inequality: An International Comparison*, Cheltenham-Northampton: Edward Elgar.
- Eurostat (2020). *Early Leavers from Education and Training*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-

explained/index.php?title=Early_leavers_from_education_and_training#Overview

Eurostat (2023). Gender pay gap statistics. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php?title=Gender_pay_gap_statistics#Gender_pay_gap_levels_var

y_significantly_across_EU

Evertsson, M., England, P., Mooi-Reci, I., Hermsen, J., De Bruijn, J., & Cotter, D. (2009).Is gender inequality greater at lower or higher educational levels? Common patterns in the Netherlands, Sweden, and the United States. *Social Politics*, 16(2), 210–241.

- Falcon, J. & Bataille, P. (2018). Equalization or reproduction? Long-term trends in the intergenerational transmission of advantages in Higher Education in France, *European Sociological Review*, 36, 1-13.
- Featherman, D. L., Hauser, R. M., Sewell, W. H. 1974. Toward comparable data on inequality and stratification: perspectives on the second generation of national mobility studies. *Current Sociology*, 22, 383-97.
- Feijten, P. and Mulder, C.H. (2005). Life-course experience and housing quality. *Housing Studies*, 20(4), 571–587.
- Fenstermaker, S., and West, C., eds. (2002). *Doing Gender, Doing Difference: Inequality, Power, and Institutional Change*. New York: Routledge.
- Fielding. (2012). *Migration in Britain: Paradoxes of the Present, Prospects for the Future* (pp. vii–vii). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Filippin, A., & Ichino, A. (2005). Gender wage gap in expectations and realizations. *Labour Economics*, 12(1), 125–145.
- Fiorentine, R. (1987). Men, women, and the premed persistence gap: a normative alternatives approach. *American Journal of Sociology*, 92, 1118–39.
- Flowerdew, R. & Al-Hamad, A. (2004). The relationship between marriage, divorce and migration in a British dataset. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 30, 339– 351.
- Fortin, N. M. (2005). Gender Role Attitudes and the Labour Market Outcomes of Women Across Countries. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 21, 416–438.
- Frank, K. A., Muller, C., Schiller, K. S., Riegle-Crumb, C., Mueller, A. S., Crosnoe, R., & Pearson, J. (2008). The social dynamics of mathematics course-taking in high school. *American Journal of Sociology*, 113(6), 1645–1696.
- Gabay-Egozi, L., Shavit, Y., & Yaish, M. (2015). Gender differences in fields of study: the role of significant others and rational choice motivations. *European Sociological Review*, 31(3), 284–297.
- Gallagher, A.M., Kaufman, J.C., ed. (2005). *Gender Differences in Mathematics: An Integrative Psychological Approach*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press.
- Gambetta. (1987). Were they pushed or did they jump?: individual decision mechanisms in education. Cambridge University.

- Gamoran, A. & Mare, R.D. (1989). Secondary school tracking and educational inequality: Compensation, reinforcement, or neutrality? *American Journal of Sociology*, 94(5), 1146-1183.
- Gangl, M. (2004). Welfare States and the scar effects of unemployment: A comparative analysis of the United States and West Germany. *American Journal of Sociology*, 109(6), 1319–1364.
- Gangl, M. & Ziefle, A. (2009). Motherhood, labor force behavior and women's careers: an empirical assessment of the wage penalty for motherhood in britain, Germany and the United States. *Demography*, 46 (2), 341–369.
- Ganzeboom, H. B., & Treiman, D. J. (2007, January). Ascription and achievement in occupational attainment in comparative perspective. In *The Sixth Meeting of the Russell Sage Foundation/Carnegie Corporation (Vol. 1)*.
- Ganzeboom, H. B. G., Treiman, D. J., & Ultee, W. C. (1991). Comparative Intergenerational Stratification Research: Three Generations and Beyond. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 17(1), 277–302.
- Gasperoni, G. (1997). Il rendimento scolastico. Bologna: Il Mulino.
- Gasser, M., Flint, N., & Tan, R. (2000). Reward expectations: The influence of race, gender and type of job. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 15(2), 321-329.
- Geist, C., & McManus, P. A. (2012). Different Reasons, Different Results: Implications of Migration by Gender and Family Status. *Demography*, 49(1), 197–217.
- Gerhart, B. (1990). Gender differences in current and starting salaries: the role of performance, college major, and job title. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review.*, 43, 418–33
- Gesthuizen, M., Solga, H., & Künster, R. (2011). Context matters: Economic marginalization of low-educated workers in cross-national perspective. *European Sociological Review*, 27, 264–280.
- Gill, D., & Prowse, V. (2014). Gender differences and dynamics in competition: The role of luck. Quantitative Economics, 5(2), 351-376.
- Glass, C., and Fodor, E. (2011). Public Maternalism Goes to Market: Recruitment, Hiring, and Promotion in Postsocialist Hungary. *Gender & Society*, 25(1), 5–26.

- Gneezy, U., Niederle, M., & Rustichini, A. (2003). Performance in competitive environments: Gender differences. The quarterly journal of economics, 118(3), 1049-1074.
- Goldin, C. (2014). *A Grand Gender Convergence: Its Last Chapter*. in American Economics Association Presidential Address. Philadelphia, PA.
- Goldin, C., Katz, L. F. and Kuziemko, I. (2006). The homecoming of American college women: the reversal of the college gender gap. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 20, 133–156.
- Good, C., Rattan, A. and Dweck, C. S. (2012). Why do women opt out? Sense of belonging and women's representation in mathematics. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 102, 700–717.
- Grätz, M. (2018). Competition in the family: Inequality between siblings and the intergenerational transmission of educational advantage. *Sociological Science*, 5, 246–269.
- Grätz, M., Barclay, K. J., Wiborg, Ø. N., Lyngstad, T. H., Karhula, A., Erola, J., Präg, P., Laidley, T., & Conley, D. (2021). Sibling Similarity in Education Across and Within Societies. *Demography*, 58(3), 1011–1037.
- Green, A. E., Hogarth, T., & Shackleton, R. E. (1999). Longer distance commuting as a substitute for migration in Britain: A review of trends, issues and implications. *International Journal of Population Geography*, 5, 49–67.
- Greenwood, M. J. (1975). Research on internal migration in the United States: A survey. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 13, 397–433.
- Greenwood, M. J. & Hunt, G. L. (2003). The Early History Of Migration Research. International Regional Science Review, 26(1), 3–37.
- Gregory, & Jukes, R. (2001). Unemployment and Subsequent Earnings: Estimating Scarring Among British Men 1984-94. *The Economic Journal (London)*, 111(475), 607–625.
- Griliches, Z. (1979). Sibling models and data in economics: beginning of a survey. *Journal of Population Economics*, 87, S37–64.
- Grusky, D. (2019). Social stratification, class, race, and gender in sociological perspective. Routledge.

- Guetto, R., & Panichella, N. (2019). Family arrangements and children's educational outcomes: Heterogeneous penalties in upper-secondary school. *Demographic Research*, 40, 1015–1046.
- Guetto, R., & Vergolini, L. (2017). Educational expansion without equalization: A reappraisal of the 'Effectively Maintained Inequality' hypothesis in children's choice of the upper secondary track. *European Societies*, 19(1), 1–27.
- Guiso, L., Monte, F., Sapienza, P. & Zingales, L. (2008). Culture, gender, and math. *Science*, 320(5880), 1164–1165.
- Gupta, & Smith, N. (2002). Children and Career Interruptions: The Family Gap in Denmark. *Economica (London)*, 69(276), 609–629.
- Halfacree, K. H. (1995). Household migration and the structuration of patriarchy: Evidence from the USA. *Progress in Human Geography*, 19, 159–182.
- Hallinan, M. T. (1996). Track mobility in secondary school. *Social Forces*, 74(3), 983-1002.
- Hällsten, M. (2010). The structure of educational decision making and consequences for inequality: a Swedish test case. *American Journal of Sociology*, 116, 806–854.
- Hällsten, M., & Thaning, M. (2018). Wealth vs. education, occupation and income: Unique and overlapping influences of SES in intergenerational transmissions (Working Paper Series No. 35). Stockholm, Sweden: Stockholm University, Department of Sociology.
- Hansen, M. N. (1995). The Vicious Circle of the Welfare State? Women's Labor Market Situation in Norway and Great Britain. *Comparative Social Research*, 15, 1–34.
- Härkönen, J. (2014). Birth Order Effects on Educational Attainment and Educational Transitions in West Germany. *European Sociological Review*, 30(2), 166–179.
- Hauser, R. M. & Sewell, W. H. (1985). Birth order and educational attainment in full sibships. *American Educational Research Journal*, 22, 1-23.
- Hauser, R.M., & Kuo, H.-H.D. (1998). Does the gender composition of sibship affect women's educational attainment? *Journal of Human Resources*, 33(3), 644–657.
- Hays, S. (1996). *The Cultural Contradictions of Motherhood*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Heckert, T. M., Droste, H. E., Adams, P. J., Griffin, C. M., Roberts, L. L., Mueller, M.A., & Wallis, H. A. (2002). Gender differences in anticipated salary: Role of salary

estimates for others, job characteristics, career paths, and job inputs. Sex Roles, 47(3-4), 139–151.

- Heckman, J., Stixrud, J., Urzua, S. (2006), The Effects of Cognitive and Noncognitive Abilities on Labor Market Outcomes and Social Behavior. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 24(3), 411–482.
- Hedges, L., Nowell, A., (1995). Sex Differences in Mental Test Scores, Variability, and Numbers of High-scoring Individuals. *Science*, 269(5220), 41–45.
- Helderman, A.C. (2007). Once a homeowner, always a homeowner? An analysis of moves out of owner-occupation. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, 22(3), 239–261.
- Hersch, J. (1991). Male-Female Differences in Hourly Wages: The Role of Human Capital, Working Conditions, and Housework. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 44(4), 746–59.
- Hertel, F. R., & Pfeffer, F. T. (2016). The land of opportunity? Trends in social mobility and education in the United States, *MWP Working Paper Series*, 22.
- Hertwig, R., Davis, J., & Sulloway, F. (2002). Parental Investment: How an Equity motive Can Produce Inequality. *Psychological Bulletin*, 128(5), 728–745.
- Hojat, M., Gonnella, J. S., Erdmann, J. B., Rattner, S. L., Veloski, J. J., Glaser, K., & Xu, G. (2000). Gender comparisons of income expectations in the USA at the beginning of medical school during the past 28 years. *Social Science & Medicine* (1982), 50(11), 1665-1672.
- Hout, M., & DiPrete, T. A. (2006). What we have learned: RC28's contributions to knowledge about social stratification. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 24(1), 1–20.
- Hout, M., & Janus, J. (2011). Educational mobility since the 1930s, pp. 165-186 in *Whither Opportunity?*, edited by Greg Duncan and Richard Murnane. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Hyde, J.S. & Mertz, J.E. (2009). Gender, culture, and mathematics performance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(22), 8801–8807.
- Iacus, King, G., & Porro, G. (2012). Causal Inference without Balance Checking: Coarsened Exact Matching. *Political Analysis*, 20(1), 1–24.

- Ichou, M., & Vallet, L. A. (2011). Do all roads lead to inequality? Trends in French upper secondary school analysed with four longitudinal surveys. Oxford review of education, 37(2), 167-194.
- ILO (International Labour Organization) (2019). A Quantum Leap for Gender Equality: For a Better Future of Work for All. Geneva: ILO.
- Imdorf, C., Hegna, K., Eberhard, V., & Doray, P. (2015). Educational Systems and Gender Segregation in Education: A Three-Country Comparison of Germany, Norway and Canada. In *Gender segregation in vocational education*. Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- Impicciatore, R., & Panichella, N. (2019). Internal Migration Trajectories, Occupational Achievement and Social Mobility in Contemporary Italy. A Life Course Perspective. *Population, Space and Place*, 25(6).
- Inglehart, R. (1997). *Modernization and Postmodernization: Cultural, Economic, and Political Change in 43 Societies.* Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press.
- Ishizuka, P., & Musick, K. (2021). Occupational inflexibility and women's employment during the transition to parenthood. *Demography*, 58(4), 1249-1274.
- Jackson, L. A., Gardner, P. D. and Sullivan, L. A. (1992). Explaining gender differences in self-pay expectations: Social comparison standards and perceptions of fair pay. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77(5), 651–663.
- Jackson, M. (2013). Determined to Succeed? Performance versus Choice in Educational Attainment. Standford: Stanford University Press.
- Jackson, M., Erikson, R., Goldthorpe, J.H. &Yaish, M. (2007). Primary and secondary effects in class differentials in educational attainment: The transition to A-level courses in England and Wales. *Acta Sociologica*, 50(3), 211-229.
- Jacob, M. (2011). Do brothers affect their sisters' chances to graduate? An analysis of sibling sex composition effects on graduation from a university or a Fachhochschule in Germany. *Higher Education*, 61(3), 277–291.
- Jacobs, J. A. (1995). Gender and Academic Specialties: Trends among Recipients of College Degrees in the 1980s. Sociology of Education, 68, 81-98.
- Jacobsen, J. P., & Levin, L. M. (1997). Marriage and migration: Comparing gains and losses from migration for couples and singles. *Social Science Quarterly*, 78(3), 688– 709.

- Jacobsen, J. P., & Levin, L. M. (2000). The effects of internal migration on the relative economic status of women and men. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 29, 291–304.
- Jang, B.J., Casterline, J.B., and Snyder, A.R. (2014). Migration and marriage: Modeling the joint process. *Demographic Research*, 30(47), 1339–1366.
- Jasso, G. and Webster, M. Jr. (1997). Double standards in just earnings for male and female workers. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 60, 66–78.
- Jaumotte, F. (2004). Labour Force Participation of Women: Empirical Evidence on the Role of Policy and Other Determinants in OECD Countries. OECD Economic Studies 37, Paris, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.
- Joensen, J. S., & Nielsen, H. S. (2018). Spillovers in education choice. Journal of Public Economics, 157(October 2017), 158–183.
- Jonsson, J.O. (1999). Explaining sex differences in educational choice: an empirical assessment of a rational choice model. *European Sociological Review*, 15, 391–404.
- Joy, L. (2003). Salaries of recent male and female college graduates: educational and labor market effects. *Industrial & Labor Relations Review*, 56(4), 606–621.
- Jürges, H. (2006). Gender ideology, division of housework, and the geographic mobility of families. *Review of Economics of the Household*, 4, 299–323.
- Kaestner, R. (1997). Are brothers really better? Sibling sex composition and educational attainment revisited. *Journal of Human Resources*, 32(2), 250–284.
- Kalmijn, M. & Kraaykamp, G. (2007). Social stratification and attitudes: a comparative analysis of the effects of class and education in Europe. *British Journal of Sociology*, 58 (4), 547–576.
- Kalmijn, M., & Van De Werfhorst, H. G. (2016). Sibship size and gendered resource dilution in different societal contexts. *PLoS ONE*, 11(8), 15–18.
- Kanji, S. (2013). Do fathers work fewer paid hours when their female partner is the main or an equal earner? *Work, Employment and Society*, 27(2), 326-342.
- Kanter, R. M. (1977). Men and Women of the Corporation. New York: Basic Books.
- Karlson, K. B. (2019). College as equalizer? Testing the selectivity hypothesis. Social Science Research, 80, 216–229.
- Keck, W., Saraceno, C. (2013). The impact of different social-policy frameworks on social inequalities among women in the European Union: the labour-market participation of mothers. *Social Politics*, 20(3), 297–328.

- Killewald, A. (2013). A reconsideration of the fatherhood premium: Marriage, coresidence, biology, and fathers' wages. *American Sociological Review*, 78(1), 96-116.
- King, G., and Zeng, L. (2006). The dangers of extreme counterfactuals. *Political Analysis*, 14, 131–59.
- Kishler, S. B., and Alexander, L. B. (1987). The Mythology of Part-Time Work: Empirical Evidence from a Study of Working Mothers. in *Women, Households, and the Economy*, (pp. 225–41), edited by Beneria, L. and Stimpson, C.R. New Brunswick, N.J: Rutgers University Press.
- Kivinen, O. & Rinne, R. (1996). Higher Education, mobility and inequality: the Finnish Case. *European Journal of Education*, 31, 289- 310.
- Kloosterman, R., Ruiter, S., De Graaf, P.M. & Kraaykamp, G. (2009). Parental education, children's performance and the transition to higher secondary education: Trends in primary and secondary effects over five Dutch school cohorts (1965-99). *The British Journal of Sociology*, 60(2), 377-398.
- Kmec, J. A. (2011). Are Motherhood Penalties and Fatherhood Bonuses Warranted? Comparing Pro-Work Behaviors and Conditions of Mothers, Fathers, and Non-Parents. Social Science Research, 40(2), 444–59.
- Kmec, J. A. and Gorman, E.H. (2010). Gender and Discretionary Work Effort: Evidence from the United States and Britain. *Work and Occupations*, 37(1), 3–36.
- Kogan, I. (2007). Working through barriers. Dordrecht: Spinger.
- Konrad, A., Ritchie, J., Lieb, P., Corrigall, E. (2000). Sex Differences and Similarities in Job Attribute Preferences: A Meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126(4), 593– 641.
- Krieger, M. (2020). Tied and Troubled: Revisiting Tied Migration and Subsequent Employment. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 82(3), 934–952.
- Kring, S. A. (2017). Gender in employment policies and programmes: What works for women? *International Labour Organization*, 235, 1–71. www.ilo.org/publns
- Kristensen, P., & Bjerkedal, T. (2010). Educational attainment of 25 year old Norwegians according to birth order and gender. *Intelligence*, 38(1), 123–136.
- Kuhn, Peter, 2002. Losing Work, Moving on International Perspectives on Worker Displacement. W.E. Upjohn Institute, Kalamazoo, MI.

- Kulu, H., & Milewski, N. (2007). Family change and migration in the life course: An introduction. *Demographic Research*, 17, 567–590.
- Kunze, A. (2018). The gender wage gap in developed countries. The Oxford handbook of women and the economy, 369-394.
- Lall, S.V. and Selod, H. (2006). *Rural-urban migration in developing countries: A survey* of theoretical predictions and empirical findings: Herndon: World Bank Publications.
- Lareau, A., & Weininger, E. B. (2003). Cultural capital in educational research: A critical assessment. *Theory and society*, 32, 567-606.
- Lareau, A. (2003). *Unequal childhoods: Class, race, and family life*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Lersch, P. M. (2016). Family Migration and Subsequent Employment: The Effect of Gender Ideology. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 78(1), 230–245.
- Lesthaeghe, R. (2010). The unfolding story of the second demographic transition. *Population and Development Review*, 36(2), 211–251.
- Levanon, A., England, P., & Allison, P. (2009). Occupational feminization and pay: Assessing causal dynamics using 1950–2000 U.S. census data. *Social Forces*, 88(2), 865–891.
- Lichter, D. (1983). Socioeconomic returns to migra- tion among married women. *Social Forces*, 62(2), 487–503.
- Lin, N., Cook, K. and Burt, R. S. (2001). *Social Capital: Theory and Research*. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Lindbeck, A., & Snower, D. J. (1988). Cooperation, harassment, and involuntary unemployment: an insider-outsider approach. *The American Economic Review*, 167-188.
- Lockwood, B. (1991). Information externalities in the labour market and the duration of unemployment. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 58 (4), 733–753
- Loyalka, P., Huang, X., Zhang, L., Wei, J., Yi, H., Song, Y., et al. (2015). The impact of vocational schooling on human capital development in developing countries: Evidence from China. (Policy research working papers). *The World Bank*.
- Lucas, S. (2001). Effectively maintained inequality: Education transitions, track mobility, and social background effects. *American Journal of Sociology*, 106(6), 1642-1690.

- Lundberg, S., & Pollak, R. A. (2003). Efficiency in marriage. *Review of Economics of the Household*, 1, 153–167.
- Lundberg, S., & Rose, E. (2000). Parenthood and the earnings of married men and women. *Labour Economics*, 7(6), 689-710.
- Lupton, B. (2006). Explaining men's entry into female-concentrated occupations: issues of masculinity and social class. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 13, 103–128.
- Mackintosh, N. J. (1998). IQ and human intelligence. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Madden, J. F. (2012). Performance-Support Bias and the Gender Pay Gap among Stockbrokers. *Gender & Society*, 26(3), 488–518.
- Major, B., and Konar, E. (1984). An Investigation of Sex Differences in Pay Expectations and Their Possible Causes. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 27(4), 777–792.
- Mandel, H. (2018). A second look at the process of occupational feminization and pay reduction in occupations. *Demography*, 55(2), 669–690.
- Mandel, H., & Semyonov, M. (2005). Family policies, wage structures, and gender gaps: Sources of earnings inequality in 20 countries. *American Sociological Review*, 70(6), 949–967.
- Mandel, H., & Shalev, M. (2009). How Welfare States Shape the Gender Pay Gap: A Theoretical and Comparative Analysis. *Social Forces*, 87(4), 1873–1911.
- Mare, R.D. (1980). Social background and school continuation decisions. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 75(370), 295–305.
- Marini, M.M.; Fan, P. (1997). The Gender Gap in Earnings at Career Entry. *American* Sociological Review, 62(4), 588–604.
- Marini M.M., Fan P.-L., Finley E., Beutel, A.M. (1996). Gender and job values. *Sociology* of *Education*, 69, 49–65.
- Marks, G.N. (2007). Accounting for the gender gap in reading and mathematics: evidence from 31 countries. *Oxford Review of Education*, 34(1), 1–21.
- Martin, B. A. (1989). Gender Differences in Salary Expectations When Current Salary Information is Provided. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 13(1), 87–96.
- Mastekaasa, A. (2016). Direct social origin effects and educational returns in Norway. Education, Occupation and Social Origin. A Comparative Analysis of the Transmission of Socio-Economic Inequalities. Cheltenham and Northampton: Edward Elgar Publishing, 132-149.

- Matysiak, A. (2011). Interdependencies between Fertility and Women's Labour Supply.In: *European Studies of Population*, vol. 17. Springer Science & Business Media B.V.
- Maxwell, N. L. (1988). Economic returns to migration: Marital status and gender differences. *Social Science Quarterly, 60, 108–121*.
- Mayer, Müller & Pollak (2007). Germany: institutional change and inequalities of access in higher education. In Shavit, Y., Arum, R. & Gamoran, A. (2007), *Stratification in Higher Education*, Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Mazumder, B. (2008). Sibling similarities and economic inequality in the US. *Journal of Population Economics*, 21, 685–701.
- McGinnity, F. (2004). Welfare for the Unemployed in Britain and Germany: Who Benefits? Cheltenham, Edward Elgar.
- Melzer, S. M. (2013). Reconsidering the influence of education on migration from East to West Germany. *European Sociological Review*, 29, 210–228.
- Merton, R.K. (1968). The Matthew effect in science. Science, 159(3810), 56-63.
- Michielin, F. & Mulder, C.H. (2008). Family events and the residential mobility of couples. *Environment and Planning A*, 40(11), 2770–2790.
- Mincer, J. (1978). Family migration decisions. *Journal of Political Economy*, 86, 749–773.
- Mirowski J. & Ross C.E. (2003). *Education, Social Status, and Health*. Hawthorne, NY: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Mocetti, S. (2012). Educational choices and the selection process: before and after compulsory schooling. *Education Economics*, 20(2), 189-209.
- Mocetti, S., & Porello, C. (2010). La mobilità per lavoro in Italia: nuove evidenze sulle dinamiche migratorie, Questioni di Economia e Finanza (61). Roma: Banca d'Italia.
- Mooi-Reci, I., & Ganzeboom, H. B. (2015). Unemployment scarring by gender: Human capital depreciation or stigmatization? Longitudinal evidence from the Netherlands, 1980-2000. Social Science Research, 52, 642–658.
- Moretti, E. (2004). Estimating the social return to higher education. J. Econom., 121, 175–212.
- Moretti, E. (2012). The New Geography of Jobs. New York: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.

- Morgan, S., Gelbgiser, D., Weeden, K. (2013). Feeding the Pipeline: Gender, Occupational Plans, and College Major Selection. *Social Science Research*, 42(4), 989–1005.
- Morrisson, C., Murtin, F. (2009). The century of education. *Journal of Human Capital*, 3, 1–42.
- Mühleisen, M., Zimmermann, K. F. (1994). A panel analysis of job changes and unemployment. European Economic Review, 38 (3–4), 793–801.
- Mulder, C. H., & Wagner, M. (1993). Migration and marriage in the life course: a method for studying synchronized events. *European Journal of Population*, *9*(1), 55–76.
- Murphy, E. and Oesch, D. (2018). Is employment polarisation inevitable? Occupational change in Ireland and Switzerland, 1970-2010. *Work, Employment and Society*, 32, 1099–1117.
- Musick, K., Bea, M. D., & Gonalons-Pons, P. (2020). His and her earnings following parenthood in the United States, Germany, and the United Kingdom. *American Sociological Review*, 84, 639–674
- Nicoletti, C. & Rabe, B. (2019) Sibling spillover effects in school achievement. *Journal* of Applied Econometrics, 34(4), 482–501.
- Nie, N.H., Junn, J., Stehlik-Barry, K. (1996). *Education and Democratic Citizenship in America*. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press.
- Niederle, M., & Vesterlund, L. (2007). Do women shy away from competition? Do men compete too much?. The quarterly journal of economics, 122(3), 1067-1101.
- Nisic, N., & Melzer, S. M. (2016). Explaining Gender Inequalities That Follow Couple Migration. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 78(4), 1063–1082.
- Norman, H. (2020). Does paternal involvement in childcare influence mothers' employment trajectories during the early stages of parenthood in the UK? *Sociology*, 54(2), 329–345.
- Noonan, M. C. (2001). The Impact of Domestic Work on Men's and Women's Wages. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63(4), 1134–45.
- Noonan, M. C., Corcoran, M. E., and Courant, P. N. (2005). Pay Differences among the Highly Trained: Cohort Differences in the Sex Gap in Lawyer's Earnings. *Social Forces*, 84 (2), 853–72.

- Nowell, A., Hedges, L.V. (1998). Trends in gender differences in academic achievement from 1960 to 1994: an analysis of differences in mean, variance, and extreme scores. Sex Roles, 39(1–2), 21–43.
- Odland, J., & Shumway, J. M. (1993). Interdependencies in the timing of migration and mobility events. *Papers in Regional Science*, 72(3), 221–237.
- OECD (2021). Education at a Glance 2021: OECD Indicators. OECD Publishing, Paris.
- OECD (2017). *Making integration work: Family migrants*. Paris: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development.
- OECD (2019). PISA 2018 Results (Volume II): Where All Students Can Succeed. OECD Publishing, Paris.
- O'Neill, J. (2003). The Gender Gap in Wages, circa 2000. *American Economic Review*, 93(2), 309–14.
- O'Neill, J. and Polachek, S. (1993). Why the Gender Gap in Wages Narrowed in the 1980s. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 11(1), 205–28.
- Orazem, P. F., Werbel, J. D. and McElroy, J. C. (2003). Market expectations, job search, and gender differences in starting pay. *Journal of Labor Research*, 24(2), 307–321.
- Ott, N. (1992). Intrafamily bargaining and household decisions. Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Palloni, Massey, D. S., Ceballos, M., Espinosa, K., & Spittel, M. (2001). Social Capital and International Migration: A Test Using Information on Family Networks. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 106(5), 1262–1298.
- Panichella, N. (2014). Meridionali al Nord. Migrazioni interne e società italiana dal dopoguerra a oggi. Bologna: Il Mulino.
- Panichella, N. (2013). Migration strategies and occupational outcomes of southern Italian graduates. *Journal of Modern Italian Studies*, 18(1), 72–89.
- Panichella, N., & Triventi, M. (2014). Social inequalities in the choice of secondary school: Long-term trends during educational expansion and reforms in Italy. *European Societies*, 16(5), 666–693.
- Parker, P., Marsh, H., Ciarrochi, J., Marshall, S. & Abduljabbar, A. (2014). Juxtaposing math self-efficacy and self-concept as predictors of long-term achievement outcomes. *Educational Psychology*, 34, 29–48.

- Patterson, G. R. (1984). Siblings: Fellow travelers in coercive family processes. In R. J. Blanchard (Vol. Ed.), *Advances in the study of aggression*: Vol. 1, (pp. 173–214). New York: Academic Press.
- Paulhus, D., Trapnell, P., Chen, D. (1999). Birth Order and Personality within Families. *Psychological Science*, 10, 482–488.
- Perales, F., & Vidal, S. (2013). Occupational characteristics, occupational sex segregation, and family migration decisions. *Population, Space and Place*, 19, 487– 504.
- Perri, P. (1971). Scuola e Mezzogiorno. La scuola e i suoi riflessi sullo sviluppo del Mezzogiorno. Vibo Valentia: Qualecultura Editrice.
- Pettit, B., & Hook, J. L. (2009). Gendered Tradeoffs. New York: Russell Sage.
- Pettit, B., & Hook, J. L. (2005). The Structure of Women's Employment in Comparative Perspective. *Social Forces*, 84(2), 779–801.
- Pfau-Effinger, B. (2012). Women's employment in the institutional and cultural context. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 32(9), 530–543.
- Pfeffer, F. T. (2008). Persistent Inequality in Educational Attainment and Its Institutional Context. *European Sociological Review*, 24(5), 543–65.
- Pisati, M. (2002). La partecipazione al sistema scolastico», in A. Schizzerotto (edited by), *Vite ineguali* (pp. 141-86), Bologna, Il Mulino.
- Polavieja, Fernández-Reino, M., & Ramos, M. (2018). Are Migrants Selected on Motivational Orientations? Selectivity Patterns amongst International Migrants in Europe. *European Sociological Review*, 34(5), 570–588.
- Potuchek. (1992). Employed Wives' Orientations to Breadwinning: A Gender Theory Analysis. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 54(3), 548–558.
- Powell, B, & Steelman, L. C. (1989). The liability of having brothers: paying for college and the sex composition of the family. *Sociology of Education*, 62(2), 134–147.
- Powell, B. & Steelman, L. C. (1993). The educational benefit of being spaced out: sibship density and educational progress. *American Sociological Review*, 58, 367-381.
- Price, J. (2008). Parent-child quality time: does birth order matter? *Journal of Human Resources*, 43, 240–265.

- Prix, I., & Kilpi-Jakonen, E. (2022). Not in a class of one's own: social origin differentials in applying to gender-(a)typical fields of study across the educational hierarchy. *European Sociological Review*, 1–22.
- Putnam, R.D. (2000). Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Rabe, B. (2011). Dual-earner migration. Earnings gains, employment and self-selection. *Journal of Population Economics*, 24(2), 477–497.
- Reimer, D., Noelke, C., & Kucel, A. (2011). Labor market effects of field of study in comparative perspective: an analysis of 22 European countries. *International Journal of Comparative Sociology*, 49(4), 232–256.
- Ridgeway, C. L. & Correll, S. J. (2004). Unpacking the gender system: a theoretical perspective on cultural beliefs in social relations. *Gender & Society*, 18, 510–531.
- Ridgeway, C. L., Boyle, E. H., Kuipers, K., Robinson, Dawn T. (1998). How Do Status Beliefs Develop? The Role of Resources and Interactional Experience. *American Sociological Review*, 63, 331–50.
- Riegle-Crumb, C., King, B., Grodsky E., Muller C., (2012). The more things change, the more they stay the same? Examining Gender Equality in Prior Achievement and Entry into STEM College Majors over Time. *American Educational Research*, 49(6), 211-242.
- Rindfuss, R. R., Swicegood, C. G., & Rosenfeld, R. A. (1987). Disorder in the life course: How common and does it matter? *American Sociological Review*, 52(6), 785–801.
- Rivera, L. A., & Tilcsik, A. (2016). Class advantage, commitment penalty: The interplay of social class and gender in an elite labor market. *American Sociological Review*, 81, 1097–1131.
- Robert, P. & Bukodi, E. (2002). Dual career pathways The occupational attainment of married couples in Hungary. *European Sociological Review*, 18 (2), 217 –232.
- Rønsen, M., Sundström, M. (2002). Family policy and after-birth employment among new mothers: a comparison of Finland, Norway and Sweden. *European Journal of Population/Revue Europeenne De Demographie*, 18(2), 121–152.
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). Society and the adolescent self-image. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

- Rotman, A., & Mandel, H. (2023). Gender-Specific Wage Structure and the Gender Wage Gap in the US Labor Market. *Social Indicators Research*, 165(2), 585-606.
- Rowe, D. C., & Gulley, B. L. (1992). Sibling effects on substance use and delinquency. *Criminology*, 30(2), 217–233
- Sandefur, G.D., & Scott, W.J. (1981). A dynamic analysis of migration: An assessment of the effects of age, family and career variables. *Demography*, 18(3), 355–368.
- Schaninger, C. M., & Buss, W. C. (1986). The relationship of sex-role norms to couple and parental demographics. *Sex Roles*, 15, 77–94.
- Scherer, S., & Pavolini, E. (2023). Equalizing or not? Public childcare and women's labour market participation. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 33(4), 436–450.
- Schnabel, K. U., Alfeld, C., Eccles J. S., Koller, O. & Baumert, J. (2002). Parental Influence on Students' Educational Choices in the United States and Germany: Different Ramifications - Same Effect? *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 60(2), 178– 98.
- Schneider, S. L., & Tieben, N. (2011). A healthy sorting machine? Social inequality in the transition to upper secondary education in Germany. Oxford Review of Education, 37(2), 139-166.
- Schneider, T. (2014). Reviewed Work: Determined to Succeed? Performance versus Choice in Educational Attainment, *European Sociological Review*, 30, 83, 410-412.
- Schnitzlein, D. D. (2014). How important is the family? Evidence from sibling correlations in permanent earnings in the US, Germany and Denmark. *Journal of Population Economics*, 27, 69–89.
- Schwander, H., & Häusermann, S. (2013). Who is in and who is out? A risk-based conceptualization of insiders and outsiders. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 23(3), 248-269.
- Schwartz, C.R. (2010). Pathways to homogamy in marital and cohabiting unions. *Demography*, 47, 735–53.
- Scotto di Luzio, A. (2007). La scuola degli italiani. Bologna: il Mulino.
- Serpieri, R. (2012). Senza leadership: la costruzione del dirigente scolastico. Dirigenti e autonomia nella scuola italiana. Milano: Franco Angeli.

- Shauman, K. A. (2010). Gender asymmetry in family migration: Occupational inequality or interspousal comparative advantage? *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 72(2), 375–392.
- Shauman, K. A. (2006). Occupational sex segregation and the earnings of occupations: What causes the link among college-educated workers? *Social Science Research*, 35(3), 577–619.
- Shauman, K. A., & Noonan, M. C. (2007). Family migration and labor force outcomes: Sex differences in occupational context. *Social Forces*, 85(4), 1735–1764.
- Shavit, Y., & Blossfeld, H. P. (1993). Persistent Inequality: Changing Educational Attainment in Thirteen Countries. Social Inequality Series. Westview Press, 5500 Central Avenue, Boulder, CO 80301-2847.
- Shavit, Y., & Muller, W. (1998). From School to Work. A Comparative Study of Educational Qualifications and Occupational Destinations. Oxford University Press, 2001 Evans Road, Cary, NC 27513.
- Shavit, Y. & Westerbeek, K. (1998). Educational stratification in Italy: Reforms, expansion, and equality of opportunity. *European Sociological Review*, 14(1), 33– 47.
- Shihadeh, E. (1991). The prevalence of husband-centered migration: Employment consequences of married mothers. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 53, 432– 444.
- Sin, I., Stillman, S., & Fabling, R. (2022). What Drives the Gender Wage Gap? Examining the Roles of Sorting, Productivity Differences, Bargaining, and Discrimination. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 104(4), 636-651.
- Singley, S. G., & Landale, N. S. (1998). Incorporating origin and process in migrationfertility frameworks: the case of Puerto Rican women. *Social Forces*, 76(4), 1437– 1464.
- Sjaastad, L. (1962). The costs and returns of human migration. *Journal of Political Economy*, 70(5), 80–93.
- Smits, J., Mulder, C.H., and Hooimeijer, P. (2003). Changing gender roles, shifting power balance and long-distance migration of couples. *Urban Studies*, 40(3), 603-613.
- Smyth, E. & Steinmetz, S. (2008). Field of study and gender segregation in European labour markets. *International Journal of Comparative Sociology*, 49, 257–281.

- Spain, D., and Bianchi, S. M. (1996). *Balancing Act: Motherhood, Marriage, and Employment among American Women*. New York: Russell Sage.
- Spence, M. (1973). Job market signaling. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 87 (3), 355–374.
- Steelman, L. C., Werum, R., & Carter, S. (2002). Reconsidering the effects of background. sibling configuration: recent advances and challenges. *Annual Review* of Sociology, 28(1), 243-269.
- Steiber, N. & Haas, B. (2009). Ideals or Compromises? The Attitude-Behaviour Relationship in Mothers' Employment. *Socio-Economic Review*, 7, 639–668.
- Steiber, N., Berghammer, C., & Haas, B. (2016). Contextualizing the Education Effect on Women's Employment: A Cross-National Comparative Analysis. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 78(1), 246–261.
- Stier, H., Lewin-Epstein, N., & Braun, M. (2001). Welfare regimes, family-supportive policies, and women's employment along the life-course. *American Journal of Sociology*, 10(6), 1731–1760.
- Stockè, V. (2007). Strength, sources, and temporal development of primary effects of families' social status on secondary school choice. *Sonderforsch.*, 504, Ser. 07 (60).
- Støren, L.A. & Arnesen, C.Å. (2007). Women's and Men's Choice of Higher Education: What Explains the Persistent Sex Segregation in Norway? *Studies in Higher Education*, 32(2), 253–75.
- Sulloway, F. (2001), Birth Order, Sibling Competition, and Human Behavior. In: H. Holcomb (ed.), Conceptual Challenges in Evolutionary Psychology: Innovative Research Strategies (pp. 39–83). Dordrecht and Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Tenn, S. (2010). The relative importance of the husband's and wife's characteristics in family migration, 1960–2000. *Journal of Population Economics*, 23, 1319–1337.
- Thornton, A., Alwin, D., & Camburn, D. (1983). Sex-role attitudes and attitude change. *American Sociological Review*, 48, 1-227.
- Thornton, A., & Freedman, D. (1979). Changes in the sex role attitudes of women, 1962-1977: Evidence from a panel study. *American Sociological Review*, 44, 831-42.
- Tieben, N., de Graaf, P. M., & de Graaf, N. D. (2010). Changing effects of family background on transitions to secondary education in the Netherlands: Consequences

of educational expansion and reform. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 28(1), 77-90.

- Tomaskovic-Devey, D. (1993). Gender and Racial Inequality at Work: The Sources and Consequences of Job Segregation. ILR Press, Ithaca, NY.
- Tomaskovic-Devey, D. and Skaggs, S. (1999). An Establishment-Level Test of the Statistical Discrimination Hypothesis. *Work and Occupations*, 26(4), 422–45.
- Torche, F. (2011). Is a college degree still the great equalizer? Intergenerational mobility across levels of schooling in the US. *American Journal of Sociology*, 117, 763–807.
- Tosi, F., Impicciatore, R., & Rettaroli, R. (2019). Individual skills and student mobility in Italy: A regional perspective. *Regional Studies*, 53(8), 1099–1111.
- Treiman, D. J. (1970). Industrialization and social stratification. *Sociological Inquiry*, 40(2), 207-234.
- Treiman, D. J., & Ganzeboom, H. B. G. (1998). The fourth generation of comparative stratification research. *Paper presented at the 1998 World Congress of Sociology*.
- Triventi, M. (2014). Le disuguaglianze di istruzione secondo 1 'origine sociale. Una rassegna della letteratura sul caso italiano. *Scuola Democratica*, 2, 321–341.
- Triventi, M. (2013). The gender wage gap and its institutional context: A comparative analysis of European graduates. *Work, Employment and Society*, 27(4), 563–580.
- Triventi, M. & Trivellato, P. (2009). Participation, performance and inequality in Italian higher education in the 20th century. *Higher Education*, 57(6), 681–702.
- Trusty, J., Robinson, C.R., Plata, M. & Ng, K.M. (2000). Effects of Gender, Socioeconomic Status, and Early Academic Performance on Postsecondary Educational Choice. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 78(4), 463–72.
- UNESCO (2020). Global Education Monitoring Report Gender Report: A new generation: 25 years of efforts for gender equality in education. Paris, UNESCO.
- Uunk, W., & Lersch, P. M. (2019). The Effect of Regional Gender-Role Attitudes on Female Labour Supply: A Longitudinal Test Using the BHPS, 1991-2007. *European Sociological Review*, 35(5), 669–683.
- Van de Werfhorst, H.G. (2017). Gender Segregation across Fields of Study in Postsecondary Education: Trends and Social Differentials. *European Sociological Review*, 33(3), 449–64.
- Van de Werfhorst, H.G., Kraaykamp, G. (2001). Four field-related educational resources and their impact on labor, consumption and socio-political orientation. *Sociology of Education*, 74(4), 296–317.
- Van Ham, M. and Buchel, F. (2006). Unwilling or Unable? Spatial and Socio-Economic Restrictions on Females' Labour Market Access. *Regional Studies*, 40, 345–357.
- Vandecasteele, L., & Esche, F. (2015). Women's Labour Force Exit: the Role of her Partner's Socio-Economic Position. *Schmollers Jahrbuch*, 135(1), 35–45.
- Verba, S., Schlozman, K.L., & Brady, H.E. (1995). Voice and Equality: Civic Voluntarism in American Politics. Cambridge MA: Harvard Univ. Press.
- Verbakel, E. & de Graaf, P. M. (2009). Partner effects on labour market participation and job level: opposing mechanisms. *Work Employment and Society*, 23 (4), 635–654.
- Verbakel, E. & de Graaf, P. M. (2008). Resources of the partner: Support or restriction in the occupational career? Developments in the Netherlands between 1940 and 2003. *European Sociological Review*, 24 (1), 81–95.
- Vidal, S., Perales, F., Lersch, P.M., Branden, M. (2017). Family migration in a crossnational perspective: The importance of within-couple employment arrangements in Australia, Britain, Germany, and Sweden. *Demographic Research*, 36, 307–338.
- Vincent-Lancrin, S. (2008). The reversal of gender inequalities in higher education: an on-going trend. *Higher Education to 2030*, 1, 265–298.
- Vishwanath, T. (1989). Job search, stigma effect, and escape rate from unemployment. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 7(4), 487-502.
- Vleuten, M. van der, Weesie, J., & Maas, I. (2020). Sibling influence in field of study choices. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 68(September 2019), 100525.
- Warren, J. R., & Hauser, R. M. (1995). Social Stratification Across Three Generations: New Evidence From the Wisconsin Longitudinal Study. In *CDE Working Paper* (Issues 95–05).
- Whiteman, S. D., McHale, S., & Soli, A. (2011). Theoretical perspectives on sibling relationships. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 3(2), 124–139.
- Windzio, M., Valk, H. D., Wingens, M., & Aybek, C. (2011). A life-course perspective on migration and integration (p. 297). Springer Nature.

- Widmer, E., & Schneider, N.F. (2006). State-of-the-art of mobility research. A literature analysis for Eight Countries. Job mobilities working paper no. 2006–01.
- Williams, J. C. (2001). Unbending gender: Why family and work conflict and what to do about it. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Withers, S. D. (1998). Linking Household Transitions and Housing Transitions: A Longitudinal Analysis of Renters. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 30(4), 615–630.
- Xie, Y., Shauman, K., (2005). *Women in Science: Career Processes and Outcomes*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Zajonc, R.B. (1976). Family configuration and intelligence: variations in scholastic aptitude scores parallel trends in family size and the spacing of children. *Science*, 192, 227–236.
- Zajonc, R. B. (2001). The family dynamics of intellectual development. *American Psychologist*, 56, 490-496.
- Zajonc, R. B., Markus, H. & Markus, G. B. (1979). The birth order puzzle. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 37, 1325-1341.
- Zajonc, R. B. & Sulloway, F. J. (2007). The confluence model: birth order as a withinfamily or between-family dynamic? *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 33, 1187-119.
- Zimmermann, B., & Seiler, S. (2019). The relationship between educational pathways and occupational outcomes at the intersection of gender and social origin. *Social Inclusion*, 7(3), 79–94.